
 
 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

CABINET 
 

Thursday 21 September 2023 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS 

 
 

 

Members:  Councillor Chapelard (Chair), Councillors Warne (Vice-Chair), Hall, Neville, Pound, 
Rutland, Sharratt and Wilkinson 

Quorum:  3 Members (to include either the Leader or Deputy Leader) 

 
 

1   Leaders Introduction and Announcements (Page 5) 

2   Apologies 
To receive any apologies for absence. 

(Page 6) 

3   Declarations of Interest 
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on 
the agenda. For any advice on declarations of interest; please 
contact the Monitoring Officer before the meeting. 

(Page 7) 

4   Notification of Visiting Persons wishing to speak 
To note any members of the Council or members of the public 
wishing to speak, of which due notice has been given in 
accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.4, and which item(s) 
they wish to speak on. 

(Page 8) 

5   Minutes of the meeting dated 27 July 2023 
To approve the minutes of a previous meeting as a correct record. 
The only issue relating to the minutes that can be discussed is 
their accuracy. 

(Pages 9 - 20) 

6   Questions from Members of the Council 
To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which 
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure 
Rule 28.3, to be submitted and answered. 

(Page 21) 

7   Questions from Members of the Public 
To receive any questions from members of the public, of which 
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure 
Rule 28.5, to be submitted and answered. 

(Page 22) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 

 

8   Consideration of the Forward Plan as at 13 September 2023 
To note any forthcoming items in the Forward Plan. 

(Pages 23 - 40) 

Finance and Governance Portfolio 

9   Annual Corporate Health and Safety Report 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 41 - 54) 

10   Performance Summary Quarter 1 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 
  

(Pages 55 - 94) 

11   *Showfields, Tunbridge Wells - Disposal of Parcels of Land 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 95 - 102) 

12   Capital Management Report - Quarter 1 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 103 - 119) 

13   Revenue Management Report - Quarter 1 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 120 - 137) 

14   Treasury and Prudential Indicator Management Report - 
Quarter 1 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 138 - 150) 

Housing and Planning Portfolio 

15   Biodiversity Action Plan and Biodiversity Net Gain 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 151 - 195) 

16   Kent High Weald Partnership:Service Level Agreement and 
Funding 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 196 - 231) 

17   Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Position Statement 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 232 - 253) 

18   Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 254 - 268) 

19   Nomination Agreement 
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 269 - 289) 

20   Urgent Business 
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are 

(Page 290) 

Page 2



 
 

 

urgent, for the reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section 
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

21   Date of Next Meeting 
To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is Thursday 
26 October 2023 at 6:30pm. 

(Page 291) 

Exempt Items 
EXEMPT ITEM(S) 

 
It is proposed that, pursuant to section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded from 
the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I, Schedule 12A of the Act, by virtue 
of the particular paragraph(s) shown on the agenda and on the attached report(s). 

22   *Exempt Appendix A - Showfields - Tunbridge Wells - 
Disposal of Parcels of Land (Agenda Item 11) 
Exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person including the 
authority holding that information. 

(Pages 293 - 346) 

 

 
 
Democratic Services Team Town Hall  

ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
Tel:      (01892) 554413 Kent   TN1 1RS 
Email:  Committee@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk  
 

 

Watch Live 
 

Watch this meeting live via the Council’s website. 
Archived recordings of previous meetings are also available. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/webcasts  

 

 

Go Paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   

Page 3

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 

 

Attending Meetings 
 
Meetings are held in the town hall and are webcast live online. 
 
Any member of the public may attend to watch/listen in person or online live via our website on 
the relevant committee’s meeting page. A recording of the meeting will also be available shortly 
after the end of the meeting. 
 
All meetings and agenda are open to the public except where confidential information is being 
discussed. The agenda of the meeting will identify whether any meeting or part of the meeting is 
not open to the public and explain why. 
 

Speaking at Meetings 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to participate and may speak to the Council directly on 
any item on the agenda for up to 3 minutes. Members of the public (and any members of the 
Council who are not members of the committee) will need to register with Democratic Services 
in advance. Please see the agenda item titled Notification of Persons Registered to Speak 
for more details. 
 

Coming to the Town Hall 

 
All visitors attending a public meeting at the Town Hall should report to Reception via the side 
entrance in Monson Way no earlier than 15 minutes before the start of the meeting. 
 
Seating will be allocated on a first-come-first-serve basis. The Council may alter the number 
and location of available seats if necessary on safety or public health grounds. 
 
The public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made available for playback on the 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third party may also record or film 
meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being considered, but are requested as a 
courtesy to others to give notice of this to the Clerk before the meeting. The Council is not liable 
for any third party recordings. 
 
Further details are available on the website www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings or from 
Democratic Services 
 

If you require this information in another format 
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email 

committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk  

Page 4

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Leaders Introduction and Announcements 

 

Leaders Introduction and 

Announcements  

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Apologies for Absence 

 

Apologies for Absence  

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Declarations of Interest 

 

Declarations of Interest 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda in accordance 

with the Members’ Code of Conduct. For any advice on declarations of interest, please 

contact the Monitoring Office before the meeting. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Notification of Persons Registered to Speak 

 

Notification of Persons Registered to 

Speak 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To note any members of the Council or members of the public registered to speak, of which 

due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.4 and 28.6, and 

which item(s) they wish to speak on. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



1 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting held at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, 
TN1 1RS, at 6.30 pm on Thursday, 27 July 2023 

 
Present: Councillor Ben Chapelard (Chair) 

Councillors Warne (Vice-Chair), Hall, Fitzsimmons, Neville, Pound, Rutland and 
Sharratt 

 
Officers in Attendance: William Benson (Chief Executive), Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, 
Policy and Development (Section 151 Officer)), Claudette Valmond (Head of Legal 
Partnership and Interim Monitoring Officer), Tobi Phillips (Affordable Housing and Enabling 
Officer), Peter Benfield (Senior Estates Officer), Hilary Smith (Economic Development 
Manager), James Read (Senior Economic Development Officer), John Strachan and 
Caroline Britt (Senior Democratic Services Officer) 
 
Other Members in Attendance: Councillors Dawlings and Pope 
 
LEADERS INTRODUCTION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
CAB17/23 
 

Councillor Ben Chapelard, Leader of the Council thanked residents for taking 
part in the Borough wide Residents Survey.  The Council had received over 
1200 responses. 
 
Councillor Wendy Fitzsimmons, Cabinet Member for Sport Leisure and 
Health reported that the judges from Britain in Bloom had visited Tunbridge 
Wells and were very impressed.  South and South East in Bloom had also 
recently taken place with the judges being equally impressed.  Thanks were 
given to the Parks Team and Tivoli for all their hard work. 
 
Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning gave an 
update on the new software being used for residents in the Borough to 
register for housing.  The Council had received 1,038 registrations of which 
300 of those applications had now gone live.  There were currently 455 
applications pending  review (not all of which would be accepted), with 103 at 
the pre application stage and 165 which had been closed because they did 
not qualify.  The Housing Team continued to work hard which was very much 
appreciated.   
 

APOLOGIES 
 
CAB18/23 
 

There were no apologies. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
CAB19/23 
 

Councillor Nancy Warne declared that regarding Agenda Item 12 (Dunorlan 
Parking – Consultation Response), she was related to the Chair of the 
Friends of Dunorlan Park and was aware of his views but would participate 
and vote on this item. 
 
Councillor  Nancy Warne declared that regarding Agenda Item 15 (Cranbrook 
and Sissinghurst Neighbourhood Development Plan), as the current chairman 
of the steering group, she would excuse herself from the meeting for this 
item.   

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



2 

 
NOTIFICATION OF VISITING PERSONS WISHING TO SPEAK 
 
CAB20/23 
 

The following people had registered to speak: 
 
Dr Robert Banks – Agenda Item 12 
Councillor Pope – Agenda Item 12 
Councillor Dawlings – Agenda Item 12 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 22 JUNE 2023 
 
CAB21/23 
 

Members reviewed the minutes. No amendments were proposed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting dated 22 June 2023  be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
CAB22/23 
 

There were no questions from members of the Council. 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
CAB23/23 
 

There were no questions from members of the public. 
 

CONSIDERATION OF THE FORWARD PLAN AS AT 18 JULY 2023 
 
CAB24/23 
 

Members considered the plan. No amendments were proposed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan as at 18 July 2023 be noted. 
 

TENANCY STRATEGY 
 
CAB25/23 
 

Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing Planning introduced 
Tobi Philips, Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer who presented the 
report set out in the agenda. 
 
Discussions and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- Cabinet were recommended to endorse Option 1 and approve the 
adoption of the strategy. 

- The Strategy had not been renewed since 2012, and the world had 
moved on considerably with the Council’s registered providers and the 
expectations of residents who rented social housing.   

- The work was therefore wholly appropriate in creating something fresh 
that could be rolled out to the Council’s registered providers. 

 
 
RESOLVED – That the Tenancy Strategy at Appendix A be approved. 
  
REASON FOR DECISION: To comply with the Localism Act 2011. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



3 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 
 
CAB26/23 
 

Councillor Justine Rutland, Cabinet Member for Economic Development 
introduced Hilary Smith, Economic Development Manager and James Read, 
Senior Economic Development Officer who presented the report set out in the 
agenda. 
 
Discussion and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- Members thanked the team for their hard work in producing the draft 
Strategy and for taking on board the comments from the Communities 
and Economic Development Cabinet Advisory Board. 

- The consultation looked very comprehensive so it would be interesting 
to see what responses were received and how the Council would 
respond. 

- It was very encouraging to see that aiming for net zero was one of the 
headline objectives. 

- The team were thanked for their work in arranging visits for the Leader 
and the Chief Executive to meet with local businesses.  It had proved 
very helpful in trying to understand their concerns and ambitiions. 

 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That a 6-week consultation of the Draft Economic Development 
Strategy for the period 2023-2026, starting in September be approved. 

 
2. That a final version of the Strategy be brought back to Cabinet for 

consideration, approval and adoption be approved. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To ensure that the key issues relating to 
economic development are recognised and addressed to help create the right 
conditions for businesses to flourish in the borough and for inward 
investment. To provide a basis for bidding for project funding in the future, as 
opportunities arise. 
 

PROPERTY TRANSACTION REPORT JANUARY TO JUNE 2023 
 
CAB27/23 
 

Councillor Christopher Hall, Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance, 
introduced Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Surveyor who presented the report 
set out in the agenda. 
 
To note the matter was decided in taking the exempt information set out in 
the agenda as read. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To comply with the constitution 
 

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 
 
CAB28/23 
 

Councillor Christopher Hall, Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance, 
introduced Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development who 
presented the report set out in the agenda. 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



4 

Discussion and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- Members would need to ensure that the focus of development and 
activities wasn’t confined to just Tunbridge Wells, that  the Borough’s 
other towns and villages were included.   

- It was therefore welcomed that Risk Scenario 4, which was around 
towns and villages had been well represented. 

 
RESOLVED – That the strategic risk register and arrangements for managing 
strategic risk be noted. 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION:  To effectively manage strategic risks in 
accordance with the method advised by the Council’s auditors. 
 

BUDGET PROJECTION AND STRATEGY 2024/25 
 
CAB29/23 
 

Councillor Christopher Hall, Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance, 
introduced Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development who 
presented the report set out in the agenda. 
 
Discussion and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- The Medium Term Financial Strategy projection of £7.298m projected 
for 2029/30 assumed that the Council didn’t make adjustments to 
manage the deficit during any of the years prior to 2029/30. 

- The consequence of the Council trying to find that level of savings, i.e. 
half of the Council’s net budget requirement, would result in the 
Council only being able to fund its statutory services. 

- It would be the responsibility of everyone to close that gap, which 
would involve making some difficult decisions. 

- The Council could not rely on inflation to come down and on the 
continuing vacancy factor.  Additionally, the Council couldn’t rely on 
current or higher interest rates. 

- Members had the opportunity to make decisions now that would cover 
the next 3 years that would set the Council on the right path to 
reducing the deficit and get the finances on a stable footing. 

- It wasn’t sustainable to rely on the vacancy factor to balance the 
books.   

 
RESOLVED –   
 

1. That work continues towards reducing the projected budget deficit in 
line with the Budget Strategy, to report back in October and prior to the 
public consultation on the draft budget in December be approved. 

 
2. That the emerging Saving Plan be supported. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To agree the form of consultation and begin the 
process of setting the budget for 2024/25. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5



5 

DUNORLAN PARKING - CONSULTATION  RESPONSE 
 
CAB30/23 
 

Dr Robert Banks had registered to speak which included the following 
comments: 
 

- At the Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board (F&G CAB), 
Councillor O’Connell highlighted the importance of positively reacting 
to the results of the public consultation that had rejected the Council’s 
proposal. 

- There was an implicit assumption that car parking charges would be 
introduced. 

- 50% of respondents opted for a zero payment at the Park.  A further 
30% of respondents asked that if charges were introduced that they 
be restricted for a maximum period of 5 days per week.   

- Only 2 out of the 18 freeform responses supported parking charges. 
- The F&G CAB had a long discussion on this item, all the objections 

were dismissed. 
- The Council’s solution to the deficit was to levy charges or reduce 

services.  Other options, such as efficiency savings or income 
generation were either not considered or rejected.  

- Comparisons were made about Haysden Park.  However the park 
didn’t have a boat business, the charges were lower, and they were 
not introduced during a period of significant inflation. 

- 76% respondents said they travelled to the park by car, the comment 
that this was by choice was disingenuous.  Personal choice included a 
wish to visit for reasons of beauty, amenities etc. 

- No details were given regarding the possibility of vehicle displacement 
due to the introduction of charges. 

- The consultation was flawed because the fundamental question was 
not asked.  The option to leave the parking free of charge was 
rejected because it did not support either the Council’s principles of 
‘user pays’ or the Borough Partnership’s first priority of safeguarding 
the Council’s finances. 

- The outcome of the consultation had been predetermined, with the 
assumption that changes would be introduced had been now realised. 

- None of the other options offered reflected the view of respondents. 
- Whilst the outcome of the consultation was not binding the non-

evidence based rejection of the results was non democratic. 
 
Councillor Nicholas Pope had registered to speak which included the 
following comments: 
 

- Does not like the idea of parking charges being introduced at 
Dunorlan Park. 

- But understood the financial difficulties being faced and that 
alternative options were running out. 

- The Council currently had a budget gap of just under £1m, which was 
forecast to grow to nearly £6m in the next 5 years. 

- If charging were introduced, displacement would be an issue.  People 
visiting the park, but using residential roads for parking would make it 
more difficult for residents.   

- If people parked along Halls Hole Road, it would further narrow the 
lane and make it dangerous with an increased risk of accidents. 

- People might decide to park on Pembury Road, which would impede 
traffic and churn up the verge. 

- Cabinet should ensure that  mitigation measures were in place should 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



6 

displacement occur. 
- It would be important to support the businesses and volunteers that 

worked in the park.  Parking should be free for these users when they 
were working.   

- Parks were important for people’s mental health. The first 2 hours 
should be a flat rate. 

- Higher rates for those staying beyond 4 hours should be introduced to 
deter commuters from using the car park. 

- The majority of users that used the park arrived on foot, so the user 
pays strategy was not applicable. 

- That said, the majority of people that responded to the consultation 
were drivers. 

- Not offering the option of retaining free parking as part of the 
consultation process skewed the results.  Public consultation 
questions should be carefully thought out.   

 
Councillor Tom Dawlings had registered to speak which included the 
following comments: 
 

- The report to the Cabinet Advisory Board stated that 50% 
respondents were opposed to the introduction of parking charges. 

- The Friends of Dunorlan were also wholly opposed to car parking 
charges being introduced. 

- The responses in the free text section made clear that the majority 
favoured retaining free parking. 

- There was no option given to retain the status quo of free parking in 
the recommendations. 

- Despite many requests the opportunity to vote to retain free parking 
was not given at the Cabinet Advisory Board. 

- The suggestion was that the 50% opposed to charging should be 
ignored.  If this was the case, then the consultation was not a very 
effective one. 

- Tunbridge Wells town had many green spaces to enjoy.  The parks 
contributed to the health and well being of those living in the Borough.   

- All households, through their Council Tax, contributed to the 
maintenance of the parks. 

- The report stated that the charges would contribute to the 
maintenance of the park and this was consistent with the principle of 
user pays. 

- Firm disagreement of this.  This would be an introduction of a charge 
on an apartheid basis.  It would be paid only by those who didn’t live 
in the centre of Tunbridge Wells. 

- The charges were also needed to reduce the deficit.  Understood the 
effect that inflation was having on the Council, but financial decisions 
should be taken when considering all fees and charges, not assessing 
just one source of income. 

- Those who sought to use the car park for purposes other than for 
visiting the park would have to be managed. 

- Could envisage a case for introducing a charge for parking 
management purposes.  But this was not an option presented to the 
Cabinet Advisory Board. 

- The Cabinet Advisory Board was left in no doubt of Cabinet’s intention 
to introduce charges at Dunorlan.  This would be a very disappointing 
outcome.   

- Exemptions from charges should include volunteers and others 
associated with businesses at the park.   

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



7 

 
Councillor Justine Rutland, Cabinet Member for Economic Development and 
Councillor Christopher Hall, Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance, 
introduced John Strachan, Parking Manager who presented the report set out 
in the agenda. 
 
Discussion and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- Officers had considered the issue of displacement.  Restrictions 
already existed on Halls Hole Road, which could be reviewed and if 
necessary extended.  Consideration could also be given to introducing 
restrictions on Pembury Road.  In both cases, this could be achieved 
relatively easily and not at great expense. 

- It was suggested that given the current constraints on both roads, 
there already existed an element of self-enforcement.  Halls Hole 
Road was narrow and busy, the Pembury Road was also very busy.   

- The Council didn’t have any control over private roads, but mitigation 
measures could be put in place e.g. additional signing and the use of 
private enforcement companies. 

- The next stage would be to make a Parking Order on the car park.  
This included a 21 day statutory consultation process.  The notice 
would be advertised locally in the area including in the local press.  A 
copy of the Order would be available for inspection at the Town Hall 
and a notice placed on the TWBC website.  It would also be published 
on social media. 

- Statutory consultees included Kent County Council (KCC) and Kent 
Police.   

- KCC were also responsible for the provision of any restrictions on the 
Highway.  TWBC had already been in contact with KCC so they were 
aware of the proposal. 

- It would be for Members to decide who they would like to give 
dispensation from parking charges at the Park.  This could include 
volunteers and those who worked within the Park. 

- The Council could ‘white list’ vehicles exempt from parking charges.   
- The Council, in putting together the questions for the informal 

consultation, included questions that would maximise the data.  
Including an option to ‘do nothing’ tended to invite a ‘non response’.   

- The consultation was aimed as a fact finding exercise for residents to 
express their views.   

- The statutory consultation was free text so there were no constraints 
on what people could say in their responses. 

- Views on people’s habits, when they visited the park and how they got 
there, was important information alongside views on proposed 
charging.   

- The introduction of charges could result in a better turnover of cars 
using the car park i.e. cars not staying as long, freeing up spaces on a 
more regular basis. 

- Once charging had been introduced the Council would be able to 
collect a large amount of data on habits and usage at the car park.  
Depending on the data collected (perhaps after one year), charges 
could be adjusted to alter behaviour.  For instance, if cars were 
parked there all day, the Council could consider increasing the all day 
charge to discourage this practice and free up spaces for short term 
users.   

 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



8 

Debate 
 

- Contrary to the suggestion from one of the speakers, the decision had 
not been predetermined.   

- The Labour Group had had an in-depth discussion on this issue and 
remained divided.  It was important that green spaces in towns were 
protected and that the welfare of residents wasn’t impacted negatively 
by the lack of outside green space.   

- The planet was in crisis with people’s health being impacted 
negatively by carbon emissions.   

- Many in the Labour Group felt that the Council should not be charging 
residents to access green spaces as they were already paid for 
through Council Tax payments.   

- It was suggested that the charge was not for accessing the park but a 
charge for those who chose to drive there.   

- However, it was noted that it was not uncommon to pay for a service 
through Council Tax charges, and to then pay additionally for the use 
of a facility e.g. sports centres. 

- Consideration of car parking charges in isolation and in advance of a 
Car Parking Strategy was also questioned.  However, the Car Parking 
Strategy would be a high level document and that it would be 
reasonable for a decision on Dunorlan to be taken forward separately. 

- It was suggested that any decision on charging should wait until there 
was adequate provision on the public transport network so that 
accessibility to green spaces was better provided for.   However, to 
wait for a resolution on the public transport network would 
unfortunately result in nothing being achieved.   

- The annual cost of maintenance at Dunorlan Park and its car parks 
was over £170k.  A contribution to those costs by those who chose to 
drive to the park did not seem unreasonable.   

- The provision of providing one hour of free parking would be a 
mistake.  This would result in higher pollution and not enough in 
revenue to cover the cost of the installation and maintenance of the 
systems required. 

- The Labour Group remained divided but confirmed that both Cabinet 
Members were in support of introducing charges for the reasons 
explained. 

- Officers confirmed that the Parking Strategy was currently in draft 
form.  It was hoped that it would be shared with officers and Members 
before going out for consultation later this year.   

- Officers confirmed that Dunorlan Park maintenance net costs were 
£174k, contract indexation was currently running at about 10% which 
the Council was contractually committed to meet.  This equated to an 
additional £17k in 2024/25.  

- It was confirmed that the Friends of Dunorlan were not wholly 
opposed to the introduction of car parking charges, it was 
approximately 50/50. 

- It was agreed the park was a very valuable asset but it was a luxury 
that couldn’t be afforded without the addressing the Council’s current 
financial issues. 

- The Council had made efficiency savings.  When the contract with 
Tivoli was extended, the Parks Team did extensive work to identify 
areas where the spec could be reduced, including a reduced mowing 
scheme, a reduction in the number of times hedges were cut, 
rewilding areas of the park and adjusting the planting to better fit 
current circumstances. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



9 

- The green spaces within the town were free, the Council was asking 
drivers to pay a small amount for the privilege of driving to the park.   

- The Tunbridge Wells Alliance (TWA) were also split on this issue.  The 
Councillors representing Park Ward were very concerned about the 
introduction of charging on their residents. 

- There was also concern raised about the consultation and the weight 
the responses were given by the Council. 

- It was important that the results of the consultation were given 
sufficient weight and to understand that this formed only part of an 
ongoing process.   

- Other factors had to be incorporated into the decision making process, 
including efficiency and financial savings. 

- TWA had also raised concerns regarding parking displacement and 
where this scheme fitted in with the wider Parking Strategy. 

- Officers confirmed that the Parking Strategy was a high level 
document and wouldn’t go into detail about individual charges for the 
different car parks.  The Strategy was there to help support the Local 
Plan.   

- The ‘white listing’ of certain users should be supported. 
- The notion of ‘free parking’ should be rejected.  Parking was being 

paid for either directly or indirectly.   
- The Council did consider different perspectives, but needed to work 

collectively for the public.  Choices should be made in a way that had 
less negative impact on society and on the planet.  This would be a 
small adjustment for the benefit of others. 

- Option A was the preferred option, as Option B would not bring the 
benefits needed. 

- The Portfolio Holder for carbon reduction stated that the right choice 
was one that supported a reduction in car use, but it was still not an 
easy decision to make. 

- Green spaces should be free to enjoy for health and wellbeing.  The 
park would still be free, along with many other parks that were 
accessible across the Borough.  Car parking charges should not be 
taken lightly, and could be a barrier for one of the Borough’s green 
spaces.   

- Car parking charges should be introduced alongside other positive 
measures such as improved cycling routes and a good public 
transport system, but it was acknowledged this was not achievable at 
the present time. 

- The Council’s finances had to be stabilised and safeguarded for 
investments in future years, including reaching the goal of zero carbon 
by 2030. 

- It was a difficult decision but it was a financial imperative and would 
reduce some carbon emissions. 

- The consultation was aimed at trying to gain a better understanding of 
how people used the park, how long they stayed, where they lived and 
how they travelled to the park. 

- The report explained how some of the concerns would be handled 
should they arise, e.g. displacement, businesses etc.  The report 
further set out costs so that income figures could be explained and 
that they were worthwhile.   

- Feedback from people who took part in Park Runs indicated that they 
were used to having to pay, including at Tonbridge and Bedgebury.   

- The report also made clear the revenue raised would help maintain 
the park. 

- It was recognised that those driving to the park would not welcome the 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



10 

introduction of charges, so it was proposed that signs be placed that 
explained the decision. 

- The Liberal Democrats had tussled with the decision and there had 
been a lot of discussion about the social, financial and environmental 
implications.   

- The introduction of charging was not lightly done.  But it was a 
sensible decision as part of a package of measures to reduce the 
deficit and help safeguard the future of the Council’s finances. 

- From a finance viewpoint, not charging was an unrealistic option.  
There was however a need to be resourceful and to find ways of 
funding the parks to the standard that residents were used to.  The 
cost of which was only going to escalate.   

- Although the projected revenue of £90k wouldn’t cover the whole cost, 
it would be a considerable contribution to the overall budget that went 
to fund the maintenance of the parks. 

- At the Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board, there were a 
couple of persuasive arguments put forward that supported the 
introduction of charges.  The first was that the option to keep the first 
hour free would not deliver the income needed and wouldn’t make the 
introduction of charges worthwhile (Option B). 

- This left only Option A – to charge from the first hour as the only 
realistic option. 

- There was a precedent for charging, Tonbridge and Malling had 
introduced charges at Haysden Park.  Charging had been in place for 
some time with no adverse effects on visitor numbers.   

- The decision would be taken with the long term view in mind.  The 
provision of additional income whilst still being able to protect, support 
and preserve the park.  

- As public finances across the whole country continued to deteriorate, 
it would be a tragedy if the Council’s well maintained public spaces 
suffered.  As custodians of these spaces, the Council had a duty to 
give them the resources that would enable them to continue and 
ensure the Borough continued to be a better place for its residents. 

- The income raised would not be used to expand the car park.   
- Residents should be encouraged to walk or cycle to the park. 

 
RESOLVED – 
 

1. That the responses to the Consultation held in November, and the 
mitigations in the report be noted. 

 
2. That car parking charges be introduced in the Dunorlan Park car 

parks as detailed in Option A be approved. 
 

3. That charges be implemented on 16 October 2023, except for Blue 
Badge Holders parked in Disabled spaces which will be free of 
charge, be approved. 
 

4. That the Portfolio Holders for Finance and Performance and 
Economic Development, in conjunction with the Head of Finance, 
Procurement and Parking be given authority to make minor 
amendments to the proposal resulting from the comments received 
during the formal consultation process required to create the Parking 
Places Order or further operational issues that may arise, be 
approved. 

 

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



11 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: To provide an income stream to help protect 
Council Services, including the maintenance of the park, and to safeguard the 
Council’s finances. 
 

CRANBROOK AND SISSINGHURST NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
CAB31/23 
 

Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
introduced the item as set out in the agenda.   
 
The report was taken as read. 
 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the independent examiner’s report on the Cranbrook & 
Sissinghurst Neighbourhood Development Plan (CSNDP) at Appendix 
A be noted and published. 

 
2. That the CSNDP be modified as set out in Appendix B be approved. 

 
3. That a decision to progress the CSNDP as set out in Appendix C to 

referendum, and a Decision Statement as set out at Appendix D be 
approved.   
 

4. That if the referendum result on the CSNDP is positive, the Council 
formally makes the CSNDP as set out in Appendix C to be 
subsequently considered at a Full Council meeting, post referendum 
be approved. 
 

REASON FOR DECISION: Approved Neighbourhood Plans become part of 
the development plan for the Borough and are a key document in the 
determination of planning applications that allow the local community to take 
responsibility for land use planning in their area. 
 

PADDOCK WOOD NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
CAB32/23 
 

Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
introduced the item as set out in the agenda.   
 
The report was taken as read. 
 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the independent examiner’s report on the Paddock Wood 
Neighbourhood Development Plan (PWNDP) at Appendix A be noted 
and published. 
 

2. That the PWNDP be modified as set out in Appendix B be approved. 
 

3. That a decision to progress the PWNDP as set out in Appendix C to 
referendum, and a Decision Statement as set out at Appendix D be 
approved.   
 

4. That if the referendum result on the PWNDP is positive, the Council 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



12 

formally makes the PWNDP as set out in Appendix C to be 
subsequently considered at a Full Council meeting, post referendum 
be approved. 
  

 
REASON FOR DECISION: Approved Neighbourhood Plans become part of 
the development plan for the Borough and are a key document in the 
determination of planning applications that allow the local community to take 
responsibility for land use planning in their area. 
 

PEMBURY NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN (PNDP) 
 
CAB33/23 
 

Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
introduced the item as set out in the agenda.   
 
The report was taken as read. 
 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the independent examiner’s report on the Pembury 
Neighbourhood Development Plan (PNDP) at Appendix A be noted 
and published. 
 

2. That the PNDP be modified as set out in Appendix B be approved. 
 

3. That a decision to progress the PNDP as set out in Appendix C to 
referendum, and a Decision Statement as set out at Appendix D be 
approved.   
 

4. That if the referendum result on the PNDP is positive, the Council 
formally makes the PWNDP as set out in Appendix C to be 
subsequently considered at a Full Council meeting, post referendum 
be approved. 
 
 

REASON FOR DECISION: Approved Neighbourhood Plans become part of 
the development plan for the Borough and are a key document in the 
determination of planning applications that allow the local community to take 
responsibility for land use planning in their area. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
CAB34/23 
 

There was no urgent business. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
CAB35/23 
 

The next meeting would be held on Thursday 21 September 2023 
commencing at 6:30pm.   
 

 
 NOTES: 

The meeting concluded at 8.15 pm. 
 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Questions from Members of the Council 

 

Questions from Members of the Council 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which due notice has been given 

in accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.3, to be submitted and answered. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Questions from Members of the Public 

 

Questions from Members of the Public 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

Procedural Item 

To receive any questions from members of the public, of which due notice has been given in 

accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.5, to be submitted and answered. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/forwardplan 

 
 

Notice of Key Decisions / Notice of Private Meetings 
Pursuant to the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

 
 

This Plan gives at least 28 days notice if the Cabinet of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council intends to make a key decision1 or 
make a decision in private2. Other decisions by the executive are also included on the Plan wherever possible. 
 
Relevant documents can be downloaded from the Council’s website or are available on request from: Democratic Services, 
Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS or committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk. Documents may be submitted to the 
decision maker via Democratic Services. 
 
If it is necessary to hold a meeting in private, the reasons for this are stated alongside the decision. These reasons are 
prescribed by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and summarised at the back of this Plan. 
 
Representations against the intention to make a decision in private can be submitted in writing to Democratic Services no less 
than ten working days before the meeting date. 
 
If the Council is unable to give 28 days notice, it will publish the reasons for this on its website and at its offices. 
 
 

 

 
Councillor Ben Chapelard 
Leader of the Council 

Publication Date:  13 September 2023 
The most recent version of the Plan supersedes all previously issued versions 

Guidance notes are provided at the back of this document 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/forwardplan
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


2 

 

Members of the Cabinet and their respective Cabinet Responsibilities 
 

Councillor Ben Chapelard 
Leader of the Council 

 

• Strategic Policy 

• Communications, Consultations & Engagement 

• Transparency 

• Human Resources (including learning & 
development) 

• Democratic Services 

• Devolution/Enhanced two-tier working 

 

Councillor Pamela Wilkinson 
Sport, Leisure and Health 

 

• Sports and Leisure Centres 

• Parks 

• Grounds Maintenance 

• Health 

Councillor Justine Rutland 
Economic Development 

 

• Royal Tunbridge Wells Town Centre 

• Economic Development & Tourism 

• Business Engagement 

• Supporting the Town Centre 

• Culture & the Arts & Customer Service 

• Assembly Hall, Ice Rink & The Amelia Scott 

• Events 

• Transportation 

• Parking (on and off street) 
 

Councillor Nancy Warne 
Deputy Leader and Communities 

 

• Deputy Leader 

• Rural/Parished Areas & Parish Chairs 

• Community Safety and CCTV 

• Community Centres and Hubs 

• Community Partnerships 

• Assets of Community Value 

• Equalities (including younger & older people) 

• Equalities and Equal Access 

• Community Grants 

• Cost of Living Crisis 
 

Councillor Ellen Neville 
Environmental Services 

 

• Cemetery and crematorium 

• Recycling and waste collection 

• Street cleansing and littering 

• Fly Tipping and Abandoned Vehicles 

• Environmental Protection 

• Environmental Health 

• Licensing 

• Food Hygiene & Health & Safety Standards in 
businesses 

• Corporate Health and Safety 
 

Councillor Hugo Pound 
Housing and Planning 

 

• Planning Policy 

• Strategic Sites and Delivery 

• Development Management 

• Heritage and Conservation 

• Planning Enforcement 

• Land Charges 

• Building Control 

• Housing (incl Private Sector and Housing 
Needs) 

• Homelessness Prevention and Reduction 
 

Councillor Jayne Sharratt 
Carbon Reduction & Sustainability 

 

• Sustainability – Carbon Reduction and 
promoting biodiversity 

• Community Leadership (raising funds for carbon 
reduction) 

Councillor Christopher Hall 
Finance and Performance 

• Finance 

• Revenues and Benefits 

• Internal Audit and Risk Management 

• Property, Estates & Facilities Management 

• Performance & Project Management 

• ICT, Technology and Digital Transformation 

• Legal Services 

• FOI/EIR/Complaints/Data Protection 

• Procurement Policy and Strategy 

 

 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 8



3 

 

 

Leader of the Council – Councillor Ben Chapelard 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe.   

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 8



4 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Annual Corporate Health and Safety Report 
To note the contents of the report, along with 
the work undertaken to secure a safe and 
healthy working environment. 
(All Wards) 

 
 

Mike Catling, 
Corporate Health 
and Safety Advisor 

No  

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Performance Summary Quarter 1 
To consider an outline of the Council’s 
performance against key strategic indicators.  
Measures prescribed by Central Government 
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the 
progress against each of the strategic projects 
as at end of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Pamela Grover-
Morgan, 
Performance and 
Governance 
Manager 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Revenue Management Report - Quarter 1 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance Cabinet 
Advisory Board will be 
consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Capital Management Report - Quarter 1 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Treasury and Prudential Indicator 
Management Report - Quarter 1 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 8



5 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
4/10/23 

05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Showfields, Tunbridge Wells - Disposal of 
Parcels of Land 
Town & Country Housing have approached 
TWBC to acquire a number of small parcels of 
land that have remained in the ownership of 
the Council since the transfer of the housing 
stock to TCH. This is to consolidate their 
landholding as part of their plan to redevelop 
the Estate. The intention is to agree an option 
to purchase now & for the matter to complete 
once their own plans are ready to proceed. 
Currently there are 13 parcels amounting to a 
total of 454.9 m sq. The land are 
predominately footpaths or highway. The firm 
of GL Hearn were instructed to provide a 
valuation in September 2022 which was 
accepted by both parties. The total value of 
the parcels of land has been calculated at 
£27,134.  
TCH are currently assessing whether other 
parcels may be required as part of the need to 
accommodate he cycle path that is planned to 
pass through the area. 
(Broadwater) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Peter Benfield, 
Senior Estates 
Officer 

No Part 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

 10/10/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Budget Update Report 2024/25 
To consider an update on the Budget and the 
current financial position of the Council (Stage 
2 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s 
budget). 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 
 
 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Lee Colyer, Director 
of Finance, Policy 
and Development 
(Section 151 Officer) 

No Open 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8



6 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
13/12/23 

10/10/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2024/25 
Each year the Council is required to review its 
Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(providing support towards the payment of 
Council Tax for those on low incomes) and to 
put in place a scheme for the next financial 
year prior to 11 March.  This report will give an 
overview of the 2022/23 scheme and the 
current 2023/24 scheme and make 
recommendations for the approval of the 
2024/25 scheme. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Zoe Kent, Interim 
Head of Revenues 
and Benefits 

No Open 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
13/12/23 

10/10/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Disposal of Surplus Land at Mount 
Pleasant Car Park 
This report seeks Cabinet’s authority for the 
disposal of a surplus land asset known as 
Mount Pleasant Car Park in Mount Pleasant 
Avenue, Royal Tunbridge Well. 
(All Wards) 

The site has been 
advertised through 
Lamberts Smith 
Hampton and the local 
newspaper. 
 

Jonathan White, 
Corporate Property 
Manager 

Yes Part 

23/11/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Fees and Charges Setting 2024/25 
To consider and agree the fees and charges 
set by the Council. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

Yes Open 

23/11/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Banking Tender 2024/25 
The Council is re-tendering its banking and 
merchant services contract.  This report is to 
obtain Cabinet approval to contract with the 
winning bidder, as the contract is likely to be 
valued at over £250,000 and therefore require 
a key decision. 
(All Wards) 
 
 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

Yes Open 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 8



7 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Performance Summary Quarter 2 
To consider an outline of the Council’s 
performance against key strategic indicators.  
Measures prescribed by Central Government 
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the 
progress against each of the strategic projects 
as at end of September 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Pamela Grover-
Morgan, 
Performance and 
Governance 
Manager 

No Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Complaints Summary Quarters 1 & 2 
A review of the complaints received under the 
Council’s complaints procedure between 1 
April and 30 September 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Pamela Grover-
Morgan, 
Performance and 
Governance 
Manager 

No Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Draft Asset Management Plan 2024/25 
For the Cabinet to set its recommendations for 
the Asset Management Plan and to consult on 
proposed changes. 
(All Wards) 

Request permission for 
public consultation.  
The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

David Candlin, Head 
of Economic 
Development and 
Property 

No Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Revenue Management Report Quarter 2 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of September 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Capital Management Report Quarter 2 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of September 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Treasury and Prudential Indicator 
Management Report Quarter 2 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of September 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 8



8 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Draft Budget 2024/25 & Mid Term Financial 
Strategy Update 
To consult on proposals for the Budget and on 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 
(Stage 3 or 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s 
budget). 
(All Wards) 

Request permission for 
public consultation.  
The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Lee Colyer, Director 
of Finance, Policy 
and Development 
(Section 151 Officer) 

No Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Calculation of Council Tax Base 
To consider proposals for setting the Council 
Tax and Business Rate Tax Base for 2024/25. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

Yes Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Consideration of a new lease or freehold 
disposal of land at Tunbridge Wells Rugby 
Club 
Tunbridge Wells Rugby Club have requested 
that the Council grant them a new longer lease 
or land or consider a freehold disposal of land 
at the Rugby Club. 
(Pantiles & St Mark's) 

The Finance and 
Governance Cabinet 
Advisory Board will be 
consulted. 
 

David Candlin, Head 
of Economic 
Development and 
Property 

No Full 

21/03/24 
Cabinet 

 05/03/24  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Insurance Tender 2024/25 
The insurance contract is being tendered for 
renewal in October 2024.  This report will lay 
out the winning bid for Cabinet approval, as 
the contract will be over £250,000 and will 
therefore be a key decision.   
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

Yes Open 

 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 8



9 

 

 

Communities (And Deputy Leader) - Councillor Nancy Warne 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 8



10 

 

 

Economic Development – Councillor Justine Rutland 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
13/12/23 

15/11/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Economic Development Strategy 
Report setting out the findings of the 
consultation on the Draft Economic 
Development Strategy, any amendments that 
have been made to the document in response 
to the consultation and proposing that the 
Strategy be adopted. 
(All Wards) 

Consultation will take 
place in September-
October 2023.  The 
Comms and ED CAB 
will be consulted. 
 

Hilary Smith, 
Economic 
Development 
Manager 

No Open 

 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 8



11 

 

 

Environmental Services – Councillor Ellen Neville 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe.  

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 8



12 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

Not before 
01/02/23 
Cabinet Member 
for Housing and 
Planning 

  
 

Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill: 
reforms to national planning policy 
The report sets out the Draft changes to 
national planning policy, shown in the tracked 
change version of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and provides a suggested 
response on behalf of Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council to the Government 
consultation on these proposed changes to 
national planning policy.   
(All Wards) 

Report to be published 
before decision is 
made.   
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

Not before 
03/07/23 
Cabinet Member 
for Housing and 
Planning 

  
 

TWBC Response to public consultation on 
the Draft High Weald AONB Management 
Plan 2024-2029 
This report is a Portfolio Holder report to sign 
off TWBC’s formal response to the public 
consultation on the Draft High Weald AONB 
Management Plan, which is to be consulted 
upon in September/October 2023. 
(All Wards) 

Report to be published 
before decision is 
made. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

Not before 
20/09/23 
Cabinet Member 
for Housing and 
Planning 

  
 

KCC Consultation: Local Transport Plan 
for Kent 
The report provides an introduction and 
background to the KCC consultation on the 
Draft Kent Local Transport Plan and sets out 
the contents of the consultation document and 
arrangements for making representations to 
the consultation, which ends on 18 September 
2023.  The report then provides a draft 
representation to be submitted to the 
consultation on behalf of TWBC. 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 

Report to be published 
before decision is 
made. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 8



13 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Nomination Agreement 
The nomination agreement details the 
nomination arrangements for the allocation of 
social and affordable rental housing ensuring 
that the Council’s statutory duties are met by 
the housing providers operating within the 
Borough. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sum 
Position Statement 
This statement aims to provide guidance to 
developers, including Housing Associations 
and other Registered Providers on the 
Council’s approach to how and when 
commuted payments in lieu of on-site 
affordable housing will be considered. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

Yes Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums 
Spending Policy 
This report presents the document Policy and 
Procedure to spend commuted sums 
designated for affordable housing. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

Yes Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 04/09/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Biodiversity - Actions to Comply with the 
Environment Act 2021 
This report will provide details of and seek 
approval to prepare/consult on the Biodiversity 
Action Plan/reporting under the Statutory Duty 
for Reporting on Biodiversity and continued 
support for Biodiversity Net Gain project. 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 8



14 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 04/09/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Kent High Weald Partnership:Service Level 
Agreement and Funding 
This report provides details of a new Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) between Tunbridge 
Wells Borough Council and the Kent High 
Weald Partnership, including funding details. 
(All Wards) 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
13/12/23 

12/10/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Empty Homes Policy 2023-2028 
Review and refresh of current Empty Homes 
Policy and action plan. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Sue Oliver, Private 
Sector Housing 
Manager 

Yes Open 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council  
(TBC) 

09/10/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Local Development Scheme (LDS): Update 
This report sets out details of an updated 
Local Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS 
sets out details of the planning policy 
documents that the Council has adopted, is 
presently preparing and those that it intends to 
prepare, including those which form the 
Development Plan. It is intended to provide 
information to local residents and other 
interested parties to help them participate in 
the plan-making process. It gives details 
about: 

- The documents the Council will be 
preparing; 

- The subject matter and geographical 
area to which these documents relate; 
and 

- The timetable for their preparation and 
adoption. 

The LDS will update and replace the current 
LDS dated October 2021. 
(All Wards) 
 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

Yes Open P
age 36

A
genda Item

 8



15 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council - 
TBA 

09/10/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Main Modifications Consultation of Local 
Plan 2020-2038, and Sustainability 
Appraisal 
To consult on the Main Modifications of the 
emerging Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Local Plan and Sustainability Appraisal for a 6 
week period. 
(All Wards) 

A statutory period of 6 
weeks consultation is 
required. Dates to be 
confirmed.  The 
Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted.   
 

Carlos Hone, Head 
of Planning 

Yes Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
13/12/23 

15/11/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Procurement of Partnership Services 
Procurement has been undertaken to deliver a 
hospital discharge, home straight and handy 
person services.  Cabinet is requested to 
approve a selected supplier/s to commence 
the new contracts on 1 April 2024.  These 
services are funded from the Better Care Fund 
allocation received from Government annually. 
(All Wards) 

The Comms and ED 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Sue Oliver, Private 
Sector Housing 
Manager 

Yes Open 

07/12/23 
Cabinet 

 13/11/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Kent High Weald AONB Unit: Service Level 
Agreement 
This report provides details of the new Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) between the High 
Weald AONB and the Local Planning 
Authorities (LPAs) that cover the High Weald 
AONB. 
(All Wards) 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

21/03/24 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
TBA 

04/03/24  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*High Weald AONB Management Plan 2024-
2029 
This report relates to the formal approval of 
the High Weald AONB Management Plan, 
2024 - 2029, which would become a material 
planning consideration in planning decisions. 
(All Wards) 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

No Open 

 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 8



16 

 

 

Sports, Leisure and Health - Councillor Pamela Wilkinson 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe.   

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 8



17 

 

 

Sustainability - Councillor Jayne Sharratt 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe.  

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8



18 

 

 

Guidance Notes 
Note 1: KEY DECISIONS 
 
A “key decision” means a decision which is to be taken by the executive of the Council which is likely to: 

(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are over £250,000 as well as otherwise being significant having 
regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

 (b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough of Tunbridge Wells. 

 
Note 2: REASONS A MEETING MAY BE HELD IN PRIVATE 
 
In accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the public may be excluded from a meeting on the grounds that it may involve 
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act. The exemption must be by virtue of one or more specified paragraphs which are shown on 
the meeting agenda (giving 5 days notice) and, in the case of the Cabinet, on the Forward Plan (giving 28 days notice). The exemptions are summarised as follows: 
 
Paragraph (1) - Information relating to any individual. 
 
Paragraph (2) - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 
Paragraph (3) - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any  
  particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
Paragraph (4) - Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or  
  contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with  
  any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a  
  Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office-holders under,  
  the authority. 
 
Paragraph (5) - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional  
  privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
Paragraph (6) - Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
     (a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by  
   virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
     (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 
Paragraph (7) - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in   
  connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of  
  crime. 

 QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
(8) Information falling within paragraph (3) above is not exempt information by 
 virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under –  
    (a) the Companies Act 1985; 
    (b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
    (c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
    (d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
    (e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
    (f) the Charities Act 1993. 
 
(9) Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development 
 for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission 
 pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
 Regulations 1992. 
 
(10) Information which –  
    (a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
    (b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph  
  8 or 9 above, 
 is exempt information if and so long as, in all the circumstances of 
 the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
 outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 8



 

Page  

1 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual 

Report 2022/23  

For Cabinet on 21st September 2023 

   

Summary 

Lead Member:  Councillor Ellen Neville - Portfolio Holder for Environmental 

Services 

Lead Director:  Paul Taylor – Director of Change and Communities 

Head of Service:  Gary Stevenson – Head of Housing, Health and Environment 

Report Author:  Mike Catling – Corporate Health and Safety Advisor 

Classification:  Non-exempt 

Wards Affected:  All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21st August 2023 

Portfolio Holder 15 August 2023 

Finance and Governance 5th September 2023 

Cabinet 21st September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer recommendations as supported by the Cabinet Member: 

1. That Cabinet note the contents of the report, along with the work undertaken to 

secure a safe and healthy working environment. 

2. That Cabinet approve corporate priorities for 2023-2024. 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

2 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is committed to maintaining a healthy and safe 
place of work for all its employees.  It will take all reasonable steps to ensure that 
the public and contractors who may be affected by its work, are exposed to the 
lowest practicable level of risk. 
 

1.2  Systematically reviewing performance is an important part of health and safety 

management as it enables an organisation to learn from experience and apply 

improvements, using data from monitoring and audits across the whole health 

and safety management system. 

1.3  Best practice suggests organisations produce and publish an Annual Health and 

Safety Report. As such, this report summarises key aspects of health and safety 

that occurred across Tunbridge Wells Borough Council. The report deals with the 

period from the beginning of April 2022 to the end of March 2023. The report 

also provides supporting statistical information in Appendix 1. 

Health and Safety Aims 

1.4  The Council’s aims are based upon the Health and Safety Executives guidance 

HSG 65 - Managing for Health and Safety, which urges organisations to secure a 

positive health and safety culture by ensuring that staff are involved and 

committed to good health and safety. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council’s Health 

and Safety Policy sets out both general and specific relevant roles and 

responsibilities for health and safety.  

To ensure all aspects of HSG (65) are implemented, a system of “PLAN / DO / 

CHECK / ACT” is used within the Safety Management Program. 

The “plan” stage includes: • Policy • Planning 

The “do” stage includes: • Risk profiling • Organising • Implementing your 
plan 

The “check” stage includes: • Measuring performance • Investigating accidents, 
incidents and near misses 

The “act” stage includes: • Learning lessons • Reviewing performance 

 

Summary of Performance for 2022 - 23 

1.5  The work of the Corporate Health and Safety Advisor during 2022-23 has 
focused on four main areas of staff work practice: 

• Working from home, 

• Working from the office, 

• Working in the community, 

• Working from third-party buildings. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

3 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

First, reducing the risk to the organisation through support, training and advising 
management. Secondly, with the investigation of incidents, identifying trends, 
causes and implementing changes to reduce future cases. 

 

 Completed Actions(s) 

Regular 
standing 
actions 

Annual update and review of the data stored on the Cautionary 
Contacts Database. 

Health and safety training provision based on departmental need. 

Provision of adequate personal safety capability, including for 
Lone working. 

Quarterly report produced for the HS Committee including: 

• Recent incidents within TWBC, comparing data and 
highlighting potential trends. 

• Recent relevant court cases and any learning points for 
TWBC. 

• Progress on actions noted on the corporate priorities. 

• Communications from enforcement bodies. 

• Risk assessment database non-compliance. 

• Any serious outstanding risks. 

First Aiders and Facilities provision. Ensuring that each site and 
department has adequate first aiders and first aid supplies. 

Annual Corporate Health and safety report to Cabinet noting 
performance on set priorities, incident statistics as well as 
recommending priorities for following year. 

Policy Annual review of relevant health and safety policies noting 
priorities.  

Managing Contractors’ policy reviewed, implemented through 
manager training. 

Violence Against Staff Policy reviewed and implemented. 

Continual review of TWBC internal health and safety forms and 
support documentation, noting priorities. 

Monitor, 
Inspect 
and Audit. 

Events App and working with the Safety Advisory Group to reduce 
risks to the authority from events held on Council land. 

Inspection of all main operational sites where risk to the authority 
exists. Reports provided and actioned with Site Managers and 
Property Services. 

Audits of main corporate contracts: waste, leisure centres and 
grounds maintenance. 

Monitor and updating of Site Safety Folders to prove adequate 
legal compliance for all TWBC operational sites. 

Monitor the Risk Assessment Database to support Site and 
Departmental Managers in providing required risk assessments in 
place. 

Project 
Actions 

Review of Corporate Contracts processes and management, to 
ensure suitable systems reduce risks to persons and the authority. 

Adequate advice and support for changes to office space in the 
Town Hall. Support for home workers with new flexible ways of 
working. 

Fire safety and evacuation of TWBC operational sites. 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

4 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

 Completed Actions(s) 

Proactive health: 

• Working from home and new ways of working. Monitoring 
instances of staff requiring extra support regarding 
Workstation Assessments, tracking trends, offering 
guidance, and providing training. 

• Supporting the Wellbeing Group in staff communications. 

• Support TWBC Health Team with Kent Healthy Business 
award standards. 

Improvements in vehicle and pedestrian segregation in TWBC 
operational sites. 

 
2022-23 Incidents Trends and Comparisons 

1.6 2022/23 is the first full year without Covid restrictions since 2019/20. As 

expected, the incident figures have increased from previous years, although 

lower than pre-Covid numbers.  These figures may increase further towards pre-

Covid figures, although with changes to working practices, the ‘new ways of 

working’ could influence incident trends for the better.  

1.7  Conflict / Threats of Violence/Actual Violence continues to feature in reported 

incidents, showing a slight increase on the previous year.  Of these cases, there 

were 6 actual violence incidents compared to 5 the previous year. All are shared 

with the Police, investigated and suitable measures implemented to reduce the 

chance of reoccurrence. Already within 2023/24 whilst writing this report, a 

number of incidents at our operational sites has highlighted this as an area to 

continue to prioritise for staff safety.  

1.8  Slips, Trips and Falls incident numbers have also increased slightly, although 

anticipated with increased numbers of the public attending our sites post Covid 

and the Amelia Scott site opening. 

1.9  As of the end of March 2023 there has been an increase in TWBC directly 

employed staff with 335 now being employed, with a number of Casual Workers 

and a range of contractors working on the Council’s behalf on a regular basis. 

This is compared to 320 staff employed in the previous year. The increase is due 

to TWBC having a much larger operation at the Amelia Scott site compared to 

the Museum and Art Gallery previously, as well as filling vacancies. There would 

be an expectation of increased incident figures with more staff being employed 

within the Authority. 

1.10 There was an increase in recorded incidents at the Ice Rink compared to 2021-

22, although the number of those advised to seek further medical attention was 

similar, being 23 compared to 24 the previous year, 3 required ambulance 

assistance this year, the same as the previous year. This is compared with 

around 43,000 skaters using the Ice Rink. 

1.11 The number of recorded incidents reflect the higher number of visits to all our 

sites (car parks, parks, Assembly Hall, Ice Rink and Amelia Scott), as well as 

officers dealing with vulnerable persons and enforcement activities. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

5 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

1.12 The figures show that we continue to have a good reporting culture, with each 

incident investigated and actions taken to reduce the chance of reoccurrence. 

 

Incidents requiring RIDDOR notification 

1.13 An incident involving a member of the public was reported to the Health and 

Safety Executive (HSE) under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 

Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR) over this time.  The 

individual fell down a small number of steps in the Amelia Scott external 

Courtyard. Although not classed as work related, a RIDDOR report was made as 

the injured party was taken directly to hospital from site for treatment. No follow 

up communication has been received from the HSE regarding this incident, at 

the time of writing this report. This incident was investigated fully, with adequate 

mitigating measures put in place to reduce the chance of reoccurrence. 

1.14 Additionally, one incident to a staff member was reported to the Health and 

Safety Executive (HSE).  The staff member was injured whilst working at the Ice 

Rink and as a result was away from work, or unable to perform their normal work 

duties, for more than seven consecutive days due to their injury.  To date, no 

follow up communication has been made by the HSE regarding this incident. 

This incident was investigated fully, with adequate mitigating measures put in 

place to reduce the chance of reoccurrence. 

1.15 TWBC contractors must report any work-related deaths, and certain work-related 

injuries, cases of disease, and near misses involving their employees wherever 

they are working directly to the HSE. These cases will be investigated by TWBC 

contract monitoring officers, to be assured that incidents have been investigated 

adequately and appropriate mitigation has been taken. 

1.16 TWBC contract managers are aware that any incidents on TWBC property 

reported by contractors to the HSE should be reported to the Health and Safety 

Advisor to investigate as required. 

Enforcement Action 

1.17 TWBC were contacted by the HSE following a visit by a HSE Inspector to the 

Cemetery Depot where our Grounds Maintenance contractor works.  Information 

was provided following their enquiries; to date, no follow up communication has 

been received from the HSE. 

2023-24 Corporate Health and Safety Priorities  

1.18 These have been agreed by the Health and Safety Committee (chaired by Paul 

Taylor, Director of Communities and Change). 

• Consistency of management compliance across all operational sites and 
processes within the authority. 

• Review of Personal Protective Equipment provision within TWBC, ensuring 
that staff have access to the correct equipment required. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

6 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

• Review of departmental Lone working procedures and equipment within 
TWBC, ensuring that staff have access to the correct equipment and 
procedures are in place. 

• Monitor site and departmental risk assessments within the Authority, to 
ensure adequate provision is in place. 
  

In addition, further to paragraph 1,7 there will be a continued prioritisation of staff safety 
whilst working from our operational sites. Policies and procedures are in place but will 
be reviewed and improvements made where necessary. 
 

2. Purpose of the Report and Executive 

Summary 

2.1 To inform Management Board and Cabinet of the range of work completed under 
corporate health and safety, plus provide a summary of accident/incident data 
and notable issues.  Furthermore, to be assured that incidents have been 
investigated and appropriate mitigation has been taken, in line with our aim to 
minimise risk of injury, financial loss or legal liability under the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974. 

 
Priorities for 2023-24 

2.2 The corporate health and safety work plan for 2023-24 is agreed, along with the 

proposed priorities provided in section 1.18 by the Health and Safety Committee 

(chaired by Paul Taylor, Director of Communities and Change). These will be 

implemented together with the processes usually in place to ensure a safe 

working environment. 

3. Options Considered 

3.1 To note the summary information provided for 2022-23 contained in this report 
and approve priorities for 2023-24. 

 
3.2 Not to approve priorities for 2023-24. 
 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

4.1 The recommended option is that the Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 
for 2022/23 and the work undertaken to secure a safe and healthy working 
environment is noted with any proposed health and safety actions approved. 

 
4.2 The proposed work plan will ensure that TWBC continue to comply with the 

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and effective monitoring and review of 
health and safety management is in place. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

7 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 The content of this report has been discussed with the TWBC Health and Safety 
Committee with prospective priorities set for 2023-24. 

 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

The Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 5 September 

and agreed that the recommendations set out in the report be supported. 

 

6. Implementation 

6.1 To ensure that all levels within the authority are made aware of the findings 
within the report it will be communicated through internal staff communications. 
Including being available on the TWBC Intranet, noted in ‘On the Write Lines’ 
along with the Member’s newsletter. 
 

6.2 Priorities will be added to the Corporate Health and Safety Work Plan, with 
progress monitored quarterly by the TWBC Health and Safety Committee. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendix 1 

Accident and Incident data 

Incident data is monitored with trends fed back to the Health and Safety 

Committee quarterly by the Health and Safety Advisor, issues can then be 

actioned and/or escalated prior to increasing in severity or frequency.  All reports 

are investigated to identify causative themes and to ensure that corrective action 

is taken where necessary. 

There were 87 recorded incidents during this time compared to 66 the previous 
year. N.B- Excluding members of the public slipping on the ice at the Ice Rink.  
 
There was a total of 48 injuries to staff and third parties, with an additional 50 

injuries at the Ice Rink to third parties. 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

8 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Incidents by Year 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

% 

Increase 

decrease 

on last 

year 

Total (not 

including slips 

on the ice at 

the Ice Rink) 

109 104 113 108 33 66 87 
24% 

increase 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

9 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

 

 

2016 /
17

2017 /
18

 2018 /
19

2019 /
20

2020 /
21

2021 /
22

2022 /
23

Musculoskeletal 3 2 1 3 0 2 2

Property Damage 8 6 4 6 1 1 1

Collapsed/Panic attack/
Allergic reaction

5 8 6 5 1 2 2

Other 5 9 9 5 0 9 3

Impact Injury 11 15 16 11 2 12 25

Trips/Slips/Falls (not
including the Ice Rink)

28 19 18 13 6 10 13

Dangerous Occurrence,
Near Miss

24 20 22 25 14 16 21

Conflict /Threats of Violence
and Actual Violence

25 25 37 38 8 12 16

Fire 3 2 1 2 4

Grand Total 109 104 113 108 33 66 87

0

20

40

60

80

100

120
N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
In

ci
d

e
n

ts

Figure 1: Number of incidents (not including slips on the ice at the 
Ice Rink).

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

10 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: Total number of incidents per site 2022/23

Ice Rink / 56

Off Site / 11

Assembly Hall / 12

Town Hall / 4

Parks / 1

Gateway / 0

Depot / 5

Camden Centre / 4

Car Parks / 6

Other / 5

TN2 / 0

Crem Cem / 1

Dowding House / 2

Public toilets / 0

Amelia Scott / 30

Page 50

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

11 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

  Incidents by year 

Site 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

% 

Increase 

/ 

decrease 

on last 

year 

Car Parks 8 5 5 11 4 7 6 -14% 

Assembly 

Hall 
19 26 20 17 2 9 12 +33% 

Gateway 7 5 7 7 0 2 0 - 

Town Hall 9 8 16 11 3 3 4 +33% 

Other TWBC 

sites 
0 4 3 6 6 3 5 +67% 

Ice Rink 65 99 55 69 16 41 56 +37% 

Depot 7 4 6 6 0 7 5 -29% 

Parks 10 5 9 5 3 3 1 -67% 

TN2 2 2 2 5 0 4 0 - 

Camden 

Centre 
5 3 5 5 1 3 4 +33% 

Public 

Toilets 
1 0 0 2 0 0 0 - 

Cemetery / 

Crematorium 
4 9 2 2 4 8 1 -88% 

Amelia Scott - - - - - - 30 - 

Off site 27 25 31 30 7 12 11 -8% 

Dowding 

House 
- - 2 1 3 4 2 -50% 

Total 168 196 162 177 49 106 137 +29% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

12 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

Ice Rink incident data: 

The Ice Rink site was only operational for just over a week in 2020 so limited 

data is available when comparing to previous years.  

 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Numbers of 

paying 

customers 

34,199 39,214 39,827 38,070 46,400 6,139 49,872 43,004 

Slips injuries 

on the ice 
57 59 92 51 69 16 40 50 

 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

13 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 imposes upon the Council statutory duties to 

ensure the health, safety and welfare of its employees and others. Failure to comply with the 

statutory duties and to adequately manage health and safety could lead to prosecution, 

under the Act, of the Council, Officers and /or individual employees.  

Annual reports to Cabinet that include an appraisal of the last 12 months’ achievements and 

setting out the plans for the next 12 months assist in demonstrating compliance with the 

statutory duties and minimising the risk of prosecution. 

Gary Rowland (Senior Legal Adviser – Corporate Governance) 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

Improvements in safety will reduce the likelihood of fines and insurance claims. 

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor)  

C. Staffing 

No direct implications. 

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor)  

D. Risk Management 

Corporate health and safety risks should feature on the Risk Register. As there are risks to 

sites and service provision if safety is not managed effectively within the authority.  

Failure to adequately manage health and safety could have a financial impact and also affect 

the Council’s reputation. Making the Council liable to compensation payments with this 

resulting in the potential for future increases in insurance premiums.   

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor)  

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

14 of 14 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23 

 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

No direct implications.  

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor)  

F. Community Safety 

No direct implications.  

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor)  

G. Equalities 

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to the 

substance of the Equality Act. There is no apparent equality impact on end users. 

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor) 

H. Data Protection 

No direct implications.  

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor) 

I. Health and Safety 

The work completed and the set priorities provide for the effective management of health and 

safety. Minimising the risk of injury, financial loss or criminal legal liability under the Health 

and Safety at Work Act 1974. 

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor) 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The priorities contained within the report should contribute to increased wellbeing of staff as 

well as a positive impact on the health of those affected by Council activities. As a large 

number of TWBC staff also live in the borough it should have a positive impact on the area 

as a whole. 

Mike Catling, (Corporate Health and Safety Advisor) 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

1 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 

(Apr-June 2023)  

For Cabinet 21 September 2023 

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director for Finance, Policy and Development 

Report Author: Pamela Morgan, Performance and Governance Manager 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21 August 2023 

Portfolio Holder 22 August 2023 

Finance and Governance CAB  5 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Cabinet notes the summary of project performance over quarter one, 

2023/24, at appendix A. 

2. That the Cabinet notes the summary of service performance over quarter one, 

2023/24, at appendix B. 

3. That the Cabinet notes the Recovery Plans for quarter one, 2023/24, at 

appendices C-E. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

2 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report summarises the performance of the Council’s projects and 

services in quarter one, 2023/24. Appendix A provides a summary of projects 

in the Council’s Borough Partnership Plan and legacy projects from the Five 

Year Plan, the corporate plan for the previous administration.  Where service 

under-performance is identified, Recovery Plans are included at Appendices 

C-E to give details of actions to bring service performance back on track. 

1.2 The performance management framework is part of the overall governance 

framework of the Council, which seeks to ensure that risks are managed 

whilst results are delivered. Quarterly performance reporting helps the Council 

to improve services and deliver better results for residents, and Cabinet 

Committee oversight ensures that the framework is robust, and that 

performance is open to challenge from those with political responsibility for the 

delivery of projects and services. A public report helps other Councillors, 

residents and stakeholders to engage with the work of the Council, and to 

provide further challenge where it is appropriate and effective to do so. 

1.3 The summary report is divided into two main sections: 

• Project performance (appendix A). 

• Service performance (appendix B). 

1.4 Delivery of projects is monitored on a weekly basis by the Project 

Management Office and is reviewed every month by the Programme 

Management Board, which consists of the Chief Executive and Directors. 

Progress is also monitored with Portfolio Holders at monthly meetings. 

1.5 Service performance is monitored daily by line managers, reported to Heads 

of Service monthly, and Management Board (Chief Executive and Directors) 

on a quarterly basis. 

2. Project Performance 

2.1 There are four projects remaining active as part of the historic corporate plan, 

which are currently being performance assessed.  Their status is as follows: 

Date Red Status Amber Status Green Status 

2022/23 Q4 0 2 2 

2023/24 Q1 0 2 2 

  

 Detailed updates on the projects are available at Appendix A.  

Page 56

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

3 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

2.2   The Council has added to its Performance Report a summary of progress on its   

  Build a Better Borough Plan projects under its five key priorities: 

 

Build a Better Borough 

1 Safeguarding Finances 

2 Vibrant and safer town and villages 

3 Carbon reduction 

4 Housing 

5 Digital access, transparency and local democracy 

 

Detailed updates on the Council’s projects are also available at Appendix A.  In 

addition, a review of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council’s governance 

arrangements is underway.  

3. Service Performance 

3.1  The Council has updated its performance indicators for 2023/24. 

3.2 It is reporting on 20 indicators for this year, 15 of which have targets. 

3.3 Of those indicators with targets, 11 are performing, 3 are under performing 

and one indicator is unavailable.  

Date Performing Not Performing Unavailable 

2022/23 Q4 16 5 31% 0 

2023/24 Q1 11 3 27% 1 

Under-performing Indicators  

3.4 These indicators which are underperforming: 

• The percentage of successful homelessness preventions  

• The percentage of direct debits as a proportion of garden waste 

transactions 

• The percentage of parking transactions paid via RingGo. 

3.5 Recovery Plans for these indicators are attached at appendices C-E.  These 

give more details about the reasons for under performance, and the actions 

the service will take to bring performance back to target.   

3.6 The Working days lost due to sickness indicator was unavailable for quarter 

one at the time of publication. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

4 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

4. Options Considered 

4.1 This report is for noting only, with no decisions being made as a result of the 

recommendations. As such there are no options available to Cabinet.  

5. Preferred Option and Reason 

5.1  Performance management is an important tool to use for organisations and 

businesses to assess their progress on desired aims and outcomes. To 

promote transparency and increase trust in how the Council spends public 

funds, performance information is published quarterly to allow for greater 

scrutiny of the Council’s long-term ambitions and its day-to-day activities.  

5.2  The recommendations are to note the factual information within this report. 

Any actions Cabinet committee may choose to take as a result of the 

information will be brought forwards in separate reports which will include 

options appraisals and decisions. 

6. Consultation on Options 

6.1  The information in this report is factual information and there are no direct 

decisions arising from the recommendations. As such, no public consultation 

has taken place. 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

6.2 The Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 5 

September 2023 and agreed that the recommendations set out in the report 

be supported. 

6.3 There are no decisions arising from this report and so no implementation 

period is necessary.  

7  Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Project Summary 

• Appendix B: Performance Indicator Outturn 

• Appendix C-E: Under-performing Indicator Recovery Plans 

Page 58

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

5 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

8  Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

There is no statutory duty to report regularly to Cabinet on the Council’s 
performance. However, under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (as 
amended) a best value authority has a statutory duty to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
One of the purposes of the Council’s Corporate Priorities is to provide clear strategic 
direction in order to facilitate the improvement of the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of Council Services. Regular reports on the Council’s performance 
assist in demonstrating best value and compliance with the statutory duty. 
 
There are no consequences arising from the recommendation that adversely affect 

or interfere with individuals’ rights and freedoms as set out in the Human Rights Act 

1998.    

Claudette Valmond, Interim Head of Legal Services, 1 August 2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

A number of these performance indicators and projects have financial implications 

and where appropriate these are covered in the Capital, Revenue and Treasury 

Monitoring Reports that accompany this report. 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Parking and Procurement, 16 August 2023 

C. Staffing 

This report demonstrates the vast proportion of work being undertaken by the 

Council’s staff to provide services for the Borough and meet the projects within the 

Borough Partnership Plan. Performance is monitored on a monthly basis by Heads 

of Service and is assessed against current staffing trends and issues to ensure staff 

resources are aligned with the Council’s priorities.  

Nicky Carter, Head of HR, Customers and Communities, 1 August 2023 

D. Risk Management 

All risks associated with this report are within the Council’s current risk appetite and 

managed in accordance with its risk management strategy. 

Lee Colyer, Director for Finance, Policy and Development 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

6 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

1 August 2023 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

This report and the action plans will have considered this aspect to ensure that the 

service areas and projects deliver the desired outcomes for Environment and 

Sustainability. 

Section 40, National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 

40(1) Every public authority must, in exercising its functions have 

regard so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those 

functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. 

 

Section 85, Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

85(1) In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so 

as to affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant 

authority shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and 

enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural 

beauty. 

 

Gary Stevenson, Head of Environment, Housing and Health, 1 August 2023 

F. Community Safety 

There are no consequences arising from the recommendation that adversely affect 

community safety. 

Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

17(1) Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall 

be the duty of each authority to which this section applies to exercise 

its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 

exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it 

reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area. 

 

Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager, 1 August 2023 

Page 60

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

7 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

G. Equalities 

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to 

the substance of the Equality Act. There is no apparent equality impact on end 

users. 

Section 149, Equality Act 2010 

149(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have 

due regard to the need to –  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

Lee Colyer, Director for Finance, Policy and Development 1 August 2023 

H. Data Protection 

There are no data protection issues which need to be considered as a part of this 

report. 

Article 5, General Data Protection Regulation 2016 

1. Personal data shall be: 

(a) processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation 

to the data subject; 

(b) collected for specific, explicit and legitimate purposes and not 

further processed in a manner that is incompatible with those 

purposes; 

(c) adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to 

the purposes for which they are processed; 

(d) accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date; 

(e) kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no 

longer than is necessary for the purposes for which the personal 

data are processed; 

(f) processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the 

personal data, including protection against unauthorised or unlawful 

processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage,using 

appropriate technical or organisational measures. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

8 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Summary Q1 2023/24 (Apr-June 2023) 

 

 

 

Jane Fineman, Data Protection Officer and Head of Finance, Parking and 

Procurement 1 August 2023 

I. Health and Safety 

There are no health and safety issues to consider as a part of this report and 

recommendations. 

Mike Catling, Corporate Health and Safety Manager, 1 August 2023 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

There are no health and wellbeing issues to consider as a part of this report and 

recommendations. 

1. Areas of deprivation: Will the proposal have an impact (positive of 

negative) on those living in areas of deprivation within the borough 

(40% most deprived in the country). These are Sherwood, 

Southborough and High Brooms, Broadwater and Rusthall. 

2. Healthier lifestyle opportunities: Will residents be more or less 

able to make healthier lifestyle choices such as physical activity (e.g. 

active travel, access to green spaces or access to leisure facilities), 

healthy eating (e.g. proximity or access to take away shops, 

allotments, food stores) and being smoke-free 

3. Social and Community networks: Will the proposal make it easier 

for people to interact with one another e.g. encouraging community 

engagement 

4. Living and Working Conditions: does to proposal improve work or 

home environments, increase job, education or training 

opportunities, improve access to health services or housing 

5. General Socioeconomic, cultural and environmental conditions: 

Are there any other factors that may impact the above 

 

Tracey Beattie, Environmental Health Manager, 1 August 2023 

Page 62

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

1 of 6 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 2 

 

Projects Summary and 

Build a Better Borough 

Projects  
 

Q1 2023/24 (April-June 2023) 

Five Year Plan Projects 

1. Project 

Create a new Local Plan for the Borough. 

Status 

AMBER 

 The Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination, 

in accordance with the latest timetable. A Planning Inspector has been 

appointed to undertake the Examination. 

Examination Hearings were held in March and between May and July 2022. 

This varies slightly from the published timetable in the Local Development 

Scheme (October 2021) which had considered that these would be completed 

by April.   

The Council has now received the Inspectors post-hearing Initials Findings 

letter which raises a number of matters that need resolving in order that the 

Local Plan can progress on to adoption. Officers are working on the matters 

with consultants and stakeholders and will present an update to members 

when the work is completed, which will be after the May elections. A review of 

Page 63

Appendix A



 

Page  

2 of 6 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – September 2023 
Revision: 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – 13 September 2023 
Revision: 2 

 

the Local Development Scheme will be undertaken at the same time to set the 

timetable for the adoption of the Local Plan. 

As a result of these additional requirements and the need for additional post 

hearing further work adoption of the Local Plan has been delayed.  

 

2. Project 

Create new sports facilities for the Borough. 

Status 

GREEN 

 

Update 

Currently awaiting outcome of Local Plan examination.  From the Inspector’s 

Initial Findings letter no issues of principle were raised with respect to the 

sport pitches policies.  With regards to Hawkenbury Recreation Ground 

(Policy AL/RTW 19) the Inspector concluded it would be appropriate to 

consult on the road widening and re-provision of parking spaces that had 

been provided in a later evidence document provided to the Hearing.   

  

Page 64

Appendix A



 

Page  

3 of 6 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – September 2023 
Revision: 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – 13 September 2023 
Revision: 2 

 

3. Project 

Support the development of community centres in the borough: Cranbrook 

Status 

 AMBER 

Update 

One of the three GPs who is part of the consortium to deliver the community 

centre is unwell and is therefore seeking to pass on their NHS contract. Following 

negotiations with a third party the deal has fallen through and we await further 

news in terms of who is going to be able to take over the contract moving 

forward. Once this is known and if the new owner remains supportive of the 

community centre, the final NHS specification can then be signed off to enable 

the development to move ahead.  

Works can then start on a Pre-Construction Services Agreement via the KCC 

framework.  

Feasibility picked up c£300k of risk within ground conditions so geotecks were 

undertaken and this has identified the fact that the risk is low so these costs could 

be mitigated. Figures are at risk of inflation and the bank of England rate that 

continues to escalate leading to potential viability issues in the future. However 

the rental rates for the NHS have also increased because of this.  

Project will be going out to procurement on the QS and potentially the TPM as 

well. TPM costs can be avoided for a while if TWBC officer time is used and this 

could be done up to RIBA 3 but no further.  

KCC has given the parish written confirmation that they are keen to see the 

project progress and that they would support the library moving in and that they 

will consult with KCC Corporate Landlord to determine what degree of investment 

can be allowed for. Parish is seeking £500k + all S106 funds sought to date.  

VAT report has concluded that there is a c£560k hit on the capital costs of the 

building and or a hit on the leasehold income to the council and or a revenue 

impact to the NHS. The project can still stack up despite these additional costs 

however the payback period goes beyond the 25 years initially desired by the 

Council. The revenue income from the NHS is estimated at c£170k per annum 

and the best outcome would be for the NHS to pick up the VAT revenue costs. 

 

 

 

Page 65

Appendix A



 

Page  

4 of 6 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – September 2023 
Revision: 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – 13 September 2023 
Revision: 2 

 

4. Project 

Support the development of community centres in the borough: Paddock 

Wood 

Status 

GREEN 

Update 

Project is now complete from the build perspective and was handed back to 

Paddock Wood Community Centre on 3 March 2023. 

The Town Council has incorporated a charitable company to run the facility 

going forward and a lease has been prepared to transfer it over to the 

Company Limited by Guarantee on handover, which avoids any VAT on the 

construction element.  

Marketing of the nursery/pre-school has secured them a good tenant and final 

lease negotiations are underway. A site manager has been employed to run 

the centre with the facilities management contract now in place with Baxall for 

the first year. 

Furniture fit out has commenced, followed by an opening date to be confirmed 

but anticipated to be in September 2023.  

  

Page 66

Appendix A



 

Page  

5 of 6 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – September 2023 
Revision: 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – 13 September 2023 
Revision: 2 

 

Build a Better Borough Projects  

SAFEGUARDING FINANCES 

Good progress has been made across many projects.  Repurposing the Town Hall 

continues with our partner, Town Square. Change of use and listed building consent 

have been granted and Main co-working refurbishment work is likely to get underway 

in Q3 2023. The savings plan and people strategy are progressing on schedule. The 

car parking strategy has been delayed due to competing priorities and revised dates 

are being established.  

VIBRANT & SAFER 

Excellent progress has been maintained across much of this theme. Resident 

engagement has been completed to support the five-year plan.  The activities to 

develop tourism in the are progressing well together with work to develop a new 

business pack that will enhance he current business portal. The distribution of funds 

from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Rural England Prosperity Fund is moving 

head on track.  Quotes have been obtained to install additional charging points in 

some car parks with contractors now being sought. The installation of CCTV in car 

parks requires further research until the specification can be finalised. 

CARBON REDUCTION 

A pesticide and herbicide policy has been published and work to renew our 

Biodiversity action plan is being taken forward. The work to enable significant carbon 

reduction from the Weald Leisure Centre and North Farm Depot is likely to to 

implemented fully by the end of this year. Due to a key member of staff leaving the 

Authority the work to expand the current climate emergency web site and progress 

the Borough wide emissions strategy is delayed. 

HOUSING 

Activities leading to the delivery of more affordable housing is moving at pace. The 

empty property strategy and policy will be updated fully by the end of this year. The 

Town Centre development plan has extended the call for sites slot until August 2023. 

Dates for production of the Local Plan are being reassessed taking into account the 

iterative nature and complexity of this work. 

 

DIGITAL 

The resident’s survey is well underway and currently the results are being analysed 

following the three-month period the survey was open. The communication plan 

review has been completed and phases are being delivered including the ‘what we 

do’ campaign. A review of the way Tunbridge Wells Borough Council provides data 

to residents is due to start in Q3 2023 with an aim of making the data and 

information more accessible.  Resourcing issues have impacted development of a 

digital transformation plan and dates are being reassessed.  

Page 67

Appendix A



 

Page  

6 of 6 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – September 2023 
Revision: 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Projects Summary 

Date of publication – 13 September 2023 
Revision: 2 

 

OTHER 

A review of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Governance arrangements is 

underway with a report due in Q4 2023. 

 

 

 

Page 68

Appendix A



  

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report  

Council Service Performance  

Q1 (Apr-Jun 2023) 

Published September 2023 

 

For Cabinet 21 September 2023

   

 

Page 69

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

2 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Indicator Results 
The Council’s Performance and Governance Team has, in collaboration with the Council’s 

Heads of Service, updated the performance indicators on which it will report quarterly in 

2023/24.     

Contact Centre (Amelia) 

1. Call to Wait Time Ratio1 

The average call-to-wait time ratio in quarter 1 was 8.45. 

Of 45,945 calls made to the Council in 

quarter one, 9,698 were abandoned (21%) 

and 36,247 were answered (79%) 

Average wait times by service and overall 

  

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

This performance indicator does not have a target. 

  

 

1 This is a new indicator. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1

% calls answered/abandoned

% calls answered % calls abandoned

00:02:08

00:06:41

00:32:02

00:00:00

00:07:12

00:14:24

00:21:36

00:28:48

00:36:00

Q1

Call wait times (hh:mm:ss)

Service with the shortest average wait

Average wait (all calls)

Service with the longest average wait

Page 70

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

3 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Calls by Services 

Of the calls made in quarter one, the switchboard received the most at 29,139 calls, 25,394 

of which were answered.  This was followed by Council Tax, which received 5,616 calls of 

which 3,451 were answered.  Housing Benefit overpayment calls represented the fewest at 

39, of which 23 were answered.   

 

 

  

3095

1059

5616

493

966

2738

39

2743

493

57

2192

641

3451

299
501

1888

23

1816

299
42

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

AHT Benefits CTax Garden
Waste

Housing Parking HB O/P Streetscene Garden
Waste

Libraries

Calls to Contact Centre 

Q1 calls offered Q1 Calls handled

Page 71

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

4 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Community Safety Unit 

2. All Crimes per 1,000 Population 

The outturn for this indicator is 70.5 for this quarter, which is slightly higher than Q1 2022/23 

at 69.5%.   

 

Most involved substance and alcohol misuse, followed by violence and domestic abuse2: 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

This performance indicator does not have a target. 

 

2 This is a new breakdown for the All Crime Per 1,000 Population indicator. 

58

60

62

64

66

68

70

72

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

All Crime per 1,000 Population

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

29

19.9

21.6

All crime per 1000 population by type (Q1)

Violence Domestic Abuse Substance and Alcohol Misuse

Page 72

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

5 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

3. Number of Police Recorded Incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

The outturn for this indicator is 1,223 for this quarter, which is comparable to that in Q1 of the 

last year (1,217).  

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

This performance indicator does not have a target. 

 

  

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

No. of Police Recorded Incidents of ASB (rolling yr)

Page 73

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

6 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Housing 

4. Percentage of Homelessness Preventions3 

The percentage of at risk households successfully prevented from becoming homeless for 6 

months or more in this quarter was 51.6%, which is lower than the national average target of 

55%. 

 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 65% or below, which means the indicator is: 

Under Performing 

  

 

3 This indicator has been updated in light of national figures. 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of homelessness prevented for 6 months or more (threatened 
with homelessness)

Value Target National Average

Page 74

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

7 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

5. Percentage of Homelessness Reliefs4 

The percentage of successful homelessness reliefs was 54.3% for this quarter, which is 

higher than the national target of 35%.  

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 50% or more, which means the indicator is: 

Performing 

 

  

 

4 This is a new indicator. 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of homelessness relieved for 6 months or more (already 
homeless)

Value Target National Target

Page 75

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

8 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Health 

6. Number of People Engaged in Healthy Living Services 

The outturn for this indicator is 105 for this quarter, which is lower than in Q1 of 2022/23 

(108).  

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 53 or above, which means the indicator is: 

Performing 

  

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

No. of Individuals enrolled and seen by One You Advisors

Page 76

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

9 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Environment 

7. Percentage of Household Waste for Reuse, Recycling and 

Composting5 

The outturn for this indicator is 50.49% which is higher than quarter four at 47.00%.  

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 48%, +/-2.5% or above, which means the 

indicator is: 

Performing 

 

  

 

 

Page 77

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

10 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

8. Kilograms of Residual Waste Collected per Household6 

The outturn for this indicator is 107, which is higher than quarter one of 2022-23 at 91.  

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 127 +/-2.5% or below, which means the indicator 

is: 

Performing 

 

 

  

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

Kg Residual Waste Collected per Household

Page 78

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

11 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

HR 

9. Working Days Lost Due to Sickness 

The outturn for this indicator in quarter one is unavailable.  The outturn for the last quarter 

was 1.79, which was higher than the preceding quarter at 1.43. 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 1.375 or below, which means the indicator in 

quarter four of 2022/23 was: 

Under Performing 

 

 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Working Days Lost to Sickness

Page 79

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

12 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Economic Development 

10. Visits to the ‘Visit Tunbridge Wells’ (VTW) Website7 

The outturn for this indicator is 86,900 for this quarter.  

 

 

  

Performing or Underperforming Target 

This performance indicator does not have a target. 

 

 

  

 

7 This indicator is new. 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

22/23

Total number of Visits to the 'Visit Tunbridge Wells' website 

Page 80

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

13 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

11. Social Media Engagement (reach & followers)8  

For the Visit Tunbridge Wells (VTW) pages The outturn for this indicator is 100,957 (reach) 

and 6560 (followers).   

 

 

.  

 

Performing or Underperforming Target - These performance indicators do not have a 

target. 

 

8 This indicator is new. 

68,339

32618

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Q1 2023/24 Q2/2023/24 Q3 2023/24 Q4 2023/24

VTW Social Media interactions - Reach

VTW Facebook VTW Instagram

2,554

4006

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

Q1 2023/24 Q2/2023/24 Q3 2023/24 Q4 2023/24

VTW Social Media interactions - Followers

VTW Facebook VTW Instagram

Page 81

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

14 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Finance 

12. Percentage of valid and undisputed invoices paid on time 

This quarter’s outturn for this indicator is 100%. 

 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 99.8% or above, which means the indicator is: 

Performing 

 

 

 

 

99.70%

99.75%

99.80%

99.85%

99.90%

99.95%

100.00%

100.05%

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

% of valid and undisputed invoices paid on time

Page 82

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

15 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

13. Percentage of Direct Debits as Proportion of Total 

Transactions for Garden Waste Collection Service9 

The percentage of garden waste service transactions is 24.10%. 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 25% or above, which means the indicator is: 

Under Performing 

 

 

  

 

9 This is a new indicator. 

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% direct debits as a proportion of total transactions for 
garden waste service

Value

Target

Page 83

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

16 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Parking 

14. Percentage of Parking Payments Made via RingGo10  

60% of parking charges were made via RingGo in quarter one. 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The target for this performance indicator is 63% or above, which means the indicator is: 

Under Performing 

 

 

  

 

10 This indicator is new. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% car park payments made by Ringo

Value

Target

Page 84

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

17 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

Planning 

15. Speed of Major Developments Including Extensions of Time11 

The outturn for this indicator is 96% for this quarter. 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The national target and the service target for this performance indicator is 60% or above, 

which means the indicator is: 

Performing 

 

  

 

11 This indicator is new. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Speed of major developments, including extensions of time

Value Target (TWBC and National)

Page 85

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

18 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

16. Speed of Non-major Developments Including Extensions of 

Time12 

The outturn for this indicator is 99% for this quarter. 

 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The national and the service target for this performance indicator is 70% or above, which 

means the indicator is: 

Performing 

 

 

  

 

12 This is a new indicator. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Speed of non-major developments, including extensions of time

Value Target (TWBC and National)

Page 86

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

19 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

17. Appeals – Major Developments 

The outturn for this indicator is 66% for this quarter. 

 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The service and national target for this performance indicator is 65% or above, which means 

the indicator is: 

Performing 

 

  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Appeals for major developments

Value Target

Page 87

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

20 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

18. Appeal – Non-major Developments13 

The outturn for this indicator is 76% for this quarter. 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

The service and national target for this performance indicator is 65% or above, which means 

the indicator is: 

Performing 

 

 

  

 

13 This is a new indicator. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Appeals for non-major developments 

Value Target

Page 88

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

21 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

19. Percentage of Council Tax Collected 

The outturn for this indicator is 28.95% for quarter one, compared to 28.88% in quarter one of 

2022/23. 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

This quarter’s target for this performance indicator is 27.88% or above, which means the 

indicator is: 

Performing 

 

 

 

  

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

Percentage of council tax collected

Page 89

Appendix B



 

  

Page  

22 of 22 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Performance Report 

Date of publication – September 2023 

Revision: 1 

 

20. Percentage of National Non-Domestic Rates Collected 

The outturn for this indicator is 32.37% for quarter one, which is higher than quarter one of 

2022/23 (30.82%). 

 

 

 

 

Performing or Underperforming Target 

This quarter’s target for this performance indicator is 30% or above, which means the 

indicator is: 

Performing 

 

 

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

Percentage of national non-domestic rates collected

Page 90

Appendix B



Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan 

2023/24 Quarter One  
 

 

Indicator Name 
 

Percentage of homelessness prevented for 6 months or more (threatened with 

homelessness) 

 

Current Performance 
 

Target: 65% 

National Average 55% 

Performance: 51.6% 

 

Historic Performance 
 

N/A – this is a new indicator. 

 

 

Reasons for Current Under Performance 

This was a result of a lot of staffing and management changes, adapting to our way of 

working, and also targeted work to reduce the number of active cases being open, 

closing those where contact had been lost. 

Page 91

Appendix C



 

Actions to Improve Under Performance 

(or reasons why this is not necessary) 

 

A continued focus on prevention and achieving positive outcomes is being embedded 

within the new staff. Senior staff will also be monitoring this and individual staff 

objectives of working to meet the target 

 

Page 92

Appendix C



Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan 

2023/24 Quarter One  
 

 

Indicator Name 

Percentage of car park payments made by Ringo 

Current Performance 

Target: 63% 

Performance: 60% 

Historic Performance 

 

This is a new indicator and target to achieve.  

 

Reasons for Current Under Performance 
 

This is an ambitious target which relies upon parking customers changing their 

behaviours. Whilst efforts can be made to encourage people to pay by RingGo we 

cannot make them change. It may take some time. It is important for the Council that we 

aim for behaviour change as transactions for RingGo are free to the council and the 

customer, whereas card payments are chargeable (although still considerably cheaper 

than cash.  

Actions to Improve Under Performance 
 

There is additional marketing signage being installed in the car parks and RingGo will 

support a campaign to raise awareness of their service. Communications will be written 

for the weekly residents’ email and for the internet. 

Page 93

Appendix D



Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan 

2023/24 Quarter One  
 

 

Indicator Name 

Percentage of direct debits as a proportion of total transactions for garden waste service 

 

Current Performance 

 

Target: 25% 

Performance: 24.10% 

 

Historic Performance 
 

This is a new indicator and target to achieve.  

 

Reasons for Current Under Performance 
 

This is anticipated to be a timing difference. Conversions from card payment to Direct 

Debit can only take place in the service annual renewal month. Residents signed up to 

the Garden Waste service throughout the year, so the proportion of payments made by 

Direct Debit should climb as the year progresses.  

 

Actions to Improve Under Performance 

Renewal reminder letters have been written to encourage sign up to Direct Debit, which 

is the cheapest method of payment for the Council to accept.  

 

Page 94

Appendix E



 

Page  

1 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – 

Disposal of Parcels of Land  

For Cabinet on 21st September 2023 

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall, Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Performance 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer Director of Finance, Policy & Development (S151 Officer) 

Head of Service: David Candlin, Head of Economic Development and Property 

Report Author: Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Officer  

Classification: Part Exempt 

Partially Exempt from Disclosure – Exempt Appendix A - exempt by virtue of paragraph 

3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information 

relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person including the 

authority holding that information. 

Wards Affected: Broadwater 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21st August 2023 

Fin & Gov CAB 5th September 2023 

Cabinet 21st September 2023  

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That Cabinet approves the grant of the option and the disposal of the land 

referred to in this report and the Appendices.  

2. That delegated authority is granted to the Head of Economic Development and 

Property in consultation with the Director of Finance, Policy and Development, 

the Monitoring Officer and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance to 

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



 

Page  

2 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

negotiate and agree the terms of the option to be granted and the subsequent 

disposal if the option is exercised 

3. That the Head of Mid Kent Legal Services is authorised to negotiate and all 

complete necessary legal documentation and formalities to give effect to these 

recommendations and the disposal of the land. 

Page 96

Agenda Item 11



 

Page  

3 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 As part of their plans to comprehensively redevelop the Showfields Estate, Town 

& Country Housing (TCH) have approached the Council to grant them an option 

(“the Option”) to purchase a collection of small parcels of land that the Council 

has retained since the Housing stock portfolio was transferred to TCH. 

1.2 The parcels are all small areas of land which have no real use to the Council. If 

the Option is exercised, the disposal would bring in a capital receipt for the 

Council and tidy up the land ownership of those areas of land. 

1.3 The various areas of land comprise mainly parts of footpaths or turning circles on 

the estate. 

1.4 If the Option to purchase is exercised, TCH would be obliged to purchase the 

land once their development plans are formally confirmed but prior to the 

commencement of any works. The Council do not have the option to enforce the 

sale. 

2. Areas 

2.1 The existing proposal comprises the sale of 13 parcels of land amounting to an 

total area of 454.1m sq.  

2.2 These are shown in the plan attached as Appendix A.  

2.3 TCH are currently considering whether they need additional parcels of land (to 

be advised) in connection with the Cycle path that is planned to go through the 

area. 

3. Valuation 

3.1     GL Hearn were instructed to value the parcels of land and submitted a report in 

September 2022. 

 

3.2   The value they assessed was accepted by both parties and used as the basis for 

subsequent negotiations. 

 

3.3     Should more parcels of land be required then they will be valued at the same 

amount as assessed in the report. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



 

Page  

4 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

4. Options Considered 

4.1   Retain – The parcels of land in question comprise parts of roadways, footpaths 

and verges. They have no alternative use under the ownership of the Council. 

There is no advantage to the Council in retaining these areas of land and the 

capital receipt for their disposal (if the option is exercised) would not be realised. 

The Council as owner of these areas would retain some liability for them if not 

disposed of and in addition, not disposing of the land to TCH could frustrate 

TCH’s redevelopment project. 

4.2  Dispose – If the Option is exercised, the Council will receive a capital receipt and 

relinquish any liability in respect of the land. 

5. Preferred Option and Reason 

5.1    It is recommended that the Option to purchase to TCH is completed with the 

 freehold sale completing in due course if the option is exercised.  

5.2   The parcels are of no use to the Council but are of benefit to TCH The disposal 

of the land to TCH would benefit their overarching development plans, tidy up the 

land ownership issues, remove any obligations for maintenance to the Council 

and provide some additional and unexpected funds to the Council. 

5.3  TCH are the only conceivable buyer for these parcels of land and it is therefore 

appropriate, as set out in the Council’s Constitution, to sell the land to them by 

means of Private Treaty.  

6  Consultation on Options 

6.1  Consultations were held with Town & Country Housing and internally between the      

report Writer, Jonathan White (Corporate Property Manager), David Candlin (Head 

of Economic Development) & Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, Policy and 

Development) as to the extent & viability of the proposed transaction.  

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

6.2 The [committee name] Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on [date of 

meeting] and agreed that the recommendations set out in the report be 

supported.   

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 11



 

Page  

5 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

7 Implementation 

7.1   Implementation is dependent on the progress of the wider TCH development 

project. 

8 Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Plan showing plots of land currently required. 

 

Exempt appendices (if any): 

• Exempt Appendix A: GL Hearn valuation report (September 2022) 

 

Background Papers: 

• None 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



 

Page  

6 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

9 Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Council has a general power of competence under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to 

do anything an individual can do provided it is not prohibited by other legislation. 

The Council has power under section 123(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 to dispose of 

land and property in any manner that it wishes. The proposed disposals must be for the best 

consideration reasonably obtainable in accordance with section 123 of the Local Government 

Act 1972 or meet the requirements of Circular 06/03: Local Government Act 1972 General 

Disposal Consent (England) 2003 - disposal of land for less than the best consideration that 

can be reasonably obtained failing which, the Secretary of State’s consent would be required. 

Acting on the recommendations is within the Council’s powers as set out in the above 

statutory provisions. 

Claudette Valmond – Head of Mid Kent Legal Services – 25/08/2023 

  

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The capital receipt will contribute to funding the capital programme, removes maintenance 

cost from the revenue budget and risk from the asset portfolio. 

 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 25/08/2023  

C. Staffing 

This section is not considered applicable to the subject of the report. 

Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Manager, 16/08/2023 

D. Risk Management 

[This section is not considered applicable to the subject of the report. 

Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Manager, 16/08/2023 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 11



 

Page  

7 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Showfields, Tunbridge Wells – Disposal of Parcels of Land 

 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

The planned disposals will not impact on the Council’s carbon reduction commitment. 

Environment and bio-diversity issues will be covered as part of the Development Control 

process for the TCH project 4 

Gary Stevenson, 25/08/2023, Head of Housing, Health & Environment. 

F. Community Safety 

This section is not considered applicable to the subject of the report. 

Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Manager, 16/08/2023 

G. Equalities 

This section is not considered applicable to the subject of the report. 

Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Manager, 16/08/2023 

H. Data Protection 

This section is not considered applicable to the subject of the report. 

Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Manager, 16/08/2023 

I. Health and Safety 

This section is not considered applicable to the subject of the report. 

Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Manager, 16/08/2023 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The Broadwater area of Tunbridge Wells is one of the most economically deprived parts of 

the borough. The TCH redevelopment project promises to bring in considerable investment 

to improve the housing standards and recreational facilities in the area which will bring 

considerable health & wellbeing benefits to the residents. Anything that encourages or 

enables this scheme should be encouraged as it will ultimately improve the living conditions 

of the local population. 

Gary Stevenson, 25/08/2023, Head of Housing, Health & Environment. 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 11



P
age 102

A
ppendix A



 

Page  

1 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 

June 2023)  

For Cabinet on 21 September 2023 

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall (Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Performance) 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development 

Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Report Author: Zoe Jagniaszek, Service Accountant 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21 August 2023  

Portfolio Holder 21 August 2023 

Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory 
Board 

5 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That Cabinet note the actual gross and net expenditure for the year and the 

sources of finance, as shown in Appendices B to D. 

2. That Cabinet approve the proposed variations to the Capital programme, set out 

in note 4.3. 

3. That Cabinet approve the proposed movement between years set out in note 

4.4. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 12



 

Page  

2 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report summarises the actual and forecast outturn expenditure on capital 

schemes as at the 30 June 2023.  The total capital expenditure is forecast to be 

£19,082,000, a net decrease of £2,874,000 from the previously approved 

budgets. This consists of a decrease of £3,204,000 in spending rescheduled to 

2023/24 and a net increase in the forecast projected spend of £330,000.  

2. Capital Management to 30 June 2023 

2.1 At their meeting on 23 March 2023, Cabinet approved schemes to be met from 

the Capital Programme for the years 2023/24 to 2025/26. 

2.2 The figures approved by Cabinet were on the basis of the net cost after specific 

funding to be met by the Council, either from reserves or from the sale of existing 

assets.  The total approved spending was £16,984,000 during that period, of 

which £12,594,000 was to be spent during 2023/24. 

2.3 As shown in Appendix A, the approved programme for 2023/24 moved to 

£21,956,000 by the end of the 2022/23 financial year, accounting for new 

schemes, deletions and deferrals into future years and was approved by Cabinet 

on 22 June 2023. 

2.4 As the Capital Programme is a 4 year rolling plan an additional £1,280,000 has 

been included for approval for 2026/27.  This consists of Disabled Facilities 

Grants and Housing Renewal advances. 

2.5 New movements for 2023/24 are now forecasting an outturn of £19,082,000. 

2.6 Appendices B and C set out in gross and net terms the actual spend and 

amounts approved against the forecast outturn to 31 March 2024, while 

Appendix D summarises the movement in approvals and in sources of finance 

for the year. 

2.7 Approval is sought for an increase in the capital programme of £330,000 for 

2023/24 (see note 4.3). 

2.8 Approval is also sought for £3,204,000 gross expenditure to be deferred into 

2024/25 (see note 4.4).  

2.9 There may be small differences in the figures within the report and appendices 

due to rounding.  

Page 104

Agenda Item 12



 

Page  

3 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

3. Options Considered 

3.1 Retain the approved rolling capital programme as at the end of Quarter 4 

2022/23.  This would not reflect delays, advancements, underspends or new 

schemes and therefore provide an inaccurate forecast to the end of the financial 

year. 

3.2 Amend the rolling capital programme to reflect changes since the end of Quarter 

4 2022/23.  These projections help to manage the public finances effectively 

which support the objectives and priorities of the Council. 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

New Budget Approvals 

4.1 Appendix A shows how the approved capital expenditure has evolved since the 

programme was first agreed (CAB 144/22). The amounts approved for schemes 

at the June Cabinet meeting have been added to the figure then reported as total 

approvals as at 1st April 2023. 

Projected capital expenditure and funding for 2023/24 

4.2 Appendices B and C set out the actual expenditure and income to date and the 

projection for the year for gross and net capital expenditure.  Depending upon 

the progress of the capital programme throughout the year it can be seen that 

£10,865,000 will be required from earmarked reserves, Usable Capital Receipts 

Reserve, Sale of Fixed Assets, or further borrowed funds to deliver the complete 

capital programme of £19,082,000. 

Variations requiring approval 

4.3 At their meeting on 27 October 2022, Cabinet approved (CAB 68/22) the 

recommendation that the Council make additional funding of £330,400 available 

for the Weald Sports Centre Decarbonisation (TLK) to demonstrate its intention 

to meet the SALIX funding requirement that the project is not proceeding at risk.   

Cabinet (CAB 80/22), at their meeting of 17th November 2022, subsequently 

agreed that £110,901 from The Rural England Prosperity Fund could be used to 

part fund the £330,400, with the remaining £219,499 coming from the Capital 

and Revenue Initiatives Reserve.     

Page 105

Agenda Item 12



 

Page  

4 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

Schemes deferred to future years 

4.4 There are five projects where implementation has been rescheduled, and 

Cabinet approval is requested to defer these budgets to 2024/25 (see Appendix 

B):  

• £1,994,000 for Disabled Facilities Grants (TAC), an increase in funding 

from the DLUHC and a carry forward of funding from previous years has 

meant funding is not able to be fully utilised within the year. This does not 

have to be returned to Government and can be deferred to next financial 

year. 

• Although electrical testing has been carried out, the subsequent 

replacement of Street Lighting Columns (TDD) has not yet commenced.  

The budget of £163,000 is to be moved to 2024/25 when the works should 

take place.   

• The Great Hall Car Park (TKN) structural works have not begun, but a 

decision will be made shortly as to whether these refurbishment works will 

commence. If they do, the majority of the work will be in carried out 

2024/25 so £800,000 has been moved forward. 

• The future use of 9/10 Calverley Terrace is undecided, therefore the 

budget of £211,000 has been moved until there is clarification. 

• The replacement of the Great Hall Car Park Ventilation (TKW) System will 

take place at the same time as any refurbishment works so the budget of 

£35,000 has been carried forward to 2024/25. 

Capital Disposals 

4.5 There have been no capital disposals in Quarter 1. 

4.6 The usable capital receipts unspent at the end of 2022/23 were £30,830, which 

will now be used to partially fund the capital programme for the coming year.   

Housing Renewal Advances 

4.7 Housing Renewal Advances (TAD) are discretionary loans given to vulnerable 

householders, owners of empty properties and accredited landlords to help 

improve the living conditions in the Borough. £1,900 has been distributed this 

year specifically for the Energy Efficiency scheme, while £8,020 has been 

received year to date from repayments of previous loans. 

4.8 As approved by Cabinet in September 2012, a Housing Renewal Reserve was 

set up to capture all loan repayments. It was intended that in the future Cabinet 

would use these sums to fund new loans, reducing or removing the necessity to 

draw from other Council reserves for funding.  From 2016/17 we have utilised 

Page 106

Agenda Item 12



 

Page  

5 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

this reserve and will for all future advances. Appendix E gives a summary of 

expenditure and receipts over the last 6 years. 

Section 106 Developer Funding 

4.9 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning obligation 

with a developer in association with the granting of planning permission. Total 

Section 106 monies unspent and available as at 30 June 2023 is £10,976,000. 

Of this sum, £4,148,000 has been approved and allocated by Cabinet for various 

capital projects. 

4.10 It should be noted that a number of these agreements are required to be repaid 

should the Council not find appropriate projects upon which the monies can be 

spent within the agreed time period. Appendix F summarises the allocation of 

Section 106 money and also analyses the dates on which these agreements 

expire. 

4.11 The expired contribution of £47,000 from 2019/20 relates to transport 

improvements in the vicinity of Fountains Retail Park.  The Council has 

agreement from the developer to undertake an alteration or addendum to the 

S106 agreement to use this funding for another purpose. The Head of Planning 

and the developer are currently discussing proposals for that revised purpose.    

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 All capital adjustments have been discussed with the appropriate Officers 

responsible for each scheme. Management Board have also reviewed these 

proposals and consider them appropriate. 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

5.2 The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 5 

September 2023 and agreed that the recommendations set out in the report be 

supported.  

6. Implementation 

6.1 The decision will be published on the Council’s website. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

Page 107

Agenda Item 12



 

Page  

6 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

• Appendix A: Gross capital expenditure previously approved  

• Appendix B: Gross capital budgets and actual expenditure for Quarter 1 2023/24 

• Appendix C: Net capital budgets and payments for Quarter 1 2023/24 

• Appendix D: Summary of expenditure and funding for the 4 years to 2026/27 

• Appendix E: Housing Renewal Grants – Summary of loans issued and repaid 

• Appendix F: Funding from Section 106 Agreements 

 

Background Papers: 

•    Budget 2023/24 and Medium Term Financial Strategy – CAB 113/22 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65146/Budget%20FC%202
023_24%20-%20with%20CT%20premiums.pdf  

•    Quarter 3 2022/23 Capital Management to 31 December 2022 – CAB 144/22 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s66146/Capital%20Q3%20
Cabinet%20report%20202223.pdf   

•    Quarter 4 2022/23 Capital Management to 31 March 2023 – CAB 12/23 
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s67155/Capital%20Q4%20

Cabinet%20report%20202223%20V2.pdf  

• Weald Sports Centre De-Carbonisation Works – CAB 68/22 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s63567/2022.10.27%20Cabi
net%20report%20Weald.pdf 

• Rural England Prosperity Fund – CAB 80/22 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s64022/Rural%20England%
20Prosperity%20Fund.pdf  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 108

Agenda Item 12

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65146/Budget%20FC%202023_24%20-%20with%20CT%20premiums.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65146/Budget%20FC%202023_24%20-%20with%20CT%20premiums.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s66146/Capital%20Q3%20Cabinet%20report%20202223.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s66146/Capital%20Q3%20Cabinet%20report%20202223.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s63567/2022.10.27%20Cabinet%20report%20Weald.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s63567/2022.10.27%20Cabinet%20report%20Weald.pdf


 

Page  

7 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Under section 151 of the local government act (LGA 1972), the Section 151 Officer has 

statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority, 

including advising on the corporate financial position and providing financial information.  

Claudette Valmond, Head of Legal Partnership 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The report updates on the Authority’s capital programme and sets out whether capital 

expenditure is incurred within approvals by Cabinet.   

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

C. Staffing 

None 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

D. Risk Management 

To ensure that spending on the capital programme is in line the Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Strategy.   

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

No implications 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

F. Community Safety 

No implications 

Page 109

Agenda Item 12



 

Page  

8 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Capital Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

G. Equalities 

No implications 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

H. Data Protection 

No implications 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

I. Health and Safety 

No implications 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

No implications 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 12



2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Original Gross Approvals 12,594 3,110 1,280 - 16,984 CAB 144/22

Re-scheduled To/From 2022/23 3,225 - - - 3,225 CAB 12/23

TAC Disabled Facilities Grants 16 16 CAB 12/23

TLS Cinderhill Additional Plot & Amenity Buildings 625 625 CAB 12/23

TLT Bayham Refreshment Hut 30 30 CAB 12/23

TLU Local Authority Housing Fund 5,465 5,465 CAB 12/23

Total Approvals as at 1st April 2023 21,956 3,110 1,280 - 26,346

TAC Disabled Facilities Grants 1,250 1,250

TAD Housing Renewal Advances 30 30

TLK Weald Leisure Centre Decarbonisation 330 330

Total Approvals at Quarter 1 330 - - 1,280 1,610

Movements between years in Quarter 1 report

TAC Disabled Facilities Grants (1,994) 1,994 -

TDD Street Lighting Columns (163) 163 -

TKN Great Hall Car Park (800) 800 -

TKP 9/10 Calverley Terrace (211) 211 -

TKW Great Hall Car Park Ventilation (35) 35 -

Total Approvals 19,082 6,314 1,280 1,280 27,956

Appendix A: Schemes Approved and Awaiting Approval

Page 111

Appendix A



Appendix B: CAPITAL MONITORING -  Gross capital budgets and payments for 2023/24

Open/ FY Original Amendments  FY Revised Actual Forecast Difference Re-scheduled New Schemes Over/Under

Code Scheme Closed Budget to budget Budget To/From Budget

2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Communities

TLF CAMDEN CENTRE ROOF O - 174 174 - 174 - -

Communities Total - 174 174 - 174 - - - -

Finance and Performance

TDI ASSET ACQUISITION FUND O 2,500 - 2,500 - 2,500 - -

THF CARD PAYMENT SOFTWARE O - 7 7 - 7 - -

TIF IT STRATEGY O 80 52 132 10 132 - -

TJH BENHALL MILL DEPOT O 777 - 777 - 777 - -

TKL TOWN HALL ROOF O - - - - - - -

TKP 9/10 CALVERLEY TERRACE O 211 - 211 - - (211) (211) -

TKU FMS UPGRADE O - 47 47 20 47 - -

TKZ NORTH FARM LANE RESURFACING O 29 - 29 - 29 - -

TLC CIVICA UPGRADE O - 34 34 - 34 - -

TLL TOWN HALL WINDOWS O - 162 162 - 162 - -

TLN TOWN HALL CONVERSION O 2,000 358 2,358 8 2,358 - -

Finance and Performance Total 5,597 660 6,258 38 6,046 (211) (211) - -

Economic Development

TGH PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS O - 21 21 - 21 - -

TGX CAR PARKS PAYMENT SYSTEM O - 6 6 - 6 - -

THP THE AMELIA SCOTT O - 862 862 50 862 - -

THZ CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT O - - - - - - -

TIN WEST STATION COACH PARK O - 44 44 - 44 - -

TJE ASSEMBLY HALL MEANS OF ESCAPE O 192 (9) 183 - 183 - -

TJI POWER SUPPLY ICE RINK O 176 - 176 - 176 - -

TJW RVP CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT O 730 100 830 - 830 - -

TJX CAR PARKS CCTV O 80 - 80 - 80 - -

TKN GREAT HALL CAR PARK O 800 50 850 - 50 (800) (800) -

TKO ASSEMBLY HALL THEATRE ROOF O - - - - - - -

TKW GREAT HALL CAR PARK VENTILATION O 35 - 35 - - (35) (35) -

TLA WARWICK ROAD CAR PARK O - 155 155 - 155 - -

TLI ASSEMBLY HALL LED LIGHTING O - 88 88 - 88 - -

TLM ASSEMBLY HALL THEATRE WINDOWS O - 26 26 - 26 - -

TLO UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND O 35 15 50 3 50 - -

TLQ CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK CLADDING O 455 - 455 - 455 - -

TLR CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK SWITCHGEAR O 35 - 35 - 35 - -

Economic Development Total 2,538 1,358 3,896 53 3,061 (835) (835) - -

P
age 112

A
ppendix B



Appendix B: CAPITAL MONITORING -  Gross capital budgets and payments for 2023/24

Open/ FY Original Amendments  FY Revised Actual Forecast Difference Re-scheduled New Schemes Over/Under

Code Scheme Closed Budget to budget Budget To/From Budget

2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sports, Leisure and Health

TJN CALVERLEY GROUNDS TENNIS & GYM O 23 - 23 - 23 - -

TJR ACQUISITION SITES SPORTS STRATEGY O 1,083 - 1,083 - 1,083 - -

TKH BAYHAM CHANGING FACILITIES O - 75 75 - 75 - -

TKJ BAYHAM DRAINAGE O - 35 35 - 35 - -

TKR DUNORLAN PARK PLAY AREA O - 20 20 - 20 - -

TKT SOUTHWOOD ROAD FIELD DRAINAGE O 17 - 17 - 17 - -

TLK WEALD LEISURE CENTRE DECARBONISATION O - 478 478 9 808 330 330

TLT BAYHAM REFRESHMENT HUT O - 30 30 - 30 - -

Sports, Leisure and Health Total 1,123 638 1,761 9 2,091 330 - - 330

Environmental Services

TLJ NORTH FARM DEPOT DECARBONISATION O - 161 161 49 161 - -

TLP CREMATORIUM WELFARE FACILITY O 23 - 23 - 23 - -

Environmental Total 23 161 184 49 184 - - - -

Housing and Planning 

TAC DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS O 2,952 242 3,194 154 1,200 (1,994) (1,994) -

TAD HOUSING RENEWAL ADVANCES O 157 25 182 2 182 - -

THS AFFORDABLE HOUSING GRANT O - - - - - - -

TKD CINDERHILL SEWERAGE SYSTEM O 32 - 32 - 32 - -

TKV CINDERHILL WATER METERS O 20 - 20 - 20 - -

TLS CINDERHILL ADDITIONAL PLOT & AMENITY BUILDINGS O - 625 625 322 625 - -

TLU LOCAL AUTHORITY HOUSING FUND O - 5,465 5,465 - 5,465 - -

Housing and Planning Total 3,161 6,358 9,519 479 7,525 (1,994) (1,994) - -

Carbon Reduction and Sustainability

TDD STREET LIGHTING COLUMNS O 151 12 163 - - (163) (163) -

Carbon Reduction and Sustainability Total 151 12 163 - - (163) (163) - -

Total Projects 12,594 9,361 21,956 628 19,082 (2,874) (3,204) - 330

P
age 113

A
ppendix B



Appendix C: CAPITAL MONITORING -  Net capital budgets and payments for 2023/24

Open/ FY Original Amendments  FY Revised Actual Forecast Difference  Re-scheduled New Schemes Over/Under

Code Scheme Closed Budget to budget Budget To/From Budget

2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Communities

TLF CAMDEN CENTRE ROOF O - 174 174 - 174 - - - -

Communities Total - 174 174 - 174 - - - -

Finance and Performance

TDI ASSET ACQUISITION FUND O 2,500 - 2,500 - 2,500 - - - -

THF CARD PAYMENT SOFTWARE O - 7 7 - 7 - - - -

TIF IT STRATEGY O 80 52 132 10 132 - - - -

TJH BENHALL MILL DEPOT O 777 - 777 - 777 - - - -

TKL TOWN HALL ROOF O - - - - - - - - -

TKP 9/10 CALVERLEY TERRACE O - - - - - - - - -

TKU FMS UPGRADE O - 47 47 20 47 - - - -

TKZ NORTH FARM LANE RESURFACING O 29 - 29 - 29 - - - -

TLC CIVICA UPGRADE O - 34 34 - 34 - - - -

TLL TOWN HALL WINDOWS O - 162 162 - 162 - - - -

TLN TOWN HALL CONVERSION O 2,000 358 2,358 8 2,358 - - - -

Finance and Performance Total 5,386 660 6,046 38 6,046 - - - -

Economic Development

TGH PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS O - 21 21 - 21 - - - -

TGX CAR PARKS PAYMENT SYSTEM O - 6 6 - 6 - - - -

THP THE AMELIA SCOTT O - 862 862 50 862 - - - -

THZ CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT O - - - - - - - - -

TIN WEST STATION COACH PARK O - 44 44 - 44 - - - -

TJE ASSEMBLY HALL MEANS OF ESCAPE O 192 (9) 183 - 183 - - - -

TJI POWER SUPPLY ICE RINK O 176 - 176 - 176 - - - -

TJW RVP CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT O 730 100 830 - 830 - - - -

TJX CAR PARKS CCTV O 80 - 80 - 80 - - - -

TKN GREAT HALL CAR PARK O - - - - - - - - -

TKO ASSEMBLY HALL THEATRE ROOF O - - - - - - - - -

TKW GREAT HALL CAR PARK VENTILATION O 35 - 35 - - (35) (35) - -

TLA WARWICK ROAD CAR PARK O - 155 155 - 155 - - - -

TLI ASSEMBLY HALL LED LIGHTING O - 88 88 - 88 - - - -

TLM ASSEMBLY HALL THEATRE WINDOWS O - 26 26 - 26 - - - -

TLO UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND O - - - - - - - - -

TLQ CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK CLADDING O 455 - 455 - 455 - - - -

TLR CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK SWITCHGEAR O 35 - 35 - 35 - - - -

Economic Development Total 1,703 1,293 2,996 50 2,961 (35) (35) - -

P
age 114

A
ppendix C



Appendix C: CAPITAL MONITORING -  Net capital budgets and payments for 2023/24

Open/ FY Original Amendments  FY Revised Actual Forecast Difference  Re-scheduled New Schemes Over/Under

Code Scheme Closed Budget to budget Budget To/From Budget

2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sports, Leisure and Health

TJN CALVERLEY GROUNDS TENNIS & GYM O - - - - - - - - -

TJR ACQUISITION SITES SPORTS STRATEGY O 328 - 328 - 328 - - - -

TKH BAYHAM CHANGING FACILITIES O - - - - - - - - -

TKJ BAYHAM DRAINAGE O - - - - - - - - -

TKR DUNORLAN PARK PLAY AREA O - 1 1 - 1 - - - -

TLK WEALD LEISURE CENTRE DECARBONISATION O - 202 202 - 421 220 - - 220

TKT SOUTHWOOD ROAD FIELD DRAINAGE O 7 - 7 - 7 - - - -

TLT BAYHAM REFRESHMENT HUT O - - - - - - - - -

Sports, Leisure and Health Total 334 203 537 - 757 220 - - 220

Environmental Services

TLJ NORTH FARM DEPOT DECARBONISATION O - 97 97 - 97 - - - -

TLP CREMATORIUM WELFARE FACILITY O 23 - 23 - 23 - - - -

Environmental Total 23 97 120 - 120 - - - -

Housing and Planning 

TAC DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS O - - - - - - - - -

TAD HOUSING RENEWAL ADVANCES O 105 25 130 - 130 - - - -

THS AFFORDABLE HOUSING GRANT O - - - - - - - - -

TKD CINDERHILL SEWERAGE SYSTEM O 32 - 32 - 32 - - - -

TKV CINDERHILL WATER METERS O 20 - 20 - 20 - - - -

TLS CINDERHILL ADDITIONAL PLOT & AMENITY BUILDINGS O - 625 625 322 625 - - - -

TLU LOCAL AUTHORITY HOUSING FUND O - - - - - - - - -

Housing and Planning Total 157 650 807 322 807 - - - -

Carbon Reduction and Sustainability

TDD STREET LIGHTING COLUMNS O 151 12 163 - - (163) (163) - -

Carbon Reduction and Sustainability Total 151 12 163 - - (163) (163) - -

Total Projects 7,755 3,090 10,844 410 10,865 21 (198) - 220

P
age 115

A
ppendix C



Appendix D

Original

Approved Approved Approved Approved Proposed Proposed Projected

Adjustmts

Movements 

between Yrs Outturn

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q1 Q4

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

All years

2023/24 12,594 9,361 - - - 330 (3,204) 19,082

2024/25 3,110 - - - - - 3,204 6,314

2025/26 1,280 - - - - - - 1,280

2026/27 - - - - - 1,280 - 1,280

Gross Expenditure 16,984 9,361 - - - 1,610 - 27,956

Government Grants 5,682 2,847 - - - 1,361 - 9,890

Section 106 contributions 789 3,359 - - - - - 4,148

Other external Contributions 52 16 - - - - - 68

External and Internal Borrowing 1,011 50 - - - - - 1,061

Sale of Fixed Assets - - - - - - - -

Usable Capital Receipts Reserve - - - - - 31 - 31

RVP Car Park Maintenance Reserve 666 - - - - - - 666

On Street Parking Reserve 144 100 - - - - - 244

Invest to Save Reserve 52 94 - - - - - 146

Housing Renewal Reserve 165 25 - - - 30 - 220

Ice Rink Reserve 176 - - - - - - 176

Capital and Rev Initiatives Reserve 8,247 2,870 - - - 189 - 11,306

Total Funding 16,984 9,361 - - - 1,610 - 27,956

Summary of Expenditure and funding for the 4 years programme to 2026/27

Extra Items

P
age 116

A
ppendix D



Appendix D

Original Year End

Approved Approved Approved Approved Proposed Proposed Projected

Adjustmts

Movements 

between Yrs Outturn

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q1 Q4

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross expenditure 12,594 9,361 - - - 330 (3,204) 19,082

Government Grants 2,987 2,847 - - - 111 (1,978) 3,967

Section 106 contributions 789 3,359 - - - - - 4,148

Other external Contributions 52 16 - - - - (16) 52

External and Internal Borrowing 1,011 50 - - - - (1,011) 50

Sale of Fixed Assets - - - - - - - -

Usable Capital Receipts Reserve - - - - - 31 - 31

RVP Car Park Maintenance Reserve 666 - - - - - - 666

On Street Parking Reserve 144 100 - - - - - 244

Invest to Save Reserve 52 94 - - - - - 146

Housing Renewal Reserve 105 25 - - - - - 130

Ice Rink Reserve 176 - - - - - - 176

Capital and Rev Initiatives Reserve 6,612 2,870 - - - 189 (198) 9,472

Total Funding 12,594 9,361 - - - 330 (3,204) 19,082

Summary of Expenditure and funding for 2023/24

Extra Items

P
age 117

A
ppendix D



Housing Renewal Grants - summary of loans issued and repaid

2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18

Advances made during the year - 33,508.76 4,000.00 2,635.20 61,853.71 45,050.44 9,591.35

Energy Efficiency Advances 1,897.00 4,793.39 20,658.87 14,385.81 7,843.94

Repayment of loans received (8,016.32) (76,594.21) (33,485.18) (54,489.92) (15,267.32) (70,502.21) (95,445.95)

Other contributions (6,700.00) 100,000.00 100,000.00

Energy Efficiency Funding (1,897.00) (4,793.39) (20,658.87) (14,385.81) (107,843.94)

Transferred to/(from) the reserve 8,016.32 43,085.45 29,485.18 58,554.72 (46,586.39) 25,451.77 (14,145.40)

Net position - - - - -

Housing Renewal Grants (334,457.35) (326,441.03) (283,355.58) (253,870.40) (195,315.68) (241,902.07) (216,450.30)

Appendix E: Quarter 1 - Capital Management to 30 June 2023

P
age 118

A
ppendix E



Appendix F: Section 106 contributions as at 31 March 2024

Quarter 1 - Capital Management to 30 June 2023

S106 as at 30 June 2023

Allocated to schemes in capital programme: £000's £000's

Calverley Tennis Court scheme 23

Acquisition Sites Sports Strategy 755

Bayham Drainage 35

Bayham Changing Facilities 75

Bayham Refreshment 30

Dunorlan Play Park   19

Local Authority Housing Fund 3,200

Southwood Road Drainage 11 4,148

Reserved for purposes set out in Section 106 agreements:

Youth and Adult recreation 2,994

Childrens Playspace 353

Cycleways/Highways & Transport 911

Car Parking 85

Air Quality & Renewable Energy 76

Landscape and Biodiversity 96

Public Art 148

Affordable Housing 1,883

Health 282 6,828

Total Section 106 contributions in hand as at 30 June 2023 10,976

These contributions expire in the following years:

2019/20 47

2023/24 159

2024/25 81

2025/26 753

2026/27 706

2027/28 1,873

2028/29 738

2029/30 1,941

2030/31 104

2031/32 1,302

2032/33 967

2033/34 521

2036/37 0

2037/38 15

2038/39 46

N/A 1,722

Contributions without expiry dates 1,722

Total Section 106 contributions in hand as at 30 June 2023 10,976

Page 119

Appendix F



 

Page  

1 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 

30 June 2023)  

For Cabinet on 21 September 2023 

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall (Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Performance) 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development 

Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Report Author: Clare Hazard, Accountancy Manager 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21 August 2023 

Cabinet Member 21 August 2023 

Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory 
Board 

5 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Cabinet Member: 

1. That Cabinet note the Quarter 1 net expenditure on services year to date was 

£2,666,000, £1,098,000 less than budget. 

2. That Cabinet note that by year end the Council anticipates net expenditure of 

£15,837,000 on services. This forecast is £1,001,000 under budget. 

3. That Cabinet note that by year end the Council anticipates receiving an increase 

in funding of £1,248,000, due to additional investment interest. Overall, this 

means an improvement to budget of £2,249,000. The Council will transfer 

Page 120

Agenda Item 13



 

Page  

2 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

£1,832,000 of this to earmarked reserves and £417,000 will reduce the budget 

deficit that was to be met from reserves. 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report shows the actual expenditure on services compared to the revised 

budget for the period ended 30 June 2023, and the forecast outturn position, 

highlighting significant variances from the revised annual budget. 

1.2 The net expenditure on services for the year is forecast to be £15,837,000 which 

is an underspend against budget of £1,001,000. 

1.3 The funding income the Council expects to receive has increased by £1,248,000, 

due to an increase in the investment interest forecast, which means an overall 

improvement to budget of £2,249,000. 

2. Revenue Management to 30 June 2023 

Summary Outturn – Appendix A 

2.1 Appendix A shows the overall income and expenditure on services forecast 

outturn position as at 30 June 2023. Total income and expenditure on services 

can be seen in greater detail within Appendix B, which provides information per 

service area. The approved budget was set by Full Council on 1 March 2023 and 

does not change. The revised budget is used to record virements amongst 

service areas and from reserves, whilst the forecast outturn is used to record the 

reporting of savings, overspends and allocations from reserves. 

2.2 The forecast outturn for expenditure on services is £15,837,000, which is 

£1,001,000 under budget. The various movements to forecast can be seen in 

Appendix C. It can also be seen that the funding for the year has increased by 

£1,248,000 which is from additional investment interest. 

2.3 Investment interest and income is forecast to be £1,248,000 over budget, which 

is due to an increase in interest rates and more funds being available for 

investment. The base rate has increased from 3.50%, when the budget was set, 

to 4.25% at the start of the year, and is now 5.25% following an increase in 

August 2023. The Council’s investment in the Property Fund has generated a net 

return of 5.30% to the end of Quarter 1. 

Usable Reserves – Appendix D 

2.4 Appendix D shows all usable reserves including the earmarked reserves. Usable 

reserves are those that the Council can use to provide services, subject to the 

Page 121

Agenda Item 13



 

Page  

3 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

need to maintain an overall prudent level of reserves. Earmarked reserves are 

amounts set aside to meet identified, and sometimes committed, future liabilities. 

2.5 As shown in Appendix D the Council had £28,798,000 of usable reserves as at 1 

April 2023, including £19,863,000 of earmarked reserves. It should be noted that 

the Grant Volatility Reserve holds £1,301,000 which will be used to fund the 

Council’s share of the deficit currently held on the Collection Fund in this financial 

year. It is committed and not available to spend despite being held in a usable 

reserve. 

2.6 The Capital and Revenue Initiatives Reserve is generally used to finance the 

capital programme, where it is financed from TWBC resources, the property 

development programme and revenue expenditure for the Amelia Scott project. 

The funding currently required from the reserve in 2023/24 is £9,473,000 which 

is for capital projects. 

2.7 The capital programme is also funded from other specific earmarked reserves, 

and totals £1,362,000 for 2023/24. This comprises of £666,000 from the RVP car 

park maintenance reserve, £244,000 from the On Street Parking reserve, 

£176,000 from the Ice Rink reserve, £146,000 from the Invest to Save reserve 

and £130,000 from the Housing Renewal reserve. 

2.8 The additional investment interest forecast to be received, as described in Note 

2.2, is to be transferred to the Capital and Revenue Initiatives Reserve, to fund 

the capital programme. The Council is returning to its policy of any interest 

achieved that is surplus to budget, is transferred to reserves. This has not been 

possible for the last two years, when the Council has been facing the challenges 

presented by the pandemic and needed the interest to balance the budget. 

However, this policy protects the Council from building in short term interest 

windfalls into its base and must be reinstated as we return to business as usual. 

2.9 The additional income received from Public Realm 2 enforcement, as described 

in Note 2.15, is to be transferred to the On Street Parking reserve. The Council 

have an Agreement with Kent County Council, Kent’s Highways Authority, to 

provide their enforcement services until 31 March 2024, whereupon they will take 

back responsibility. This net income can only be used for certain transport related 

schemes and cannot be used for revenue purposes, hence it being transferred to 

a reserve before being allocated for a compliant purpose.  

2.10 When the 2023/24 budget was set there was a deficit of £943,000 to be funded 

from reserves. The forecast has now reduced by £417,000 to £526,000 due to 

the improvement in forecast against budget. It is assumed at present that it will 

be funded from the Grant Volatility Reserve, although the allocation between 

specific reserves may change once the actual position is known at year end. 

Page 122

Agenda Item 13



 

Page  

4 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

Financial Performance of Major Expenditure Accounts – 

Appendix E 

2.11 Business rates are forecast to be £116,000 under budget this year. £70,000 of 

this relates to a decrease compared to budget for The Amelia Scott. When the 

budget was set the rateable value of the building had not yet been assessed and 

when it was confirmed it was lower than expected. The remaining £46,000 

relates to a number of properties that have received transitional relief. The relief 

reduces the rates that are due and is based on the new ratings list that came into 

effect on 1 April 2023.  

2.12 Other Supplies and Services are forecast to be £80,000 overspent. £40,000 is 

additional wheelie bin costs, £30,000 is equipment costs for CCTV which had 

been omitted when the budget was set and £10,000 is increased costs for bar 

supplies at the theatre. 

2.13 IT & Communications costs are forecast to be £40,000 overspent, due to 

increased postage costs, of which £25,000 is for Parking, related to the new 

Public Realm 2 enforcement and £15,000 is for Elections. 

Employee Related Costs – Appendix F and G 

2.14 Staffing costs are forecast to be £337,000 under budget with £85,000 of this 

meeting the first quarter’s contribution to the vacancy factor. The vacancy factor 

is an amount which at the start of the year is already assumed will be saved 

whilst budgeted posts are vacant. 

2.15 The main projected changes for staffing are a saving of £125,000 for Planning 

Services, £80,000 for Environmental Health, £52,000 for Property, £45,000 for 

The Amelia, £41,000 for the Assembly Hall Theatre, £32,000 for Housing and 

£25,000 for Finance and Procurement. 

Income Streams– Appendix H 

2.16 Off Street Parking income is forecast to be £300,000 overachieved for the year. 

This is due to an increase in visitor numbers to the car parks, mainly in 

Torrington and Crescent Road car parks. On Street Parking income is forecast to 

be £584,000 overachieved which is due to the implementation of Public Realm 2 

enforcement services. 

2.17 Planning income is forecast to be £125,000 underachieved of which £100,000 is 

from planning applications and £25,000 is from planning performance 

agreements. The reduction in planning application income is due to a decrease 

in the number of applications being received and no larger applications in 

Quarter 1. The performance fee is a top up of the standard fee and is mainly paid 

by larger developers for advice throughout the planning cycle. As applications 

Page 123

Agenda Item 13



 

Page  

5 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

are lower than budgeted, it is forecast that income from this service will also be 

less. 

Variances by Cabinet Member– Appendix I 

2.18 The table in Appendix I shows variances by Cabinet Member.  

Council Tax and Business Rates 

2.19 The Council is a billing authority for Council Tax, which is collected on behalf of 

precepting bodies including Kent County Council, Kent Police and the Kent and 

Medway Fire & Rescue Services along with Town and Parish Councils. The total 

due for 2023/24 is £101 million of which £9.459 million is due to this Council. 

2.20 The Council is also the billing authority for Business Rates which are collected on 

behalf of the Government, TWBC, Kent County Council and the Kent and 

Medway Fire & Rescue Services. The total due for 2023/24 is in the region of 

£52 million with the Council receiving back from government £2.464 million in 

redistributed business rates. 

2.21 The table below shows the Quarter 1 recovery rate for Council Tax to be 1.11% 

above target and 0.04% above the collection rate last year. The table shows the 

Quarter 1 recovery rate for business rates to be 2.37% above target and 1.55% 

above the collection rate last year.  

Revenue Billing Stream 

2023/24 

Collection as at 

30 Jun 23 

2023/24 

Target as at  

30 Jun 23 

2022/23 

Collection as at 

30 Jun 22 

Council Tax 28.99% 27.88% 28.95% 

Business Rates 32.37% 30.00% 30.82% 

 

3. Options Considered 

3.1 This report is essentially for information.  

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

4.1 That Members acknowledge the forecast outturn position for the year and the 

variances to the revised budget and forecast outturn as at Quarter 1. 

4.2 That it is noted that the expected withdrawal from reserves of £943,000, to 

balance the 2023/24 budget, has reduced by £417,000 to £526,000.  

Page 124

Agenda Item 13



 

Page  

6 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 The budget was approved by Full Council on 1 March 2023. Finance Officers 

have liaised with Heads of Service and where appropriate cost centre managers, 

to ensure that the information provided is robust. 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

5.2 The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 5 

September 2023 and agreed the following: 

 Insert text from Cabinet Advisory Board minute, or request text 

from Democratic Services Officer. 

6. Implementation 

6.1 The decision will be published on the Council’s website. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Overall Income and Expenditure in Services 

• Appendix B: Net Expenditure on Services 

• Appendix C: Key Variances 

• Appendix D: Usable Reserves 

• Appendix E: Financial Performance of Major Expenditure Accounts 

• Appendix F: Employee Related Costs  

• Appendix G: Headcount by Service 

• Appendix H: Income Streams 

• Appendix I: Variance by Cabinet Member 

Background Papers: 

• Budget 2023/24 and Medium-Term Financial Strategy – CAB113/22 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65146/Budget%20FC%202023_2

4%20-%20with%20CT%20premiums.pdf   

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 13

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65146/Budget%20FC%202023_24%20-%20with%20CT%20premiums.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65146/Budget%20FC%202023_24%20-%20with%20CT%20premiums.pdf


 

Page  

7 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Under section 151 of the local government act (LGA 1972), the Section 151 Officer has 

statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority, 

including advising on the corporate financial position and providing financial information.  

Claudette Valmond, Head of Legal Partnership 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The report updates on the Authority’s forecast outturn net revenue position compared to 

revised budget. The strain on the council’s finances will be felt for some time and the ability 

of the council to finance new commitments is severely limited. 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

C. Staffing 

The report monitors the establishment to the post occupied. 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

D. Risk Management 

To ensure that the unaudited outturn net revenue remains within the Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Strategy.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over 

the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Page 126

Agenda Item 13



 

Page  

8 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2023) 

 

F. Community Safety 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over 

the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

G. Equalities 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over 

the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

H. Data Protection 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over 

the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

I. Health and Safety 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over 

the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over 

the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 13



Appendix A - Overall Revenue and Net Expenditure on Services

Financial Year 2023/24

Forecast to 

30/06/23

Actuals to 

30/06/23

Variance to 

30/06/23

Full Year 

Revised Budget

Full Year 

Forecast Outturn

Full Year 

Variance to 

Revised Budget

Increase/ as at Q1 Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES-ORIGINAL BUDGET 16,796 16,796 0

Forecast Outturn Increase funded from Reserves 42 42 0

NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES-QTR 1 16,838 16,838 0

Comprised of:  

Chief Executive 49 51 2 199 199 0

D Of Finance, Policy & Development 42 45 3 158 158 0

Finance, Procurement & Parking 294 (593) (887) (734) (1,651) (917)

Mid Kent Services Client 887 922 35 2,221 2,221 0

Economic Development & Property (154) (186) (32) 440 388 (52)

Planning 317 290 (27) 1,241 1,241 0

Policy & Governance 528 565 37 1,577 1,607 30

D Of Change & Communities 36 36 0 146 146 0

HR, Cust Service & Culture 787 579 (208) 2,652 2,496 (156)

Housing, Health & Environment 338 252 (86) 6,723 6,701 (22)

Facilities & Community Hubs 500 503 3 1,621 1,672 51

Digital Services & Communications 225 202 (23) 934 914 (20)

Vacancy Factor (85) 0 85 (340) (255) 85

Total Cost of Services 3,764 2,666 (1,098) 16,838 15,837 (1,001)

Funded by:

Net Interest & Investment Income (1,541) (2,789) (1,248)

Parish Precepts & Levies 3,367 3,367 0

Central Government & Other Grants (2,419) (2,419) 0

Business Rates (2,464) (2,464) 0

Council Tax Precepts (13,073) (13,073) 0

Capital Expenditure from Revenue 10,835 10,835 0

Minimum Revenue Provision 277 277 0

Transfer to & From Earmarked Reserves (10,877) (9,045) 1,832

Transfer From Earmarked Reserves (to balance budget) (943) (526) 417

TOTAL FUNDING (16,838) (15,837) 1,001

(SURPLUS)/DEFICIT 0 0 0

Page 128

Appendix A



Net Direct Expenditure on Services Appendix B

HEAD OF SERVICE Revised YTD 

Budget £

Actual  £ Revised YTD 

Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised 

Budget £

Full Year Budget 

Projection £

Variance Full Yr 

Bud £

Direct Expenditure 49,480 51,361 1,881 199,360 199,360 0

Direct Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 49,480 51,361 1,881 199,360 199,360 0

Director Total: 49,480 51,361 1,881 199,360 199,360 0

Finance, Policy & Development

HEAD OF SERVICE Revised YTD 

Budget £

Actual  £ Revised YTD 

Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised 

Budget £

Full Year Budget 

Projection £

Variance Full Yr 

Bud £

Direct Expenditure 41,440 45,048 3,608 157,730 157,730 0

Direct Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

D OF FINANCE, POLICY & DEVELOP 41,440 45,048 3,608 157,730 157,730 0

Direct Expenditure 1,986,910 1,909,222 (77,688) 6,102,870 6,069,870 (33,000)

Direct Income (1,777,500) (2,502,342) (724,842) (6,837,160) (7,721,160) (884,000)

FINANCE, PROCUREMENT & PARKING 209,410 (593,120) (802,530) (734,290) (1,651,290) (917,000)

Direct Expenditure 7,143,500 7,170,050 26,550 27,307,820 27,307,820 0

Direct Income (6,256,660) (6,247,663) 8,997 (25,087,290) (25,087,290) 0

MID KENT CLIENT SERVICES 886,840 922,387 35,547 2,220,530 2,220,530 0

Direct Expenditure 429,970 413,733 (16,237) 1,882,760 1,830,760 (52,000)

Direct Income (583,950) (600,431) (16,481) (1,442,280) (1,442,280) 0

ECONOMIC DEV & PROPERTY (153,980) (186,698) (32,718) 440,480 388,480 (52,000)

Direct Expenditure 716,400 583,701 (132,699) 2,967,980 2,842,980 (125,000)

Direct Income (399,500) (293,683) 105,817 (1,726,490) (1,601,490) 125,000

PLANNING 316,900 290,018 (26,882) 1,241,490 1,241,490 0

Direct Expenditure 533,760 571,487 37,727 1,584,620 1,614,620 30,000

Direct Income (5,560) (6,596) (1,036) (7,250) (7,250) 0

POLICY & GOVERNANCE 528,200 564,891 36,691 1,577,370 1,607,370 30,000

Director Total: 1,828,810 1,042,526 (786,285) 4,903,310 3,964,310 (939,000)

HEAD OF SERVICE Revised YTD 

Budget £

Actual  £ Revised YTD 

Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised 

Budget £

Full Year Budget 

Projection £

Variance Full Yr 

Bud £

Direct Expenditure 36,200 35,954 (246) 145,710 145,710 0

Direct Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

D OF CHANGE & COMMUNITIES 36,200 35,954 (246) 145,710 145,710 0

Direct Expenditure 1,498,260 1,537,345 39,085 6,118,720 5,972,720 (146,000)

Direct Income (711,740) (958,826) (247,086) (3,466,440) (3,476,440) (10,000)

HR, CUSTOMER SERVICE & CULTURE 786,520 578,519 (208,001) 2,652,280 2,496,280 (156,000)

Direct Expenditure 2,457,290 2,350,071 (107,219) 14,514,410 14,412,410 (102,000)

Direct Income (2,119,520) (2,098,556) 20,964 (7,791,730) (7,711,730) 80,000

HOUSING, HEALTH & ENVIRONMENT 337,770 251,515 (86,255) 6,722,680 6,700,680 (22,000)

Direct Expenditure 549,075 576,675 27,600 1,926,730 1,977,730 51,000

Direct Income (48,740) (73,337) (24,597) (305,520) (305,520) 0

FACILITIES & COMMUNITY HUBS 500,335 503,338 3,003 1,621,210 1,672,210 51,000

Direct Expenditure 280,900 225,593 (55,307) 1,130,280 1,110,280 (20,000)

Direct Income (55,690) (23,020) 32,670 (196,370) (196,370) 0

DIGITAL SERVICES & COMMUNICATIONS 225,210 202,572 (22,638) 933,910 913,910 (20,000)

Director Total: 1,886,035 1,571,898 (314,137) 12,075,790 11,928,790 (147,000)

HEAD OF SERVICE Revised YTD 

Budget £

Actual  £ Revised YTD 

Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised 

Budget £

Full Year Budget 

Projection £

Variance Full Yr 

Bud £

Direct Expenditure 0 0 0 (340,000) (255,000) 85,000

Direct Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

VACANCY FACTOR 0 0 0 (340,000) (255,000) 85,000

Director Total: 0 0 0 (340,000) (255,000) 85,000

Grand Total: 3,764,325 2,665,785 (1,098,540) 16,838,460 15,837,460 (1,001,000)

Note: There may be small rounding differences compared to the Core Paper.

Chief Executive

Change & Communities

Vacancy Factor

Page 129

Appendix B



Key Variances

Quarter 1

£000’s

Quarter 1 – Reported Saving/Increase in income (Services)

Additional income - On Street Parking from Public Realm 2 enforcement (584)

Additional income - Off Street Parking income (300)

Saving in staff costs - Planning (125)

Reduction in costs - Business rates (116)

Saving in staff costs - Environmental Health (80)

Saving in staff costs - Property (52)

Saving in staff costs - The Amelia (45)

Saving in staff costs - Assembly Hall Theatre (41)

Additional income - Assembly Hall Theatre bar income (35)

Saving in staff costs - Housing (32)

Saving in staff costs - Finance and Procurement (25)

Saving in staff costs - Digital Services (20)

Saving in staff costs - Parking (17)

(1,472)

Quarter 1 – Reported Overspend/ Decline in income (Services)

Reduction in income - Planning income 125

Vacancy factor - Quarter 1 85

Additional costs - Waste bin purchases 40

Reduction in income - Environmental Health recharges 40

Reduction in income - Garden Waste collection income 40

Additional costs - CCTV equipment costs 30

Additional costs - Postage costs for Public Realm 2 enforcement 25

Reduction in income - Amelia income 25

Additional costs - Rent costs at TN2 21

Additional staff costs - Elections 15

Additional costs - Postage costs for elections 15

Additional costs - Assembly Hall Theatre bar costs 10

471

Quarter 1 – Reported Saving/Increase in income (Funding)

Additional income - Investment interest (1,248)

(1,248)

Quarter 1 – Reported Transfer to Reserves

Transfer to Reserves - On Street Parking income 584

Transfer to Reserves - Additional investment interest 1,248

1,832

Net Deficit/(Surplus) for Quarter 1 (417)

Page 130

Appendix C



Balance Balance

01/04/23 31/03/24

£000's £000's £000's £000's

General Fund 4,354 0 0 4,354

Capital Grants & Contributions 3,550 0 0 3,550

Capital Receipts 1,031 0 (31) 1,000

Earmarked Reserves

Capital and Revenue Initiatives 9,072 1,248 (9,473) 847

On Street Parking 1,064 584 (244) 1,404

Local Plan 1,046 0 (16) 1,030

Royal Victoria Place Car Park Maintenance 2,012 0 (666) 1,346

Government Grants 1,022 0 (26) 996

Invest to Save 146 0 (146) 0

Cultural 307 0 0 307

Housing Renewal 326 0 (130) 196

Insurance 100 0 0 100

Grant Volatility 1,721 0 0 1,721

Grant Volatility (to be used for the Collection Fund) 1,301 0 0 1,301

Grant Volatility (to be used for the Revenue Deficit) 943 0 (526) 417

Ice Rink 219 0 (176) 43

Traveller Protocol 13 0 0 13

Land Charges Transition after loss of income 60 0 0 60

Rent Advance and Deposit 511 0 0 511

Earmarked Reserves 19,863 1,832 (11,403) 10,292

TOTAL USABLE RESERVES 28,798 1,832 (11,434) 19,196

Committed to Capital/Revenue Projects 2024/25 onwards (9,299)

TOTAL RESERVES 2027/28 9,897

Outstanding Financing/Internal Borrowing (projects not yet financed) (4,840)

TOTAL RESERVES 5,057

Usable Reserves Receipts Payments

Page 131

Appendix D



Financial Performance of Major Expenditure Accounts

Forecast to 

30/06/23

Actuals to 

30/06/23

Variance to 

30/06/23

Full Year 

Revised Budget

Full Year 

Forecast 

Outturn

Full Year Variance 

to Revised Budget

Increase/ as at Q1 Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Building Maintenance/Repairs 131 117 (14) 1,469 1,469 0

Grounds Maintenance 305 282 (23) 1,629 1,629 0

Business Rates/Council Tax 1,690 1,574 (116) 1,692 1,576 (116)

Utility Bills 208 221 13 1,324 1,324 0

Other Premises Costs 423 381 (42) 1,851 1,872 21

Transport 28 21 (7) 152 152 0

External Contract Payments 89 88 (1) 5,376 5,376 0

IT & Communications 568 667 99 1,318 1,358 40

Grants 82 101 19 294 294 0

Consultants/Legal Fees 115 145 30 750 750 0

Other Fees 323 484 161 1,329 1,329 0

Members Allowances 102 95 (7) 408 408 0

Other Supplies & Services 597 671 74 2,179 2,259 80

Net Benefits Income 751 752 1 180 180 0

TOTAL 5,412 5,599 187 19,951 19,976 25

Page 132

Appendix E



Employee Related Costs

Forecast to 

30/06/23

Actuals to 

30/06/23

Variance to 

30/06/23

Full Year 

Revised Budget

Full Year 

Forecast Outturn

Full Year Variance to 

Revised Budget

Increase/ as at Q1 Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Salaries & Casual Hours 3,118 2,681 (437) 12,586 12,248 (338)

National Insurance 322 270 (52) 1,280 1,245 (35)

Pension Costs 713 623 (90) 3,066 3,002 (64)

Severance Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0

Training 36 26 (10) 208 208 0

Other Employee Costs 206 269 63 2,932 2,947 15

Vacancy Factor (85) 0 85 (340) (255) 85

TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS 4,310 3,869 (441) 19,732 19,395 (337)

265

270

275

280

285

290

295

Q1 Q2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Q1 Q2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Q1 Q2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Q1 Q2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Q1 Q2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Staff Numbers on Payroll

Staff Numbers on Payroll

Page 133

Appendix F



Appendix G

Service

Budget FTE's

as at 

1 Apr 2023

FTE's in Post as 

at

30 Jun 2023

Chief Executive 1.00 1.00 - No variance

Chief Executive 1.00 1.00

Director of Finance, Policy & Dev 1.00 1.00 - No variance

Finance & Procurement 53.77 45.44 - Parking Administration Officer (0.14 FTE less)

- Civil Enforcement Officer (5.00 FTE less)

- Traffic Technician (2.00 FTE less)

- Payroll & Finance Manager (1.00 FTE less)

- Financial Systems Officer (0.19 FTE less)

Economic Dev & Property 17.00 14.00 - Estates Surveyor (1.00 FTE less)

- Project Surveyor (1.00 FTE less)

- Property Development Manager (1.00 FTE less)

Planning 51.53 38.28 - Technical Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Principal Planning Officer (2.25 FTE less)

- Planning Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Planning Compliance Officer (0.74 FTE less)

- Planning Investigations Officer (2.00 FTE less)

- Condition & S106 Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Senior Planning Officer (1.65 FTE less)

- Planning Environmental Officer (0.61 FTE less)

- GIS, Monitoring & Research Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Graduate Planning Assistant (1.00 FTE less)

- Building Control Administration Assistant (1.00 FTE less)

Policy & Governance 17.90 14.90 - Head of Policy & Governance (1.00 FTE less)

- Scrutiny and Engagement Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Electoral Service Manager (1.00 FTE less)

Finance, Policy & Development 141.20 113.62

Key Variances

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS IN POST AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

Page 134

Appendix G



Service

Budget FTE's

as at 

1 Apr 2023

FTE's in Post as 

at

30 Jun 2023

Key Variances

Director of Change & Comm 1.00 1.00 - No variance

HR, Customer Service & Culture 63.11 58.21 - Cultural Projects Manager (1.50 FTE less)

- Arts Development Manager (1.00 FTE more)

- Learning & Engagement Assistant (2.00 FTE less)

- Amelia Customer Experience Advisor (1.40 FTE less)

- Well-Being Projects Officer (0.50 FTE more)

- Theatre Technician (3.00 FTE less)

- Theatre Marketing Assistant (2.00 FTE less)

- House Manager (1.00 FTE less)

- Fund-Raising Manager (0.41 FTE more)

- Ukrainian Project Support posts (4.09 FTE more)

Housing, Health & Environment 93.56 82.34 - Housing Options Team Leader (1.00 FTE less)

- Housing Options Advisor (0.39 FTE less)

- Private Rented Sector Officer (0.28 FTE less)

- Tenancy Officer (0.65 FTE more)

- Housing Allocations & Triage Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Single Homeless Projects Team Leader (1.00 FTE more)

- Single Homeless Pathway Worker (1.00 FTE more)

- Rough Sleeper Co-ordinator (1.00 FTE less)

- Housing Renewal Officer (0.40 FTE less)

- Tenancy Support Officer (1.00 FTE more)

- Graduate Climate Change Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Environmental Protection Team Leader (1.00 FTE less)

- Licensing Administrative Assistant (0.57 FTE less)

- Senior Environmental Health Officer (5.93 FTE less)

- Food & Safety Officer (0.61 FTE less)

- Bereavement Services Officer (0.65 less)

- Senior Crematorium Technician (1.00 FTE less)

- Crematorium Technician (0.84 FTE less)

- Health & Well-Being Advisor (0.80 FTE more)

Facilities & Community Hubs 12.64 12.64 - No variance

Digital Services & Communications 19.22 14.81 - GIS Graduate (1.00 FTE less)

- Senior Marketing Officer (1.00 FTE less)

- Business Analyst (1.81 FTE less)

- Project Manager (0.60 less)

Change & Communities 189.53 169.00

Total 331.73 283.62

Variance (48.11)

Page 135

Appendix G



Income Streams

Forecast to 

30/06/23

Actuals to 

30/06/23

Variance to 

30/06/23

Full Year Revised 

Budget

Full Year Forecast 

Outturn

Full Year Variance 

to Revised Budget

Increase/ as at Q1 Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Off Street Parking (1,252) (1,406) (154) (4,964) (5,264) (300)

On Street Parking (426) (999) (573) (1,680) (2,264) (584)

Assembly Hall (565) (775) (210) (2,079) (2,114) (35)

Grants (816) (860) (44) (1,458) (1,458) 0

Rents (732) (781) (49) (2,093) (2,093) 0

Crematorium Income (458) (493) (35) (1,912) (1,912) 0

Revenue Contribution (402) (350) 52 (2,580) (2,540) 40

Planning Income (394) (288) 106 (1,701) (1,576) 125

Land Charges (77) (63) 14 (308) (308) 0

Waste Collection (350) (322) 28 (1,986) (1,946) 40

Other Income (486) (465) 21 (2,084) (2,059) 25

TOTAL INCOME (5,958) (6,802) (844) (22,845) (23,534) (689)

Page 136

Appendix H



Variances by Cabinet Member

Forecast to 

30/06/23

Actuals to 

30/06/23

Variance to 

30/06/23

Full Year Revised 

Budget

Full Year 

Forecast Outturn

Full Year 

Variance to 

Revised Budget

Increase/ as at Q1 Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Leader of the Council By Law 698 757 59 2,332 2,362 30

Leader of the Council By Choice 100 93 (7) 390 390 0

Communities By Choice 139 127 (12) 699 750 51

Finance and Performance By Law 1,485 1,460 (25) 5,012 4,982 (30)

Finance and Performance By Choice 216 152 (64) 1,534 1,467 (67)

Environmental Services By Law 48 71 23 3,784 3,824 40

Environmental Services By Choice 182 126 (56) 129 99 (30)

Economic Development By Law (78) (686) (608) (222) (798) (576)

Economic Development By Choice 693 224 (469) (374) (846) (472)

Sports, Leisure and Health By Choice 274 275 1 1,424 1,424 0

Housing and Planning By Law 30 (30) (60) 2,105 2,073 (32)

Housing and Planning By Choice 3 3 0 73 73 0

Carbon Reduction and Sustainability By Choice 59 94 35 292 292 0

Contingency By Choice (85) 0 85 (340) (255) 85

TOTAL 3,764 2,666 (1,098) 16,838 15,837 (1,001)

Page 137

Appendix I



 

Page  

1 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

Treasury and Prudential Indicator 

Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 

2023) 

For Cabinet on 21 September 2023 

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall (Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Performance) 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development 

Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Report Author: Clare Hazard, Accountancy Manager 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21 August 2023 

Cabinet Member 21 August 2023 

Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory 
Board 

5 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Cabinet Member: 

1. That Cabinet note the Treasury Management and Prudential Indicator position 

for 2023/24. 

2. That Cabinet note the forecast for investment and bank interest is £2,668,000, 

an increase of £1,248,000 from the approved budget of £1,420,000.  

  

Page 138

Agenda Item 14



 

Page  

2 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report monitors compliance with the Treasury Management Policy & 

Strategy 2023/24 for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 June 2023. 

1.2 The report updates Members on investments held by the Council and informs 

that interest from investments and bank interest for 2023/24 is forecast to be 

£2,668,000, an increase of £1,248,000, on the approved budget of £1,420,000. 

2. Treasury Management and Prudential 

Indicator Management 

2.1 Under its Financial Procedure Rules, the Council delegates responsibility for the 

implementation and monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices 

to Cabinet. 

2.2 This report monitors, for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 June 2023, compliance 

with the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2023/24 recommended by 

Cabinet at its meeting 9 February 2023 (CAB118/22) and approved by Full 

Council at its meeting of 23 February 2023 (FC31/22).  

Current Investments 

2.3 The 2023/24 approved limits on the amount of money and the time period the 

Council can invest with any given counterparty is shown in Appendix A. 

2.4 As at 30 June 2023 the Council had £64.3 million of investments and bank 

account money. The institution categories and the maturity profile of these are 

shown in Appendix B. 

Interest Rate Forecast 

2.5 The bank interest rate was cut to 0.10% in March 2020 when it became clear that 

the coronavirus pandemic would pose a huge threat to the economy. It remained 

unchanged until December 2021 when it was increased to 0.25%. At each 

subsequent meeting, the Bank of England has increased the rate, with the rate 

as at 30 June 2023 being 5.00%. There has been one further increase after 

quarter end, being an increase of 0.25% on 3 August 2023, to take the current 

rate from 5.00% to 5.25%. 

Page 139

Agenda Item 14



 

Page  

3 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

2.6 Link Asset Services, who are the Council’s treasury advisors, regularly review 

interest rates and produce a forecast of the rate over future years. They currently 

forecast that the rate will peak at 5.50% by the end of September 2023. They 

forecast that at the start of 2024 the rate will start to fall slowly, back to 5.25% by 

March 2024 and to 3.25% by March 2025. They expect the Bank of England to 

continue its efforts to squeeze inflation out of the economy. The CPI measure of 

inflation dropped from 8.7% in May, to 7.9% in June and 6.8% in July 2023, but 

is still at the higher end of market expectations. 

Cash Balances 

2.7 The 2023/24 budget was set based on average funds expected to be available 

for investments during the year of £46.2 million. 

2.8 The opening cash balance position was higher than forecast at budget setting 

due to several reasons including: 

• Capital projects totalling £13.911 million were rescheduled during 2022/23 

into the 2023/24 financial year.  

• In March 2022 the Council received an allocation of £3.2 million from the 

Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) which was used to apply an 

additional relief to business rates accounts for 2021/22. The Council received 

100% of the relief, as it is the billing authority, and was due to repay the 60% 

share to Government at the end of March 2023. However, as some local 

authorities had applied their CARF allocation to 2022/23 bills rather than 

2021/22, all repayments from local authorities have been delayed by a year. 

The Council therefore held the £1.9 million repayment within its opening cash 

balance and will continue to hold it until it is due for repayment in March 

2024. 

• The Council was able to close the 2022/23 financial year with a small surplus 

of £18,000 being returned to the general fund. At budget setting time it had 

been expected that reserves of £0.944 million would be needed to balance 

the budget.   

2.9 The funds available for investment throughout 2023/24 are also expected to be 

higher than forecast due to: 

• Capital projects have been rescheduled during 2023/24. Projects totalling 

£3.204 million have been rescheduled into 2024/25 in Quarter 1, as 

detailed in the Capital Management Report. 

Investment and Bank Interest 

2.10 The target interest rate to be earnt from funds was set at 3.07%. Applying this to 

the budgeted funds available resulted in an interest budget of £1,420,000.  

Page 140

Agenda Item 14



 

Page  

4 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

2.11 The amount of interest to be received from investments and bank balances is 

forecast to be £2,668,000, an increase of £1,248,000 on the approved budget of 

£1,420,000. The increase is due to the increase in interest rates available, as 

explained in Note 2.5, and more funds being available for investment, as 

explained in Notes 2.8 and 2.9.  

2.12 A summary of the forecast position is shown below: 

 
Budget  

2023/24 

 

Quarter 1 

Equated Investments £46,240,000 £59,240,000 

Average Interest Rate 3.07% 4.50% 

Total Interest £1,420,000 £2,668,000 

 

2.13 The average rate of the entire portfolio is estimated to increase from 3.07% to 

4.50%. 

2.14 The £1,248,000 surplus to budget will be transferred to the Capital and Revenue 

Initiatives Reserve, to fund the capital programme. The Council is returning to its 

policy of any interest achieved that is surplus to budget, is transferred to 

reserves. This has not been possible for the last two years, when the Council has 

been facing the challenges presented by the pandemic and needed the interest 

to balance the budget. However, this policy protects the Council from building in 

short term interest windfalls into its base and must be reinstated as we return to 

business as usual. 

Treasury Management Strategy Prudential Indicators and 

Targets 

2.15 Details of the Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets compared 

to the position as at 30 June 2023 are set out in Appendix C. 

2.16 None of the Prudential Indicators were breached during the quarter.  

Local Authorities Property Fund 

2.17 The Council purchased £9 million worth of units in The Local Authorities’ 

Property Fund between 2013 and 2014. The Fund pays a dividend to the Council 

on a quarterly basis. The dividend paid for April to June 2023 was 6.01% 

although a management fee of 0.71% was paid back to the Fund resulting in a 

net interest rate of 5.30%. 

2.18 The value of the investment is calculated at year end to be included in the 

Council’s Financial Statements at its fair value or market price. The value of the 

Council’s £9 million investment was £10,222,968 as at 31 March 2023. The value 

Page 141

Agenda Item 14



 

Page  

5 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

of the £9 million invested as at 30 June 2023 is £10,208,783, a decrease of 

£14,185 in 2023/24. 

2.19 The difference in value is held in an unusable reserve, set up specifically for this 

purpose, called the Pooled Investment Funds Adjustment Account. This reserve 

holds the £1,208,783 cumulative gain from the investment. The decrease during 

2023/24 has no impact on the overall cost of services. 

2.20 The Council has now served notice on the investment and will sell the units 

currently held in the Fund, at the end of September 2023. 

Other Interest and Investment Income Received 

2.21 The Council receives interest and investment income in addition to investment 

interest as shown below: 

 

Budget 

2023/24 

Investment Property Income £45,000 

Mortgages £2,400 

Other Interest £1,200 

Total £48,600 

 

3. Options Considered 

3.1 This report is essentially for information. 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

4.1 That Members acknowledge the 2023/24 Treasury Management and Prudential 

Indicator position and note that investment and bank interest is forecast to be 

£2,668,000, an increase of £1,248,000 on the approved budget of £1,420,000. 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 The Council takes advice from Link Asset Services on all treasury management 

activities. The decision will be published on the Council’s website. 

Page 142

Agenda Item 14



 

Page  

6 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

5.2 The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 5 

September 2023 and agreed that the recommendations set out in the report be 

supported 

6. Implementation 

6.1 The investment interest and income are also included within the Quarter 1 

Revenue Management report which is an accompanying report on this agenda. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Treasury Management Investment Limits 

• Appendix B: Investments as at 30 June 2023 

• Appendix C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets 

Background Papers: 

• Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2023/24 – CAB118/22 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65166/Treasury%20Manage

ment%20Policy%20Strategy%20202324.pdf  

 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 14

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65166/Treasury%20Management%20Policy%20Strategy%20202324.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s65166/Treasury%20Management%20Policy%20Strategy%20202324.pdf


 

Page  

7 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 (LGA 1972) the Section 151 Officer 

has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority, 

including securing effective arrangements for treasury management.  

Claudette Valmond, Head of Legal Partnership 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The net investment interest is an important source of income for the Council’s revenue 

budget.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

C. Staffing 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

D. Risk Management 

The Treasury Management Policy and Strategy sets out how the Council aims to control the 

risks associated with treasury management. The security of the Council’s investments is the 

top priority when making investments and is always considered before yield 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Page 144

Agenda Item 14



 

Page  

8 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 Jun 2023) 

 

F. Community Safety 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

G. Equalities 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

H. Data Protection 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

I. Health and Safety 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over 

the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

 

Page 145

Agenda Item 14



APPENDIX A: Treasury Management Investments Limits

Banks/Building Societies

Maximum Maximum

Investment per Duration

LT ST Institution/

Group

1st tier institutions AA+  AA  AA- F1+ £20 million 5 years

2nd tier institutions A+  A  A- F1 £10 million 3 years

Nationalised/Part Nationalised Banks

Maximum Maximum

Investment per Duration

LT ST Institution/

Group

1st tier institutions AA+  AA  AA- F1+ £20 million 5 years

2nd tier institutions A+  A  A- F1 £10 million 3 years

Lloyds Banking Group

Maximum Maximum

Investment Duration

£20 million 5 years

Local Authorities/Debt Management Office

Maximum Maximum

Investment Duration

£5 million 5 years

£5 million 5 years

£5 million 5 years

£5 million 5 years

£30 million 5 years

Money Market Funds

Maximum Maximum

Investment Duration

£5 million 5 years

Collective Investments Schemes (Pooled Funds)

Maximum Maximum

Investment Duration

£10 million -

Organisations for the purposes of improving Council's Assets

Maximum Maximum

Investment Duration

£5 million 5 years

Assets

Lloyds Banking Group

Organisations for the purposes of improving Council's

Collective Investments Schemes (Pooled Funds)

Government's Debt Management Office

Money Market Funds

Fitch Rating (minimum)

Fitch Rating (minimum)

Unitary Councils

County Councils

Police Authorities

Other Local Authorities

Page 146

Appendix A



APPENDIX B: Investments and Bank Account as at 30 June 2023

Investments

Banks/Building Societies 10,000,000

Lloyds Banking Group 20,000,000

Debt Management Office 18,500,000

Other Local Authorities 5,000,000

Collective Investment Schemes 9,000,000

Total 62,500,000

Bank Account

Bank Account 1,800,000

Total 1,800,000

Total 64,300,000

Total

Bank Account 1,800,000

On Call 10,000,000

0 - 3 months 32,500,000

4 - 6 months 5,000,000

7 - 9 months 10,000,000

10 - 12 months 0

12 months + 5,000,000

Total 64,300,000

Page 147

Appendix B



APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets

Budget/ Actual

Year End Quarter 1

Position

2023/24

Prudential Indicators

1 Capital Expenditure

This indicator is a summary of The Council's capital 

expenditure plans.

2023/24 £12,594,000 £19,082,000

projected

2 The Council's Borrowing Need

This indicator is the Council's Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR) which is the historic outstanding 

capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for 

either from revenue or capital resources. It is 

essentially a measure of the Council's indebtedness 

and so is its underlying borrowing need.

Property Investment £855,000

Dowding House £1,781,000

Property Purchase £447,000

The Amelia Scott £2,000,000

2022/23 Actual @ Year End £5,083,000

Property Investment £810,000

Dowding House £1,692,000

Property Purchase £426,000

The Amelia Scott £1,920,000

Civic Site Essential Works £50,000

2023/24 Estimate @ Year End £4,898,000

projected

3 Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances

The application of resources to either finance capital 

expenditure or other budget decisions to support the 

revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on 

investments unless resources are supplemented 

each year from new sources.

2022/23 Closing Investments Amount £52,800,000

2023/24 Closing Investments Amount £27,550,000

projected

(Quarter 1 end

actual

£64,300,000)

Page 148

Appendix C



APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets

Budget/ Actual

Year End Quarter 1

Position

2023/24

Treasury Indicators

1 Operational boundary for external debt

The Council is required to set an operational 

boundary for external debt. This indicates the most 

likely maximum level of external debt for  cash flow 

requirements in the short term. This indicator may be 

breached temporarily for operational reasons.

Operational boundary for external debt £0

Other long term liabilities (S106 with repayment 

conditions)

£9,254,000

Total £30,000,000 £9,254,000

actual

2 Authorised Limit for External Debt

The Council is expected to set a maximum 

authorised limit for external debt. This limit should 

not be exceeded and is therefore calculated on the 

basis of the worst case scenario for cash flow 

requirements in the short term.

Authorised limit for external debt £0

Other long term liabilities (S106 with repayment 

conditions)

£9,254,000

Total £30,000,000 £9,254,000

actual

3 Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit

Total principal funds invested for greater than 365 

days. These limits are set with regard to the 

Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the 

need for early sale of an investment and are based 

on the availability of funds after each year end.

Principal sums invested for longer than 365 days 

(investments)

£15,000,000

£5,000,000

actual

Principal sums invested for longer than 365 days 

(property funds)

£10,000,000

£0

actual

(notice given on

CCLA Property

Fund £9m)

Page 149

Appendix C



APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets

Budget/ Actual

Year End Quarter 1

Position

2023/24

Treasury Management Targets

1 Target Investment Interest Rate

Base Rate 4.25% from 23 Mar 23 to 10 May 23 3.07% 4.50%

Base Rate 4.50% from 11 May 23 to 10 Jun 23 projected

Base Rate 5.00% from 11 Jun 23 to 2 Aug 23

Base Rate 5.25% from 3 Aug 23 onwards

2 Cash flow

Overall cash flow to be managed to achieve a nil 

borrowing requirement although borrowing will be 

considered an option where it is prudent to do so

Nil Nil

Other Key Data

1 Estimated average equated sums for investment 

2023/24
Total £46,240,000 £59,240,000

projected

2 Investment Income

Investment Income including investments and 

bank interest £1,420,000 £2,668,000

projected

Page 150

Appendix C



 

Page  

1 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

Biodiversity - Actions to comply with 

the Environment Act 2021 

For Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development (s151 Officer)  

Head of Service: Carlos Hone, Head of Planning Services 

Report Author: David Scully, Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21 August 2023 

Portfolio Holder 15 August 2023 

Planning Policy Working Group 05 September 2023 

Planning and Transportation Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

04 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Council’s Interim Biodiversity Net Gain project utilising Council owned 

woodland be continued as proposed in this report and the necessary work and 

efforts be made to register the land for Biodiversity Net Gain credits under the 

Environment Act 2021 including the appointment of a consultant to undertake the 

necessary surveys and to provide advice on the longer-term management of the 

scheme. 

2. That the Council continues preparation for Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain 

which commences in November 2023.  This will include:  

• Continuing to develop guidance and procedures for Development 

Management 

Page 151

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

2 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

• Collating information on Biodiversity Net Gain being provided in the 

Borough and developing a longer-term strategy for the offsite provision for 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

• The appointment of KCC Ecology under a Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

to assist in the review of Biodiversity Net Gain Plans submitted in support 

of planning applications in the Borough. 

 

3. That as required by the Environment Act 2021 the Council prepare and publish a 

Biodiversity Report through consultation with Members and key stakeholders. 

The Biodiversity Report shall as a minimum meet the requirements of the 

Biodiversity Duty and set out the Council’s Biodiversity Action Plan.  

4. That delegated Authority be given to the Head of Planning in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning to implement the above actions, 

set out in recommendations 1 to 3 above including entering into a SLA with KCC 

Ecology following any necessary negotiations and that delegated authority be 

given to the Head of Legal Partnership in consultation with the Head of Planning 

to negotiate and complete all necessary agreements with the consultant referred 

to in Para 1 above. Negotiations with KCC Ecology will seek to secure a 1-year 

review clause and two training sessions for Members and officers. 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report relates to the Council’s Corporate and Planning roles and 

responsibilities under the Environment Act 2021 for protecting and enhancing 

biodiversity across the Borough, and the requirements as part of planning to 

deliver Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) on development sites through three 

interrelated pieces of work: 

i. Continuance of the Council’s Interim Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) project 

on Council owned Woodland and taking this forward to a permanent scheme 

to help facilitate development where off-site biodiversity gains are required 

either by S106 planning obligations or Conservation Covenants. 

 

ii. To prepare for and deliver the mandatory requirement for development to 

provide Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) which comes into force in 

November 2023, and 

 

iii. To respond to the new corporate Biodiversity Duty imposed on Local 

Planning Authorities under the Environment Act 2021 requiring Local 

Page 152

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

3 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

Planning Authorities to propose and report on actions for biodiversity within a 

Biodiversity Report that will include the Council’s Biodiversity Action Plan. 

 

1.2 The Government published the 25 Year Environment Strategy in 2018 signalling 

that they would strengthen the Biodiversity Duty and introduce a mandatory 

system for development of Biodiversity Net Gain (i.e. making sure that the 

habitats for wildlife associated with a development are on completion of that 

development in a better state than before the development took place). 

1.3 The legislation and changes in Government planning guidance have been slow 

to arrive. In the meantime, the methodology for calculating Biodiversity Net Gain 

(the Defra Metric) has continued to evolve through use by early adopters of BNG 

including Tunbridge Wells Borough Council.  

1.4 The Environment Bill received Royal Assent on 9 November 2021 stating that 

10% BNG would become mandatory for all development from November 2023 

and provided the main timescales for the Biodiversity Report. 

1.5 Using the Council’s adopted policy for Biodiversity (CP4) of “no net loss” and the 

more recent National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs 174(d) and 

179(b) which encourages BNG, the Council adopted a de facto policy of requiring 

10% BNG for all new development in 2019 and so as one of the early adopters 

has helped shape the final technical guidance and developed some expertise in 

BNG.  The Council included in the drafting of its emerging Local Plan a specific 

BNG policy (EN 9) requiring at least 10% biodiversity net gain. 

1.6 However, the supporting guidance on many matters in the Environment Act is 

only now becoming available and the secondary legislation that provides all the 

details of how BNG will work has still not been fully published. BNG for smaller 

sites has been pushed back until April 2024 but the November date for 

mandatory BNG for major development remains. The decisions made following 

on from this report may then need to be reviewed as and when further legislation 

and/or guidance becomes available. If a revised decision is necessary, this will 

be re-presented to Cabinet at the appropriate time. 

1.7 The Council has formally recognised the need for urgent action on Biodiversity 

through a declaration of a climate and biodiversity emergency (Full Council in 

July 2019) and has taken decisive action by being an early adopter of 

Biodiversity Net Gain in 2019.  Latterly the Council, through its Council Plan – 

Building a Better Borough (2022-24) has committed to review its Biodiversity 

Action Plan which might usefully be included within the Biodiversity Report. 

1.8 The Council has for many years identified and designated a wide and extensive 

range of sites to be protected for their wildlife interest and seeks to ensure their 

continued protection and enhancement through policies and actions. Those 

actions include the management and improvements to the Council’s estate which 

includes significant parks, woodlands and nature reserves as well as supporting 

and working with key long standing partnerships including: 

High Weald AONB Unit  

Page 153

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

4 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

Kent High Weald Partnership  

Kent Nature Partnership  

Kent Wildlife Trust 

Partnerships for Ashdown Forest 

1.9 This report is intended to set out how the Council will meet the new challenges 

posed by the Environment Act 2021 in respect of biodiversity building on its 

existing policies, partnerships and actions setting out a clear strategy for going 

forward that will maximise the benefits for biodiversity within the resources and 

influence available to the Council. 

1.10 To assist members in gaining a more comprehensive understanding of BNG 

please refer to Government guidance listed under background documents at the 

end of this report. 

2. The Interim Biodiversity Net Gain Project                

2.1 In 2019 the Cabinet report (CAB61/191 12 September 2019) noted the Council’s 

interim biodiversity Net Gain project utilising Council owned woodland to make 

up any shortfall in biodiversity Units that developers were unable to achieve on 

site to provide a 10% BNG. The report (at paragraph 4.6) advised that Planning 

Service would: 

“1. Continue to negotiate with applicants as necessary seeking contributions for a 

scheme of biodiversity offsetting on Council owned woodland with any other 

secured funds to go towards the establishing of a borough/county scheme. 

2. Upon receipt of sufficient funding through S106 agreements for biodiversity 

offsetting: 

i. KHWP would be instructed to prepare the necessary management plans and 

programmes of work for the Council owned woodland to achieve net gains for 

biodiversity in consultation with key stakeholders 

ii. A consultant would be appointed to undertake work on devising a local 

scheme of biodiversity offsetting in support of the emerging Local Plan” 

2.2 Since the adoption of that approach and in line with available guidance, 

developers have been challenged to deliver BNG on sites and only where that is 

not possible to provide any shortfall off-site.  Most developers were able to 

provide BNG on site but for those who could not do so they were offered the 

opportunity to purchase Biodiversity Units off-site from the Council under the 

interim scheme. The price per area biodiversity unit was set at the midpoint 

between the highest and lowest predicted or available prices at £18,000 per 

Biodiversity Unit. 

 
1 Net Gain for Biodiversity in the Borough – Cabinet Report 12 September 2019 
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s44648/9%20Net%20gain%20for%20Biodiversity%2
0in%20the%20Borough%20final.pdf 

Page 154

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

5 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

2.3 It takes some time for such policies to take effect and for any significant funds to 

come through the planning process, to complete signed S106 agreements and 

then for them to be implemented. Indeed, some schemes with signed S106 

agreements for over a year have still not been implemented. As of July 2023, the 

funds collected for BNG under the interim project total £59,271.76 and a further 

£160,200 is agreed under signed S106 agreements but these projects which 

have planning consent have not yet been implemented. In total this commits the 

Council to potentially providing 12 area biodiversity Units.  There are more 

applications under consideration that may also require the interim project 

between now and November 2023. 

2.4 So far, as approved by the Cabinet report for this project, the Kent Wildlife Trust 

(KWT) were commissioned to undertake a baseline assessment and provide an 

indication of how many units the woodland could generate with improved 

management and at what cost. These initial assessments (Attached to Appendix 

B Interim Management Plan) show that the woodlands may provide in excess of 

40 biodiversity area units as set out in table 1 below: 

 

Table 1: Initial Assessment of Council owned woodland for BNG Units 

Site Baseline 
Biodiversity 
Area Units 

Possible 
Biodiversity 
Area Units 
Following 
Improvements 

Increase in 
Biodiversity 
Area Units 

Percentage 
increase in 
Biodiversity 
Units 

Marshley Harbour 
Woods 

306.72 338.89 32.17 10% 

Snipe and Bassets 
Woods 

153.52 166.23 12.71 8% 

High Woods 117.97 119.18 1.2 1% 

   46.08 19% 

 

2.5 The work by KWT also suggests that this may in the future provide an income 

stream based on a suggested price of £22,000 per area biodiversity Unit. 

However this is an indicative price only and more detailed costing and surveys 

are required to test these assumptions.  This more detailed work will also be 

necessary if the Council agrees to placing the land that is in the interim scheme 

into a long-term Government approved scheme for BNG. 

2.6 Works to provide BNG will be tailored to available funds and BNG Units required 

but BNG Units on the two smaller woodlands would, depending on the agreed 

price for a BNG Unit, bring in some £250,000 to £300,000.  Whilst this may seem 

a large sum it has to spread over the lifetime of the agreed BNG provision which 

is a minimum of 30 years at between £8,000 and £10,000 per year if and only if 

rates for BNG Units are correct and sustained in what will be an open market 

place. 

2.7 Extreme caution is needed regarding forecasting future costs and incomes as the 

gains in biodiversity need to be sustained over a minimum period of 30 years and 

the costs and incomes are market dependent and will fluctuate during that time. 

Page 155

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

6 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

 

2.8 From this the Council may take some comfort that firstly the scheme will provide 

all the required biodiversity units for which it has accepted payment and secondly 

there are further units available such that it is worth seeking to register the land 

under the Environment Act for off site net gain. Whilst take up of these units 

cannot be guaranteed they can potentially facilitate development within the 

borough and limit the risk of off-site gains being provided outside the Borough. 

2.9 The Kent High Weald Partnership have been commissioned to prepare an initial 

Management Plan for the Council owned woodland (Appendix B) and a program 

to implement the proposed works including targeted actions for BNG 

enhancements. This will be worked up into more detail following further survey 

using the latest Defra Metric, community engagement and consultation with key 

stakeholders, the Council Parks Department (who have overall management 

responsibility) and their Forestry contractor. 

2.10 Kent High Weald Partnership will continue with their work to develop and 

implement the first stage of the Management Plan using the available funds 

noted above. 

2.11 Council officers will appoint a consultant by tender to undertake the more 

detailed survey using the latest metric and to provide updated costs for 

implementation over a minimum 30 year period (as required by the Environment 

Act) and to advise on the long term running of the scheme. It is proposed that 

this will be funded by the money collected pursuant to s.106 contributions where 

the agreements allow for the use of these funds in this manner.   

2.12 This work should provide the evidence required, should the council wish to do so, 

to register the land under the Environment Act 2021 and then continue to use the 

site where appropriate for the provision of off-site BNG. It also will enable the 

Council to set out more clearly and accurately the management prescriptions 

required and the necessary tariff.   

2.13 It should be noted that indications are that the Council cannot insist on 

developers using a Council scheme but may offer it and that there may be further 

restrictions with regards the habitats available and how they may be used such 

that Council’s woodlands may be just one of many sites that would be suitable to 

provide off-site BNG where required.  Conditions within the legislation as well as 

market forces and developer preference will steer site choice but mechanisms 

within the Defra Metric provide a financial incentive to provide off-site units as 

close as possible to the development site. The availability of woodland BNG 

Units within the Borough to enable off-site BNG delivery from developers is also 

likely to aid housing delivery. 

2.14 It should also be noted that the Council’s woodlands only provide area 

biodiversity Units and do not have much if any capacity to provide linear 

hedgerow and river units. And so the work to be commissioned will consider how 

best such units can be provided from elsewhere. 

2.15 It is then recommended that work on the Council’s interim BNG project should 

continue as originally approved and that the further work necessary to register 

Page 156

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

7 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

the land for off-site provision of BNG under the Environment Act 2021 be carried 

out so that the Council’s woodlands may, in so far as they are able, continue to 

support appropriate development. 

3. Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain 

3.1 The Government has confirmed that BNG will become Mandatory for all 

development commencing with major development in November 2023 and all 

other development in April 2024.  The exact dates have not yet been provided 

and we are awaiting further legislation and guidance. 

3.2 Based on information and guidance that is available, work with the planning 

Advisory Service (PAS) and Kent Nature Partnership as well as our own 

experience of BNG it is clear that more detailed preparation for mandatory BNG 

is required. 

3.3 To this end officers in planning across policy, development management, and 

validation with support from finance and legal services are reviewing systems 

and processes to ensure that the Council is ready to meet the requirements of 

the legislation. 

3.4 The Government recognises that the Environment Act imposes an additional 

burden on Council’s and has promised additional funding. This is most welcome 

as the Council has struggled to implement BNG so far within existing resources 

and when BNG becomes mandatory it will bring with it additional checks and 

requirements including monitoring such that the Council will from November 

need additional resources if it is to implement BNG properly and effectively.  

3.5 Whilst the Government has promised additional funding it remains unclear what 

the long-term arrangements will be. Several grants have been provided to help 

Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) prepare for BNG but this came with no 

forewarning of the level of grant available and has in part required retrospective 

evidence making planning for expenditure very difficult. In 2022 Defra indicated 

that the long term grant would be circa £15,000 per annum but in the latest 

correspondence merely says that it will be “confirmed in due course”. 

3.6 The Defra grants so far are summarised below: 

Financial Period 2021/2022 
Offer received February 2022 for £10,047 
 
Financial Period 2022/2023 
Offer received March 2023 for £26,807 
 
Financial Period 2023/2024 
Offer received July 2023 for £26,807 

 

3.7 The grant in 2022/23 was claimed for time spent implementing the Council’s 

BNG policy to date. It is proposed that the grant offered for 2023/24 be claimed 

Page 157

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

8 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

in part for officer time spent on BNG and part to secure additional resources to 

assist with mandatory BNG. The split will be depend on the cost of securing 

additional resources between now and March 31st 2024. 

3.8 There is little realistic prospect of securing additional in-house resources for 

future years with the grant funding that is currently proposed (circa £15,000) and 

so it is proposed that the money is pooled with other LPAs who are already using 

the services of KCC Ecology to provide ecological and BNG advice for the 

Council.  On the basis of existing commitments from other LPAs KCC is already 

recruiting staff to prepare for the work required on Mandatory BNG and hopes to 

be able to service all Kent LPAs with advice and support on BNG. 

3.9 A central Kent resource for the scrutiny and evaluation of BNG for developments 

should be beneficial to all involved in that it will assist with developing a 

consistent approach to the BNG metric and BNG Gain Plans especially with 

regards technical elements such as habitat classification, the manipulation of 

inputs into the BNG and how off site BNG will be considered. 

3.10 Officers therefore recommend that the funding from Defra for future years (circa 

£15,000), be put towards securing the services of KCC Ecology to review and 

advise on Biodiversity Gain Plans submitted with planning applications, and that 

where possible and subject to agreement a portion of the Defra 2023/24 grant is 

also used to secure the services of KCC Ecology. A draft Service Level 

Agreement (SLA) to cover this work is in Appendix A and will be subject to 

further consideration and approval by the Head of Planning Services after 

seeking the appropriate authority under the Council’s Financial Standing Orders 

for procurement. 

3.11 It should be noted that there is still some uncertainty over the future level of 

funding, about how BNG will operate, the level of demand and the quality of 

submissions and so KCC Ecology cannot commit at present to a particular level 

of service and in addition KCC Ecology will be constrained by the success of the 

planned recruitment. 

3.12 Any arrangements entered into with KCC Ecology for BNG will then have to be 

kept under review until matters become clearer and a longer more settled 

agreement can be reached, and this will be done by regular monitoring of the 

SLA by the Head of Planning Services. 

4. Biodiversity Report 

4.1 Public bodies including LPAs were given a statutory duty towards Biodiversity in 

the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act) with a 

requirement that LPAs have regard to biodiversity in all of its decision making. 

The NERC Act 2006 has been updated by Section 103 (effective January 2023) 

of the Environment Act 2021. The Government guidance (Complying with the 

biodiversity duty) summarise that, under this new legislation, public authorities 

must: 

Page 158

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

9 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

• “Consider what you can do to conserve and enhance biodiversity. 

• Agree policies and specific objectives based on your consideration. 

• Act to deliver your policies and achieve your objectives”. 

 

4.2 The Act specifically requires Local Authorities to publish biodiversity reports 

which contain:  

• “a summary of action which the authority has taken over the period of the report 

• a summary of the Authorities plans for the 5 years following the report 

• quantitative data and any other information the authority considers is appropriate 

is include in the report”. 

 

4.3 The Act stipulates publication and frequency dates as follows: 

• the first report must cover no longer than 3 years, subsequent reports must cover 

no longer than 5 years and run consecutively 

• the report must be published within 12 weeks of the last day of the report 

 

4.4 This is a corporate responsibility that goes across all Council departments, 

actions and decision making. The Government guidance summarises what, 

under the legislation, public authorities must do: 

• “Consider what you can do to conserve and enhance biodiversity. 

• Agree policies and specific objectives based on your consideration. 

• Act to deliver your policies and achieve your objectives”. 

 

4.5 The report has three compulsory sections which are described in the 

Government guidance as follows: 

“Section 1: Your policies, objectives and actions 
You must include this information in your report. 
Explain: 

• the policies and objectives you have set to meet your biodiversity duty 

• the actions you’ve completed, either alone or in partnership with others, 
that benefit biodiversity 

 

Section 2: How you have considered other strategies 
You must include this information in your report. 
Explain how you’ve taken into account: 

• local nature recovery strategies 

• protected site strategies 

• species conservation strategies 
For example, include information about how: 

• you’ve advised or worked in a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) 
partnership In your area 

• these strategies influenced your policies, objectives or actions 
 

Page 159

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

10 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

Section 3: Your future actions 
You must include this information in your report. 

• Explain how your organisation plans to fulfil your biodiversity duty over the 
5 years following the end of this reporting period. 

• You can report your plans for future actions in each section of your report 
alongside the ones you’ve achieved”. 

 

4.6 For LPAs there a further compulsory requirement to report on BNG covering:  

• “a summary of the actions you’ve carried out to meet biodiversity net gain 

obligations 

• details of biodiversity gains resulting, or expected to result, from 

biodiversity gain plans you’ve approved 

• a summary of how you plan to meet biodiversity net gain obligations in the 

next reporting period” 

 

4.7 In addition the guidance also refers to the following optional content: 

Section 4: Information about your authority 

Section 5: Your top achievements 

Section 6: How your policies and actions have helped 

Section 7: How you’ve raised awareness and educated the community 

Section 8: Monitoring and evaluating your actions 

Section 9: Biodiversity highlights and challenges 

 

4.8 Much of this information may usefully be included and should encompass the 

Council’s commitment in Build a Better Borough to review the Council’s 

Biodiversity Action Plan. It can also be of use in positively communicating to a 

wider audience the actions that the Council already undertakes to improve 

biodiversity through its partnership working. 

4.9 Whilst the first Biodiversity Report must be reviewed within three years and 

subsequent reports every five years there is a requirement for a first report that 

sets out the Council’s first consideration of what action to take for biodiversity to 

be published by 01 January 2024 and “agree your policies and objectives as 

soon as possible after this”. 

4.10 It is recommended that work begin on the Council’s first Biodiversity Report 

which will set out what action the Council will take for biodiversity and that this be 

published for consultation on or before 31st December 2023. This will include a 

review of biodiversity across all departments to look at systems and processes 

and how Biodiversity can be integrated into the work they do. It will also consider 

what measures can be put in place to ensure adequate monitoring to assist with 

future reporting requirements. 

Page 160

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

11 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

4.11 Whilst planning may be able to lead on this work and coordinate the writing of the 

Biodiversity Report it will require each department or service to consider and 

propose its own actions for biodiversity and reporting/monitoring proposals and 

targets.  

5. Options Considered 

5.1 As explained these areas of work are interrelated and are a requirement of new 

legislation for which there is some additional funding. A “do nothing” option is 

then not appropriate however there are some limited choices available within 

each piece of work and these are explained below using the main headings in 

the report.  

Interim Biodiversity Net Gain Project 

5.2 Option 1: The Council is committed to taking forward the project to deliver the 

Biodiversity Units for which it has collected funds. The only alternative to this is to 

pass the funds back to the developers but this may raise questions about the 

planning consents which were granted in part on their contribution to biodiversity.  

5.3 Consequently this option is not recommended as it may lead to reputational 

damage and undermine the Council’s environmental commitments. 

5.4 Option 2: The Council may decide to take the project no further and no longer 

offer the Council’s woodlands to provide off site Biodiversity Net Gain Units. 

Where no alternatives are available this may frustrate development or where 

limited options are available this may lead to Biodiversity Net Gain Units being 

provided at locations outside the borough or region which would be detrimental 

to the Council’s commitment to the biodiversity within the Borough.  

5.5 Option 3: The Council may further develop the project and register the land as 

required by the Environment Act as a site that can provide off site Biodiversity 

Net gain. There will be limitations and restrictions on the take up of the 

Biodiversity Units but any work required will be funded by developer contributions 

and no additional costs will be incurred unless developer contributions are 

received. 

 

Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. 

5.6 Option 1: The Council could attempt to secure additional internal resources 

through re-structure and/or recruitment to implement Mandatory Biodiversity Net 

Gain. However general recruitment in planning has proved difficult recently and 

there is no certainty as to the success of such an approach or whether there will 

be sufficient funds to support this approach. 

5.7 Option 2: The Council can pool the limited financial resources and expertise with 

KCC Ecology who already service most Kent LPAs with Ecological and BNG 

advice. Whilst KCC are open to this solution and are preparing to service Kent 

LPAs in giving advice on Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain, risks do remain such 

Page 161

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

12 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

that the Council will need to monitor the situation and maintain internal resources 

until the matter becomes more settled. 

 

 

Biodiversity Report 

5.8 Option 1: The Council can choose to produce a report that contains only 

mandatory information and considerations.  

5.9 Option 2: the Council may choose to include optional information in support of its 

wider policies and actions on biodiversity and environmental commitments.  

 

6. Preferred Option and Reason 

6.1 For the Interim Biodiversity Net Gain Project officers strongly recommend 

Option 3 that the project continues with delivery of Biodiversity Units and further 

studies for which funds have been secured and that efforts be made to register 

the land under the Environment Act 2021 as a site for offsite Biodiversity Units to 

facilitate development.  

6.2 This will ensure that the Council delivers on its commitments in support of 

previously consented developments and will assist in ensuring that any future off 

site provision is retained where possible within the Borough.  It should have no 

significant effect on Council financial resources as any necessary works will be 

funded by developer contributions and will enable the Council to improve the 

biodiversity in Council owned woodland at nil cost.  

6.3 Officers recommend Option 2 to service the requirement for Mandatory 

Biodiversity Net Gain required by the Environment Act 2021. This option 

increases the potential for the Council to provide a good quality service 

maximising the effectiveness of the limited financial support available from Defra. 

6.4 Option 2 is recommended with regards the Biodiversity Report as it offers the 

greatest level of support for existing Council commitments and projects and 

offers opportunities to set out in a more transparent and positive way all the work 

that the Council does with regards biodiversity.   

7. Consultation on Options 

7.1 These options have been discussed with relevant Heads of Service and Cabinet 

Members. 

7.2 There has been discussion with KCC Ecology with regards Mandatory BNG and 

the agreement to the provision of services through a Service Level Agreement. 

Page 162

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

13 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

7.3 The Interim Management plan for Council owned woodland has been prepared in 

discussion with the Parks Department and Forestry Contractor. 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

7.4 The Planning and Transportation Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 04 

September 2023.  The recommendations set out in the draft report were updated 

at the meeting and a copy provided to all Members. Members agreed the revised 

set of recommendations presented at the meeting subject to an additional 

requirement being added to the recommendations that the SLA with KCC 

Ecology should include: 

 

• A one year review clause 

• Two training sessions in the year for members and officers. 

 

7.5 An additional sentence has been added to recommendation 4 within this report to 

address these recommendations noting that such requirements will be subject to 

the negotiations with and the available capacity of KCC Ecology. 

 

8. Implementation 

8.1.1 The proposed actions noted above for the Interim Biodiversity Net Gain Project 

and Mandatory Net Gain will be implemented by officers in Planning led in the 

main by the Landscape and Biodiversity Officer with support from other 

departments as required. 

8.1.2 A Cabinet Member report will be prepared for the release of the necessary S106 

contributions to ensure that the money is spent in accordance with the terms 

within any legal agreement. 

8.1.3 The Head of Planning Services will seek authority under the Council’s Financial 

Standing Orders for procurement to enter into negotiations with KCC to agree an 

SLA for Ecological advice on BNG and monitor that agreement making changes 

as necessary to secure the correct and affordable level of support. 

8.1.4 Actions required for the Biodiversity Report will require input from all Council 

departments with a lead to be appointed by Heads of Service. 

9. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Draft Service Level Agreement with KCC Ecology 

Page 163

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

14 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

• Appendix B: Interim Management Plan Management Plan for the Council 

owned woodlands at Marshley Harbour, Snipe & Bassets and High Woods to 

deliver Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

Background Documents: 

• Net Gain for Biodiversity in the Borough – Cabinet Report 12 September 2019 

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s44648/9%20Net%20gain%

20for%20Biodiversity%20in%20the%20Borough%20final.pdf 

 

 

• Government Guidance: 

 

Understanding biodiversity net gain 

Complying with the biodiversity duty guidance 

Reporting your biodiversity duty actions guidance 

Sell biodiversity units as a land manager guidance 

What you can count towards a development’s biodiversity net gain (BNG) 
guidance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164

Agenda Item 15

https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s44648/9%20Net%20gain%20for%20Biodiversity%20in%20the%20Borough%20final.pdf
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s44648/9%20Net%20gain%20for%20Biodiversity%20in%20the%20Borough%20final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/understanding-biodiversity-net-gain
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reporting-your-biodiversity-duty-actions
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sell-biodiversity-units-as-a-land-manager
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-you-can-count-towards-a-developments-biodiversity-net-gain-bng
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-you-can-count-towards-a-developments-biodiversity-net-gain-bng


 

Page  

15 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

10. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Accepting the recommendations in this report will ensure the Council complies with its 

statutory and regulatory obligations arising from the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006 and the Town and country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the 

Environment Act 2021.  

Cheryl Parks Mid Kent Legal Services (Planning)  15/08/2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

There are no financial implications for the Council as S106 Developer funding will finance the 

project and associated consultancy costs. Any Officer input required for management and 

reporting will be carried out by existing budgeted posts. It removes the financial risk of the 

Council not complying with its statutory obligations. 

Jane Fineman Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 18/08/2023 

 

C. Staffing 

The works will be implemented within existing staff resources or contractors where indicated 

in the report. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

D. Risk Management 

All  

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer  

 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

The works set out in the report will contribute to environmental improvements within the 

Borough in accordance with current and emerging legislation.  

Page 165

Agenda Item 15



 

Page  

16 of 16 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Biodiversity 

 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

F. Community Safety 

No Issues 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

G. Equalities 

The report raises no new issues and introduces no new policies. An Equalities Impact 

Assessment is deemed not necessary. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

H. Data Protection 

No Issues 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

I. Health and Safety 

No Issues 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The proposals will contribute to the health and well being of the local communities who use 

Council owned woodlands through improvements to those sites for biodiversity and access. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 15/08/2023 

 

Page 166

Agenda Item 15



 

 

 
 

ECOLOGICAL ADVICE SERVICE 
 

Service Level Agreement for provision of service to  
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 2023-24 

 
 

 
March 2023 

 
 
1. Objective of service 
 

• To advise Tunbridge Wells Borough Council of the ecological implications of development, 
and other, proposals. 

 

• To more generally advise on the effective protection, management and enhancement of 
biodiversity.  

 

• To assist Tunbridge Wells Borough Council meet the requirements of wildlife legislation and 
policy, and Natural England’s Standing Advice to local planning authorities1. 

 

• To assist Tunbridge Wells Borough Council in preparing for the introduction of mandatory 
biodiversity net gain, through support offered by the Kent BNG Officer (for specific detail on 
the support covered, see Addendum 1). 
 

• To advise Tunbridge Wells Borough Council of biodiversity net gain assessments, biodiversity 
gain plans and associated habitat management and monitoring plans (see clause 2.8 for 
conditions relating to the provision of this advice). 
 

• To assist Tunbridge Wells Borough Council in meeting the other natural environment 
requirements of the Environment Act 2021, including the enhanced Biodiversity Duty and 
duty of regard to the Kent and Medway Local Nature Recovery Strategy. 

 

• To assist Tunbridge Wells Borough Council in demonstrating professional competence in all 
of its decisions and activities affecting biodiversity. 

 
 
2. Provision of service 
 
2.1 Core service and its delivery 
 
The following services are included under this service: 
 

 
1 Natural England Standing Advice - 
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/planningdevelopment/spatialplanning/standingadvice/default.aspx   

Page 167

Appendix A

http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/planningdevelopment/spatialplanning/standingadvice/default.aspx


 

 

• Provision of ecological advice at any stage as requested within the development 
management process (screening, scoping, formal application and enforcement). 
 

• Assessment of, and advice on, protected species impact and appropriateness of any 
proposed mitigation and biodiversity enhancement. 
 

• Assessment of, and advice on, any biodiversity net gain assessments and conclusions; and 
advice on the appropriateness of any biodiversity gain plans associated habitat management 
and monitoring plans (see clause 2.8 for conditions relating to the provision of this advice).  
 

• Participation in meetings with developers/applicants pre- and post-submission and 
attendance at appeal hearings, as requested by Local Planning Authority.  
 
 

• Impartial assessment of the recommendations of statutory and non-statutory conservation 
organisations in relation to planning applications and other planning documents. 

 

• Ecological assessment of hedgerows for which a removal notice has been submitted, to 
ensure compliance with the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. 
 

• Provision of general advice on biodiversity issues. 
 

• One training session for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council development management staff.  
This will cover general biodiversity considerations within planning; training on biodiversity 
net gain will be provided by the Kent BNG Officer (as detailed in Addendum 1) . 

 
Work will be completed by a qualified, CIEEM registered ecologist. 
 
Work will be completed within 21 calendar days from receipt of the planning application details and 
the initial request for advice.  When deadlines are less than 21 calendar days, a mutually acceptable 
response time will be agreed by the service provider and client however all efforts will be made to 
respond within the requested timeframe. 
 
All communication with applicants, consultants, planning agents and/or other interested parties, 
including pre-application advice, must be directed through the relevant planning officer at Tunbridge 
Wells Borough Council  as the designated main point of contact.  There should be not direct contact 
unless otherwise agreed by both the service provider and Local Planning Authority.  Where direct 
communication with an interested party has been authorised, the KCC ecologist will respond to their 
enquiries within five working days.       
 
Use of the service will follow the processes and procedures detailed in the KCC Ecological Advice 
Service Guidance for Service Users (appended).  
 
2.2 Additional services 
 
The following services can be provided outside of this service agreement, at an additional charge: 
 

• Training for staff on ecological issues and biodiversity considerations (content to be 
determined with Local Planning Authority).   

 

• Ecological advice and input to forward planning activities. 
 

• Additional support/input to development management process where required. 
 
2.3 Exclusions and limits on services 
 

Page 168

Appendix A



 

 

The service cannot be used for appeals and inquiries for cases that the KCC ecological advice service 
has not previously been involved in and/or provided advice on. 
 
When preparing for, and attending, appeals or inquiries, the service level in respect of development 
management may need to be reduced; this will apply even when input to an appeal is billed 
separately.  Any reduction to the delivery of the core service in this respect will be agreed before 
work on the appeal commences.    
 
2.4 Period of service 
 
The service level agreement will cover a 12 month period - 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024. 
 
2.5 Level of service 
 
A service of 44 days (308 hours) across the service period (section 2.4) will be provided by this 
agreement, an average of 11 days per quarter (77 hours).  If this quarterly estimate is likely to be 
significantly exceeded in any one 3 month period then, where possible, KCC request that advance 
notice is given so that resources can be prioritised and allocated effectively.  Monthly reports will 
assist Tunbridge Wells Borough Council to monitor and manage the level of service (see section 2.6). 
 
2.6 Monitoring of service 
 
A monthly report on time spent to date will be provided to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council within 
two weeks of the end of the month.  A quarterly report will be provided every three months, 
reporting on use of service against the level of service that has been agreed; the report will also 
include a standard of service, measured against response to deadline.    
 
The use of the service will be reviewed every quarter to identify if the service level established at the 
beginning of the year is still appropriate and, where necessary, to put in place appropriate processes 
to better manage time and/or increase service level (if possible) for the remainder of the year.  Should 
the circumstances require it an SLA review meeting will be held in the third quarter.   
 
It is the responsibility of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council to ensure the use of ecological advice 
service is managed effectively in line with the agreed quarterly level of service. 
  
2.7 Increasing service level 
 
Further time, on top of the level of service agreed, can be provided subject to resource availability for 
an additional charge.  Additional time will be agreed by both parties prior to any further work being 
carried out. 
 
Additional service will be charged at a reduced day rate (see section 3) providing this top up is 
requested two months before the additional days will be used.   
 
2.8 Development of services relating to biodiversity net gain 
 
In recognition that, at the time of drawing up the 2023/24 service agreement, unknowns relating to 
the delivery of, and burdens funding for, biodiversity net gain make identifying requirements for this 
additional advice difficult.   
 
Therefore, a review of the service need for biodiversity net gain will be undertaken June/July 2023 by 
the latest (timing dependant on Defra announcements) and EAS districts will have the opportunity to 
revise the service agreement accordingly. 
 
Delivery of additional service will only be possible if the Ecological Advice Service is able to sufficiently 
expand capacity of the team.   
 
2.9 Location of service 

Page 169

Appendix A



 

 

 
Primarily, advisors will work from Kent County Council offices at: Invicta House, County Hall, 
Maidstone, Kent ME14 1XX 
  
When necessary advisors can attend Tunbridge Wells Borough Council offices. 
 
Where officers have to travel to council offices or sites/meetings, travel expenses will be charged as 
well as time to travel. 
 
2.10 Payment for service 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council will provide a purchase order for the service with the first quarter of 
the service period   and will make payment in line with the terms of the invoice, once received.  Any 
agreed additional services provided before February will be invoiced for at point; additional services 
provided February to March will be invoiced at year end. 
 
The payment provides for provision of the service under the terms outlined in section 2.  Refunds will 
not be made for service not used within the stated period, unless the service is terminated under the 
conditions outlined in 2.11.    
 
2.11 Termination of service 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council may terminate the service up to two months before the end of the 
service period.  Notice must be given in writing.  If two months (or more) notice is given, a refund will 
be made on a pro rata basis.   
 
The service may be terminated at any time if the provider is unable to meet the service provision 
requirements.   
 
 
3. Cost of service 
 
3.1 For SLA period 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024 

 

Cost ecological advice, provided for as outlined under section 2  £15000 

Standard annual admin charge 
 

£290 

Additional service day rate (applicable where additional days are requested two months 
before the additional days will be used) 
 

£340 

 
3.2 Additional costs for services not included under this SLA and undertaken in SLA period 1st 

April 2023 to 31st March 2024 

 
 

Additional service day rate (applicable where additional days are requested less than 
two months before the additional days will be used) 
 

£410 

Further training session (including supporting material) 
 

£460 

 
 
4. Authorisation for service 
 
Any amendment to the provision of service (section 2) may be authorised, on behalf of Local Planning 
Authority, by: 
 

Page 170

Appendix A



 

 

Name Position 

Name Position 

Name Position 

 

Page 171

Appendix A



 

 

 

Signed on behalf of: 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council   

Signed on behalf of: 
Kent County Council 
Invicta House 
County Hall 
Maidstone 
Kent 
ME14 1XX 

 
                 
 
Date: 
 

 
 
 
Date:  

Name: 
 
Position: 
 

Name: Helen Forster 
 
Position: Senior Biodiversity Officer 
 

Page 172

Appendix A



 

 

Appendices 
 
A1. KCC Ecological Advice Service Guidance for Service Users 
 
Provided separately. 
 
 
A2. Public Complaints Procedure 
 
The overall agreement between the Service Purchaser and Service Provider requires that public 
expressions about the service shall be directed to the Service Purchaser who shall then pursue them 
with the Service Provider. 
 
In respect of this specification, the named Representative for the Service Purchaser will act as a focus 
for all formal communications with any complaint and will follow the Service Purchaser’s own 
complaints procedure. The named Representative for the Service Provider will supply any such 
information as reasonably requested by the Service Purchaser’s Representative in order to comply 
with that procedure. 
 
The Service Purchaser will handle initial informal contact with the public in relation to queries and 
problems. 
 
 
A3. Re-performing Work 
 
Work agreed between the Service Provider and Service Purchaser will be carried out to a set of 
standards that should be confirmed for each piece of work carried out by the Service Provider on 
behalf of the Service Purchaser. If any work carried out by the Service Provider is requested to be re-
performed due to a failure to meet standards or other reason then a case of need will need to be 
made to the Service Provider by the Service Purchaser. In the first instance the costs to either or both 
parties for re-performing work will be negotiated between the named representatives in this 
agreement and be on the basis of the case of need presented. 
 
 
A4. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council responsibilities 
 
To provide planning and other information in an appropriate timescale to ensure effective response 
from Kent County Council’s Ecological Advice Service Officers.   
 
When attendance of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council offices is required by Ecological Advice Service 
officer, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council will provide desk space and resources (including IT 
equipment) as required to support their work. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 173

Appendix A



 

 

 

 

Interim Biodiversity Net Gain Project 

An interim management plan for the Council 

owned woodlands at Marshley Harbour, Snipe & 

Bassets and High Woods to deliver Biodiversity 

Net Gain 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. The government published the 25 Year Environment Strategy in 2018 

signalling that they would strengthen the Biodiversity Duty public bodies and 

introduce a mandatory system of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) for 

development. 

  

2. The Environment Bill received Royal Assent on 9 November 2021 stating that 

10% BNG would become mandatory for all development in November 2023. 

However, the legislation and changes in government planning guidance 

necessary to ensure the delivery of BNG have been slow to arrive and final 

details are still awaited. 

 

3. Using the Councils adopted policy for Biodiversity (CP4) of “no net loss” and 

the more recent National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs 

174(d) and 179(b) which encourages BNG, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

adopted a de facto policy of requiring 10% BNG for all new development in 

2019 and so as one of the early adopters has helped shape the final technical 

guidance and developed some expertise in BNG.  TWBC included in the 

drafting of its emerging Local Plan a specific BNG policy (EN 9) requiring at 

least 10% biodiversity net gain. 

 

4. To support the requirement for BNG and ensure that development was not 

frustrated by a lack of off-site provision where this was justified the Council 

needed an interim project for the provision of off-site BNG. 

 

5. In 2019 Cabinet (Cabinet report CAB61/19 12 September 2019) approved the 

Councils Interim Biodiversity Net Gain project utilising Council owned 

woodland to make up any shortfall in biodiversity Units that developers were 

unable to achieve on site to provide a 10% BNG. The approved 

recommendations of that report (paragraph 4.6) were: 

Page 174

Appendix B



 

 

“1. Continue to negotiate with applicants as necessary seeking 

contributions for a scheme of biodiversity offsetting on Council owned 

woodland with any other secured funds to go towards the establishing 

of a borough/county scheme. 

2. Upon receipt of sufficient funding through S106 agreements for 

biodiversity offsetting: 

i) KHWP would be instructed to prepare the necessary management 

plans and programmes of work for the Council owned woodland to 

achieve net gains for biodiversity in consultation with key stakeholders 

ii) A consultant would be appointed to undertake work on devising a 

local scheme of biodiversity offsetting in support of the emerging Local 

Plan” 

 

6. Since the adoption of that approach and in line with available guidance, 

developers have been challenged to deliver BNG on sites and only where that 

is not possible, to provide any shortfall off-site.  Most developers were able to 

provide BNG on site but for those the who could not do so they were offered 

the opportunity to purchase Biodiversity Units off-site from the Council under 

the interim scheme. The price per area biodiversity unit was set at the 

midpoint between the highest and lowest predicted or available prices at 

£18,000 per Biodiversity Unit. 

 

7. It has taken some time for that policy to take effect and for any significant 

funds to come through the planning process but sufficient funds were in place 

at the end of 2022 to commence the project with the prospect of more 

development to come.  

 

8. As of July 2023 the funds collected for BNG under the interim project total 

£59,271.76 and a further £160,200 is agreed under signed S106 agreements 

but the these projects which have planning consent have not yet been 

implemented. In total this commits the Council to potentially providing 12 area 

biodiversity Units.  There are more applications under consideration that may 

also require the interim project between now and November 2023. 

 

9. The project commenced with the Kent Wildlife Trust Consultancy Services 

(KWT) and the Kent High Weald Partnership (KHWP) being commissioned to 

undertake a baseline assessment, provide indications of likely net gain and 

costs and to provide an initial management plan(s). These initial assessments 

by KWT (Appendix A) show the potential gains that might be achieved as 

follows: 

 

Page 175

Appendix B



 

 

Site Baseline 
Biodiversity 
Area Units 

Possible 
Biodiversity 
Area Units 
Following 
Improvements 

Possible 
Increase in 
Biodiversity 
Area Units 

Percentage 
increase in 
Biodiversity 
Units 

Marshley 
Harbour Woods 

306.72 338.89 32.17 10% 

Snipe and 
Bassets Woods 

153.52 166.23 12.71 8% 

High Woods 117.97 119.18 1.2 1% 

   46.08 19% 

 

10. The work by KWT also suggests that this may in the future provide an income 

stream based on a suggested price of £22,000 per area biodiversity Unit. 

However this is indicative price only and more detailed costing and surveys 

are required to test these assumptions.  This more detailed work will also be 

necessary if the Council agree to placing the land that is in the interim scheme 

into a long term government approved scheme for BNG. 

 

11. Extreme caution is needed with regarding forecasting future costs and 

incomes as the gains in biodiversity need to be sustained over a minimum 

period of 30 years and the costs and incomes being market dependent will 

fluctuate during that time. 

 

12. The KHWP have been commissioned to prepare this initial Management Plan 

for the Council owned woodlands together with a program to implement the 

proposed works including targeted actions for BNG enhancements with the 

aim of meeting the Councils existing commitments for the supply of BNG 

Units. As part of this work the KHWP will become the lead organisation for the 

future woodland management bringing together community, landowners, 

existing contractors, TWBC Officers, consultants and consenting bodies (e.g. 

Forestry Commission and Natural England). 

 

13. This is an interim management plan to be worked up into more detail following 

the further surveys using the latest Defra Metric, community engagement and 

consultation with key stakeholders, the Council Parks department (who have 

overall management responsibility) and their Forestry contractor. 

  

14. The additional work should provide the evidence required, should the council 

wish to do so, to register the land under the Environment Act 2021 and then 

continue to use the site where appropriate for the provision of off-site BNG. It 

also will enable the Council to set out more clearly and accurately the 

management prescriptions required and the necessary tariff per biodiversity 

Unit. 

Page 176

Appendix B



 

 

 

 

CURRENT MANAGEMENT  

  

15. All three woodlands are being actively managed and whilst good 

practice/legislation is being adhered to in terms of landscape and biodiversity 

the principal objectives at present are to maintain safe and productive 

woodlands.  Marshley Harbour and Snipe and Bassets Woods in particular 

contain significant stands of commercial timber requiring the input of a 

commercial forester.  At present these works are contracted to Tillhill Forestry 

and although the timber value brings in some income the woodlands do not 

overall generate sufficient income to cover costs.  

 

16. The Tillhill Annual Report (Appendix B) for the woodlands is contained at 

Appendix B and presents a good overall picture of the woodlands, their 

management and trends in forestry and timber markets.  Whilst there are 

continued threats with regards tree diseases the outlook for markets is 

positive. 

 

17. Snipe and Bassets has also recently been accepted as a Suitable Alternative 

Natural Green Space (SANGS) by Natural England and will have sperate 

access improvements funded by development.  Care will be needed to ensure 

that there is no conflict in meeting the objectives of both BNG and SANGS but 

this is something that a detailed management plan will address.  

 

18. Management at High Woods largely falls to the KHWP who carry out minor 

habitat works each year with volunteers and engage a local woodland 

contractor to coppice sections of sweet chestnut annually at full cost recovery. 

This excludes the compartments identified for additional BNG. 

 

19. The Current status of the woodlands with regards woodland grant 

schemes/stewardships schemes is as follows: 

 

Woodland Scheme  End date 

Marshley Harbour Woods Awaiting input from TillHill  

Snipe and Bassets 
Woods 

Awaiting input from TillHill  

High Woods Awaiting input from TillHill  

 

 

Page 177

Appendix B



 

 

20. In addition, the Council has historical surveys and woodland data reports 

however whilst useful none of these provide sufficient information to enable a 

baseline for the Defra Metric to be completed which uses specific habitat 

classifications and condition scoring. It is only by improving the habitat type or 

condition score within the metric that gains in biodiversity can be 

demonstrated. 

 

 

 

MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS 

 

21. As noted above the initial work by KWT (Appendix A) has provided sufficient 

information to inform an initial work program that will deliver a quantifiable 

number of biodiversity area Units. 

 

22. In addition to delivering the biodiversity Units interventions for BNG must work 

hand in hand with forestry management/timber harvesting.  This will require 

the basic woodland management plans to be reviewed and updated. In 

addition, all three woodlands have public access and designation for 

landscape and wildlife and so consultation will be needed with statutory 

consultees and key stakeholders including local communities. 

 

23. Interventions to improve biodiversity and achieve BNG are relatively 

straightforward but can be costly/time consuming and need a sustained action 

over long periods but these can also be combined with improvements for 

public access.  These include: 

 

• Control of invasive plants 

• Creation of glades and rides 

• Improved structural and species diversity 

• Infrastructure improvements to improve the efficiency of woodland 

management and tree growth such as haul roads and drainage. 

 

24. Set out below are the initial prescriptions/interventions that will deliver 

sufficient BNG units to meet the Councils current commitments i.e. at least 12 

Units and the required additional management inputs. These will need to be 

refined following the further surveys and potentially modified following 

experience and monitoring to ensure that the gains expected are delivered 

and that costs are realistic and to adapt plans to respond to local/community 

issues. 

 

25. These initial works will focus largely on Snipe and Bassets Wood and High 

Woods as they have the potential to deliver 13.9 units with relatively simple 

Page 178

Appendix B



 

 

interventions.  Work by the KHWP and contractors to develop and take 

forward the management plan and works required in years 1 to 5 are set out 

in the tables below. Costs are very much estimated at this stage but will be 

reviewed at the end of year 1. 

 

Proposed strategic works Who When Estimated 
Costs 

Year 1 Project set up and coordination  KHWP Year 1 £1650 

Project management years 2-5 KHWP Year 2-5 (£825pa) 

£3,300 

Consultation with stakeholders and 
community (1 event @ High Woods, 2 events 
@ S&B Wood, 3 events @ MH Wood). Cost 
includes publicity and reporting. 

KHWP Year 1 £3,500 

Management Plan development Snipe and 
Bassetts Wood and High Woods. (cost 
excludes RPA woodland planning grant – this 
will be deducted if sites are eligible) 

KHWP Year 1 £4,500 

Management Plan development for Marshley 
Harbour Woods (further survey work 
required) 

KHWP Year 2 £4,500 

BNG Works (see table below) Various Year 1-5 See below 

Monitoring – habitat works, public opinion, 
contractor performance, health and safety, 
and accessibility (for Snipe and Bassetts 
Wood and High Woods) 

KHWP Year 1-5 (£825pa) 

£4,125 

Total year 1 to 5   £21,575 

 

 

 

Proposed Short Term BNG Prescriptions (years 1 to 5): 

Prescription Location Who When Costs  Add. 
Income 
sources 

BNG 
Units* 

Snipe & Bassetts Wood 

Habitat 
enhancements 
to mixed 
deciduous 

Cpts 38-
41,43-
45,47,48, 
53-55,60 

KHWP & 
volunteers 
/ Forestry 
contractor 

Year 
1 to 5 

KHWP – 
(£5,500pa) 
£27,500 

Timber 
income 
to be 
assessed 

8.8 

Page 179

Appendix B



 

 

woodland and 
riparian areas 
by selective 
thinning and 
creation of 
coppicing, 
invasive 
species 
removal, and 
ride zone 
management. 

 (for larger, 
less 
sensitive 
forestry 
works) 

Awaiting 
forestry 
contractor 
costs but 
likely to be 
neutral 
based on 
timber value 

Restoration of 
PAWS areas 
by mixture of 
clearfell and 
gradual 
removal of 
conifer 
species 
(Western 
Hemlock and 
Larch) and 
replace with 
broadleaf 
species 
(restock and 
natural 
regeneration 
with deer 
protection)  

Cpts 
46,56,57  

Forestry 
Contractor 

Year 
1 to 5 

Tillhill -
Awaiting 
info from 
Tilhill but 
likely to 
generate 
positive 
income. 

Timber 
income 
to be 
assessed 

3.2 

Habitat 
enhancements 
to coniferous 
area with 
selective 
thinning, 
felling and 
invasive 
species 
removal 

Cpt 58B 
 

Forestry 
Contractor 

Year 
1 to 5 

Tillhill -
Awaiting 
info from 
Tilhill but 
likely to be 
neutral cost 

Timber 
income 
to be 
assessed  

0.7 

High Woods 

Enhancement 
of woodland 
habitat by 
removing 
invasive 
species and 
carrying out 

Cpt 2, 2A 
High 
Woods 

KHWP & 
volunteers 
(invasives)/ 
Contractor 
(thinning 
and 
coppicing) 

Year 
1 to 5 

KHWP – 
(£1375pa) 
 £6,850 
Contractor 
nil (cost 
covered by 
timber – to 

Value of 
timber to 
be 
assessed  

1.2 

Page 180

Appendix B



 

 

coppicing and 
thinning  

be 
confirmed) 

Marshley Harbour Woods 

Works at this 
site are 
subject to 
further BNG 
assessment 
and survey 
work. 

TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC 

Total BNG Units £34,350  13.9 

Total Estimated Costs Year 1 to 5    

 

*The BNG units are the total available if works are carried out to all compartments 

listed. 

Note – costs are estimated at time of reporting and maybe subject to change due to 

inflation, commercial timber value fluctuations, etc. 

 

26. As can be seen from the tables above the anticipated total expenditure to 

establish the project and deliver the required 13.9 Biodiversity Units is 

£55,925.00. Once established subsequent years, remembering that the gains 

must be maintained for 30 years in total, should be less costly and investment 

in infrastructure should improve viability for timber extraction.  

 

27. As noted in paragraph 8 above the Council has already collected £59,271.76 

for the interim BNG project and has the prospect of a further £160,200 subject 

to all developments with off site BNG being implemented. This sum would 

provide an annual resource for continued woodland management over the 

subsequent 25 years of £6,408 which although annual spend would fluctuate. 

This is considered sufficient when taking into account existing regime for 

woodland management to maintain the BNG value for the required period. 

 

28. There is of course the prospect of a further 30+ BNG units at Marshley 

Harbour Woods which if realised would improve overall viability of the project.  

The price of these units would be set following the further work and will if 

necessary be marketed at a higher price. 

 

 

Monitoring 

 

29. As noted above this is very much an initial proposal that will need to be 

reviewed and developed. The first review should be a full review towards the 

end of year one so that it can inform works for year two. A further review at 

Page 181

Appendix B



 

 

year two will should enable the plan to be refined and provided that all is 

going well further annual reviews should be through the production of an 

annual report setting out: 

 

• Progress on the works 

• Annual costs and expenditure 

• Any notable problems or changes  

• Projected costs and income over the lifetime of the project (25years) 

 

30. These annual reports will be subject to approval from the head of Planning 

and the relevant member for Cabinet. 

 

 

Draft v01 15/08/2023 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Kent Wildlife Trust Initial Assessments Marshley Harbour Woods, Snipe 

& Bassetts Woods and High Woods. 

Appendix B: Tillhill Annual Report  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182

Appendix B



 

 

Appendix A: Kent Wildlife Trust Initial Assessments Marshley Harbour Woods, Snipe 

& Bassetts Woods and High Woods. 

 

Page 183

Appendix B



 

 
 

 

BNG Report with Outline 

Management Recommendations 

Marshley Harbour Woods 

  

 

 

 

Site area: 33.1 ha

Marshley Harbour Woods is the largest of the three project sites in Tunbridge Wells. The 

majority of this site consists of ancient semi-natural woodland, with mixed broadleaved 

species and a conifer high forest. Scot’s pine parcels are found on the northern and southern 

edges of the site. Only a small area of deciduous woodland is in good condition, the rest of 

the site’s habitats are currently in poor or moderate ecological condition, including the two 

small grassland habitats. 

 

Figure 1. Map of Marshley Harbour Woods. 

 

The proposed management changes are estimated to produce a total net gain of 32.17 BNG 

units (10.49% gain) across all habitats. The existing coniferous forest will be removed and 

replaced by mixed deciduous woodland (natural regeneration), resulting in a net BNG gain of 

18.48 units for the total deciduous woodland area. Scot’s pine forest areas will be enhanced 

from poor to moderate condition (5.36 ha) and from moderate to good condition (1.2 ha), 

generating a net gain of 11.86 units. Ecological condition is also expected to improve in 

grassland habitats, modified grassland will be enhanced to good condition from moderate, 

and dry acid grassland will reach moderate condition from its previous poor state. Total 
Page 184

Appendix B



 

 

 

 

 

grassland BNG will increase by 1.83 units. Cyclic coppice, selective thinning, invasive 

species control and  clear felling to encourage heathland are some proposals that are 

expected to increase biodiversity and ecological conditions of the Marshley Harbour habitats. 

Table 1 summarises this process.  

Assuming a price of £22,000 per BNG unit, interventions are expected to generate a total 

income of £707,740. A detailed cashflow is shown below (Table 2), with a final project 

balance of £493,250. 

Table 1. Summary proposed management and estimated BNG units before and after intervention. 

Habitat Proposed Management 
Baseline 
BNG units 

Post-
intervention 
BNG units 

BNG 
units net 
gain 

Modified 
grassland 

• Cyclic chestnut coppice 

• Selective thinning 

• Replace conifer high forest with broadleaved 
species (natural regeneration) 

• Invasive species control 

• Clear and selective felling to promote 
heathland and lower plant cover 

• Enhance long-term ecological integrity 

2.99 4.22 
1.23 

Lowland 
dry acid 
grassland 

3.06 3.66 0.6 

Mixed 
deciduous 
woodland 

255.09 
283.41 

(*coniferous 
woodland 

transitions to 
deciduous) 

18.48 

*Coniferous 
woodland 

9.84 

Scot’s pine 
woodland 

35.74 47.6 11.86 

TOTAL 306.72  338.89  32.17 

 

Table 2. Cashflows expected from proposed interventions over 30 years. 

 Year 1 Year 10 Year 20 Year 30 Total 

Annual Costs £49,541 £24,563 £34,872 £6,268 
£214,490 

Cumulative Costs £49,541 £98,709 £165,018 £214,490 

Total Income £707,740 

Project Balance £658,199 £609,031 £542,722 £493,250 £493,250 

 

Page 185

Appendix B



 

 

 

 

BNG Report with Management 

Recommendations 

Basset’s and Snipe Wood 

  

 

 

 

Total Area: 15 ha

This woodland is primarily composed of a mix of species including oak, ash, sweet chestnut, 

cherry, birch regeneration, beech, western hemlock, larch and pine; arranged in three types 

of woodland: coniferous, lowland mixed deciduous and Scot’s pine woodland. Figure 1 

presents the distribution of these habitats in the wider area.   

 

Figure 1. Map of Basset's and Snipe Wood 

The proposed management changes are estimated to produce a total net gain of 12.71 BNG 

units (8.28% gain) across all habitats. The majority of the mixed deciduous woodland is 

currently in moderate ecological condition, with a smaller area in poor condition. The 

suggested management should enhance the habitat to at least one higher condition level, 

and create an additional 3.8 ha of deciduous woodland, resulting in a total of 12.6 ha of 

woodland in good condition and a 2.3 ha in moderate condition, which will overall generate a 

net gain of 11.99 BNG units.  

Woodland areas where western hemlock is currently present (coniferous habitat) will be 

removed in order to allow for natural regeneration to create the new deciduous woodland 

area. The remaining coniferous woodland will be enhanced from poor to moderate condition, 

Page 186

Appendix B



 

 

 

resulting in 0.72 BNG units net gain. Selective thinning, felling and invasive species 

control are the primary management proposals to drive the ecological 

enhancements. 

Below, Table 1 summarises this process. Assuming a price of £22,000 per BNG unit, 

the proposed interventions are expected to generate a total income of £230,120. A 

detailed cashflow is shown below (Table 2), with a final project balance of £76,506. 

 

Table 1. Summary proposed management and estimated BNG units before and after intervention. 

Habitat 
Baseline 
BNG units 

Proposed Management 
Post-
intervention 
BNG Units 

BNG 
net gain 

Coniferous 
Woodland 

1.76 • Selective thinning or broadleaved 
species 

• Replace western hemlock with 
broadleaved species (natural 
regeneration) 

• Clear and selective felling to promote 
heathland and lower plant cover 

• Non-native species control 

• Enhance long-term ecological integrity 

2.48 
0.72 

Mixed 
Deciduous 
Woodland 

146.54 158.53 11.99 

Scot’s 
Pine 
Woodland 

5.22 5.22 0 

 

Table 2. Cashflows expected from proposed interventions over 30 years. 

 Year 1 Year 10 Year 20 Year 30 Total 

Annual Costs £25,254 £12,664 £19,290 £6,509 
£153,614 

Cumulative Costs £25,254 £55,378 £105,191 £153,614 

Total Income £230,120 

Project Balance £204,866 £174,742 £124,929 £76,506 £76,506 

 

Page 187

Appendix B



 

  

 

BNG Report with Outline 

Management Recommendations 

High Woods 

 

  

 

 

 

Total Area: 10.22 ha

This ancient semi-natural woodland is divided in a western area of modified grassland and a 

lowland mixed deciduous woodland. Chestnut, oak and hazel are the dominant species, with 

some invasive species throughout the woodland.  

 

Figure 1. Map of High Woods. 

The majority of the woodland area is in good condition. No habitat transitions are necessary 

in High Woods, only enhancement of the grassland and those woodland areas in poor and 

moderate condition. Removal of invasive species and regular woodland maintenance (e.g. 

thinning, coppice) are the key management proposals to generate the uplift. Table 1 

represents a summary of this. 

The proposed management changes are estimated to produce a total net gain of 6.59 BNG 

units (5.25% gain) across both habitats, most coming from modified grassland enhancement 

(5.39 units), which is expected to improve from poor to moderate ecological condition. The 

woodland will only generate a net gain of 1.2 BNG units due to most of it being in good 

condition initially, only a minor area will need to be enhanced from poor to moderate (0.32 

ha) and from moderate to good condition (0.76 ha). 

Page 188

Appendix B



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B: Tillhill Annual Report  

 

 

Assuming a price of £22,000 per BNG unit, interventions are expected to generate a total 

income of £144,980. A detail cashflow is shown below (Table 2), with a final project balance 

of £86,519. 

Table 1. Summary proposed management and estimated BNG units before and after intervention. 

Habitat 
Baseline 
BNG units 

Proposed Management 
Post-
intervention 
BNG Units 

BNG net 
gain 

Modified 
grassland 

7.7 • Coppiced on a cyclic bases and at different 
ages (structural diversity) 

• Selective broadleaf thinning 

• Invasive species control 

• Maintenance of footpaths, archaeological 
sites and vehicle access points 

13.09 
5.39 

Mixed 
Deciduous 
Woodland 

117.97 119.18 1.2 

 

Table 2. Cashflows expected from proposed interventions over 30 years. 

 Year 1 Year 10 Year 20 Year 30 Total 

Annual Costs £9,498 £3,614 £4,361 £3,046 
£58,461 

Cumulative Costs £9,498 £27,853 £42,312 £58,461 

Total Income £144,980 

Project Balance £135,482 £117,127 £102,668 £86,519 £86,519 

 

Page 189

Appendix B



   

 
 
 
 
 

Annual Report  

Pembury Woodlands  
Marshley Harbour, High Wood, Bassetts & Snipe 

2022/2023 

Location:  Tunbridge Wells, Kent 

Area:  84.5 ha 

Owner:  Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  

Period:  01 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 

Prepared by:  Tom Bailey 

Tilhill Region: Southern England  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 190

Appendix B



   

 

 

Version 7   

Date of issue: 20 December 2022  Page 2 of 6 
 

Overview of the Year 
 
It has been a quiet year at Pembury Woods which has seen work undertaken to ensure compliance 

with Countryside Stewardship. Sweet chestnut coppicing has continued in compartment 11a. The 

coppiced stools have already started to re-grow and show signs of vigour throughout.  

 

There were multiple new mountain bike jumps and ramps constructed, and these were cleared 

as per the client instruction.  

 

There has also been a notable spread of Gaultheria within compartments 10a and 10b, therefore 

chemical weeding is proposed for the coming year to supress the spread.  

 

Financial Report 
 

Please see the Client Property Report on page 6. 

 

Operations 
 
Income 
 

Countryside Stewardship Scheme 

The Countryside Stewardship annual payment of £4,872.00 is paid directly to Tunbridge Wells 

Borough Council (TWBC) and does not pass through the Tilhill system. 

 

Timber Income 

The predicted timber harvesting in Basset and Snipes wood did not happen over the course of the 

financial year of 2022/23 and therefore there was no timber income for this year. The timber 

harvesting has been proposed to the coming year. 

 

Expenditure 
 
Forest Management 

Ongoing woodland management, supervision and administration of operations and site visits to 

achieve the management objectives set out in accordance with industry best practice as defined 

by the UK Forestry Standard and to achieve the current management objectives and Countryside 

Stewardship objectives. 

 

Timber Operations Management 

This cost centre covered the time required to organise, administer, and supervise the coppicing 

at Marshley Harbour; income will be received in the new financial year. 
 

Restock Planting 

The restocking in Cpt 18a has not been carried out and this cost centre will be carried over into 

the next financial year.   

 

Property Maintenance  

Bicycle jumps had been built within the woodland and were therefore removed during the course 

of the year. 

 

Ride Maintenance 

Mowing at Marshley Harbour was undertaken together with the annual ride mowing of the main 

footpaths in line with the Countryside Stewardship Agreement. 

 

Advisory 

This cost centre was used to produce a report to review the biodiversity opportunities across the 

woodlands as requested by the Client.  

Page 191

Appendix B



   

 

 

Version 7   

Date of issue: 20 December 2022  Page 3 of 6 
 

Your Objectives in Owning the Property 
 
Please read through the management objectives below. These have been taken from the updated 

Woodland Management Plan and aim to deliver a more concise management strategy. 

 

- Maintain the woodland as a commercial asset 

- Maintain a safe recreational environment for users of the woodlands  

- Control non-native invasive plant species  

- Encourage understorey development of native broadleaf species and flora 

- Manage the woodlands to support local woodland workers 

 

The Year Ahead 
 

Income 
 
Countryside Stewardship Scheme 

The fourth annual payment for the Countryside Stewardship WD2 was claimed in April of this year, 

with funds likely to be in your account in December 2023. This money will be used to help aid all 

below forestry operations within the woodland in line with the Countryside Stewardship 

obligations. 

 

Timber Income 

It is planned to carry out conifer harvesting operations in Bassetts and Snipe Woods. It is hoped 

that a shutdown can be arranged with UK Power Networks for the overhead powerline that 

dissects the wood. Western hemlock will be clear felled in two strips from the side of the powerline 

to boost return, whilst improving line safety. Furthermore, there is potential to start coppicing 

compartments 22a and 26b.  

 
Expenditure 
 
Forest Management 

Ongoing woodland management, regulation and administration of operations to achieve the 

management objectives set out in the Woodland Management Plan in accordance with industry 

best practice as defined by the UK Forestry Standard and the Countryside Stewardship Scheme. 

 

Restock Planting 

Compartment 18a will be restocked within the planting season between October 2023 and 

February 2024. 

 

CS Capital Grant for Loading Bay 

It is proposed to apply for funding in the form of the Countryside Stewardship Capital Grant to 

mitigate the cost of the creation of a loading bay at the hospital side of Marshley Harbour. 

Therefore, this cost centre represents the cost of the application and potential planning permission 

needed for the creation of this woodland asset.  

 

CS – Grant Application for Countryside Stewardship 

The cost associated with applying for a five year grant through Countryside Stewardship in the 

form of WD2.  

 

Mountain Biking Licence Management and Creation 

The estimated costs for the creation of a mountain biking licence for the woodland. The 

management and designation of the route will be in line with Client requirements; including an 

annual report on the route and site visits to ensure this route is being adhered to and is not 

infringing on the access rights across the property.  

 

 

Page 192

Appendix B



   

 

 

Version 7   

Date of issue: 20 December 2022  Page 4 of 6 
 

Property Maintenance Mowing 

This cost code covers mowing at Marshley Harbour and annual mowing will be carried out across 

the main footpaths.  

 

Woodland Management Plan Submission 

A review and submission of the Woodland Management Plan for Marshley Harbour, Basset and 

Snipes and High Wood.  

 

Chemical Spraying – Gaultheria shallon 

There has been a notable spread of Gaultheria, especially in compartments 10a and 10b. A full 

spread analysis will be undertaken in these compartments and chemical weeding will be 

undertaken during the late spring/summer to supress the spread.  

 

Property Maintenance 

To cover ad-hoc maintenance of all three woodlands as they arise. This includes regular works to 

the parking area at Bassetts and Snipe and path/access maintenance across all woods. It is 

proposed to strim the plantation in late summer and there are new bike jumps which have been 

created in Cpt 10A and an excavator will be needed to remove them. 

 

Timber Operations Management 

This cost centre will cover the time required to organise, administer and supervise the proposed 

harvesting operations across the Marshley Harbour and Bassetts and Snipe woodland properties. 

This cost includes consultation and site meetings with UKPN for powerline shutdowns. 

 

Advisory 

A provisional cost centre to cover any additional projects or operations you may request over the 

course of the next twelve months. 

 

What Do You Need To Do Next? 

 
Review the operations and enclosed budget estimate for 2023/24. If you are happy to proceed, 

please sign and return a copy of the estimate to the Forest Manager: Tom Bailey, Tilhill, 9-10 Mill 

Lane, Alton, Hampshire, GU34 2QG or by email: tom.bailey@tilhill.com  
 

Property Market 
 

Nationally woodland property values have continued to rise during 2021/22. The Tilhill and 

Goldcrest Property Report suggests that on average, values have increased by 10%.    

Transactions are down 3% on 2021 levels. However, this is the third year in a row where 

transactions have totalled around £200m, unprecedented before 2020. 

 

The scene in England is much more sensitive to location and based around smaller, mixed 

woodlands. A standout sale in 2022 was an 85-acre ancient woodland on the edge of Chichester 

which sold for £21,000 per acre. The average sale price was £6,646 per acre, slightly up on last 

year with an average size of 88 acres being traded. Location, access and presentation are key to 

securing potential buyers’ interest.   

 

Timber Market  
 

Following the surge in demand for softwood timber in the face of Covid-19 down time, markets 

began to correct in the last half of 2021. At the same time, clear up from storm Arwen continued 

to generate large volumes of timber for sale and the market saw extensive importing of sawn 

timber. At the beginning of 2022 processors had amassed large stocks of timber and, anticipating 

a strong demand had confidence to build up their stocks of finished goods. However, in February, 

Russia invaded Ukraine, concerns regarding the consequences of war in eastern Europe, global 

inflation and fears of recession conspired to put pressure on domestic economies leading to a 

Page 193

Appendix B



   

 

 

Version 7   

Date of issue: 20 December 2022  Page 5 of 6 
 

reduced demand for sawn timber globally. Processors reacted by reducing sawn timber 

production. Lack of demand has led to a sharp drop in the price of softwood log grade timber.  

 

Whilst the sawn wood market is depressed there is a demand for smaller roundwood. Russia 

supplied approximately two million tonnes of wood pellet annually, primarily to the European 

market. Sanctions imposed against Russia mean this supply is no longer available. The 

consequence is a massive demand for industrial roundwood to supply the energy and pulp 

markets.   

 

The UK domestic hardwood market is in better shape. Demand for good parcels of oak remain 

strong. Demand for beech is increasing, provided the grade is correct.  Prices for firewood have 

crept up this year on the back of extraordinarily strong demand. 

 

Whilst the prices for standing timber market lies well below unprecedented values achieved during 

the pandemic, it is worth noting that prices are high and equivalent in comparison to those three 

to four years ago. With a drive to decarbonise the economy and the processing sector continuing 

to invest, it seems logical that the long-term demand for timber will remain healthy.  

 

Tree Health (General) – Southern England 
 

The spread of the eight – toothed spruce bark beetle (Ips typographus) is confined to a 

demarcated area in the southeast. The pest is being controlled by enforced felling and regulations 

regarding the transportation and processing of infected material. The impact of Ash Dieback 

disease is sadly becoming more apparent in the countryside. It is noteworthy that infected ash 

become unstable and represent a liability to owners where the trees are situated close to roads 

or areas of public use.  

 

Surveillance has identified findings of Phytophthora pluvialis at 31 woodland sites across Great 

Britain since commencing in September last year. The majority of these findings are on Western 

hemlock, and in most cases, affected sites consist of a small number of infected trees forming 

part of the understorey. In other cases, findings are limited to individual young trees with partial 

branch dieback. Findings in Douglas fir have been fewer and are usually associated with heavier 

Western hemlock infection.  

 

The impact of the disease would seem to be far less than was first feared. However, vigilance 

remains. Work is ongoing within the industry to understand the full range of symptoms across a 

range of species to assess the potential impacts that the disease may have. 

 

Future Outlook 
 

Interest in forestry assets remains, despite the geopolitical situation and the economic malaise. 

The medium-term outlook for domestic timber remains strong.  Expectations are that the use of 

timber will increase as a low carbon material. Where timber remains unmatched, is having a 

proven model that sequesters carbon.  Planting for carbon credits is gaining momentum and has 

the potential to provide outsized returns.  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 194

Appendix B



   

 

 

Version 7   

Date of issue: 20 December 2022  Page 6 of 6 
 

Client Property Report 
 

 

Page 195

Appendix B



 

Page  

1 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service 

Level Agreement 2024-2027  

For Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Hugo Pound, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development (s151 Officer)  

Head of Service: Carlos Hone, Head of Planning Services 

Report Author: David Scully, Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 17 July 2023 

Portfolio Holder 18 July 2023 

Planning Policy Working Group 01 August 2023 

Planning and Transportation Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

04 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Draft Service Level Agreement (SLA) between Tunbridge Wells 

Borough Council (TWBC) and the Kent High Weald Partnership (KHWP) be 

approved. 

2. That the Draft Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) between Kent County Council 

(KCC) and TWBC governing the operations of the Kent High Weald Partnership 

be approved. 

3. That the Head of Planning Services and Cabinet Member for Housing and 

Planning be given delegated authority to make minor amendments and sign on 

behalf of TWBC the SLA and MoA in 1 and 2 above. 

4. That the funding for the Kent High Weald Partnership for the period 01 April 

2024 to 31 March 2027 be set at £76,194.50 annually subject to the setting of 

the Councils annual budget. 

Page 196

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

2 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 The Kent High Weald Partnership (KHWP) has been working on behalf of the 

borough for 22 years. Although the KHWP exists as a semi-independent 

organisation under a formal partnership agreement between KCC and TWBC 

they operate only within Tunbridge Wells Borough and so are effectively what 

other authorities might have as Countryside Management Teams or Countryside 

Rangers.  

1.2 The KHWP is one of nine such partnerships which together cover the whole of 

Kent.  The KHWP are unique amongst these in that they work in a single 

borough. Whilst “High Weald” is included in their name they work across the 

whole borough which encompasses High and Low Weald Landscapes and they 

are totally separate from and unrelated to the High Weald AONB Unit. 

1.3 Their operation is funded by financial contributions from TWBC and KCC with 

further in-kind contributions from KCC (line management and other support) and 

a range of agreements with other bodies such as Parish and Town Councils and 

external grants.  

1.4 Core funding from TWBC is provided under a Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

which ensures value for money and support for corporate priorities.  

1.5 Both the agreement with KCC, which takes the form of a Memorandum of 

Agreement (MoA) and the SLA need to be renewed as they expired in 2022. The 

purpose of this report is to seek agreement to the new MoA and SLA which are 

attached to this report at Appendices A and B, and to seek agreement to the 

level of financial contribution provided by TWBC for the period of the SLA which 

will cover the period 01 April 2024 to 31 March 2027. 

2. The Kent High Weald Partnership               
Home - Kent High Weald (khwp.org.uk) 

2.1 The KHWP is a team of seven, based in the walled garden at Bedgebury 

Pinetum, operating from a portacabin. This location is central to the Borough, 

supports the semi-independent status of the partnership and has enabled them 

to build a strong relationship with Bedgebury Pinetum developing a successful 

on-site Forest Schools education and training program. 

2.2 Their work falls into three themes of Community, Nature and Land: 

 

COMMUNITY Education, volunteering, health and wellbeing 

Page 197

Agenda Item 16

https://khwp.org.uk/


 

Page  

3 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

NATURE Protecting and improving biodiversity 

LAND Caring for the landscapes and Nature Conservation sites of the 

Borough 

 

2.3 Some work supports all three themes such as the volunteer groups they organise 

and lead.  A strong element of the volunteer programme is that it is open to 

anyone and everyone and requires no commitment making it one of the most 

accessible programmes available. The volunteer work is important to the 

individuals involved for their own sense of wellbeing and physical activity but also 

helps build community cohesion, helps with land management and improves 

sites for biodiversity (e.g., habitat management) and accessibility (e.g., 

boardwalk construction). 

2.4 The Partnership typically deliver around 100 to 120 volunteer days a year. 

Assuming 10 volunteers to each event and attributing a value to their work of 

£100 each this places a value on the work done by volunteer staff mostly on the 

Councils estate of £100k to £120k per year. 

2.5 Under Community there are conventional projects with schools and community 

groups but as requested by TWBC the partnership has looked to use the green 

spaces of the borough as part of what is known as ‘green prescribing’ to support 

those with mental health issues. Examples of this include: 

• Supporting families in crisis through our therapeutic family forest school 

programme ‘Forest Time’ 

• Providing horticultural therapy at our community allotment to adults with 

poor mental health or learning difficulties 

• Supporting adults suffering poor mental health and social isolation via our 

online Live Well Kent “Connect with Nature” programme 

• Providing nature connection support at our community allotment for NHS 

psychiatric patients and their support workers 

 

2.6 The Partnership works closely with the Parks team taking responsibility for 

several sites or parts of sites or being asked to undertake specific projects and 

they are also contracted by Parish and Town Councils to manage their own sites 

dealing with residents, volunteers, friends of groups, contractors, and statutory 

bodies. These sites include: 

Hilbert Woods LNR 

Barnetts Wood LNR 

Crane Valley LNR 

Sherwood Lake and Woodland Village Green 

Cinder Hill LWS 

Reynolds Lane LWS 

Southborough Common 

Page 198

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

4 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

Dunorlan Park 

Grosvenor and Hilbert Park 

 

2.7 They also work on an ad hoc basis on other sites to undertake conservation, 

access, and community projects. They are also engaged on new significant 

projects for TWBC as detailed in Section 4 of this report. The KHWP Annual 

Report 2021-2022 is provided in Appendix C and provides more detailed 

information on outcomes on an annual basis. 

2.8 The partnership supports corporate projects like Britain in Bloom and have 

consistently responded to requests for support for new and emerging corporate 

projects including new environmental initiatives such as Biodiversity Net Gain. 

2.9 The Partnership was subject to a full review in 2018 by officers from across the 

Council looking at outcomes, value for money and funding with a particular remit 

to consider reductions in funding. That review recommended a 10% reduction in 

core funding fixed for three years looking within that period for the KHWP to 

prepare a new business plan, consider new structures and other sources of 

funding to reduce its future reliance on core funding from the Council.   

2.10 Some of the work required by the KHWP has stalled owing to COVID and the 

loss of two managers and some difficulties in staffing.  A new manager is now in 

place and the Partnership is fully staffed but those issues have required the 

timetable for that work to be re-set for this SLA period. This is further explained in 

section 4.0. 

3. Funding 

3.1 The turnover for the project in 2022-23 was £301,650 and in 2021-2022 was 

£317,299. 

3.2 TWBCs current annual contribution of Core Funding is £62,550 which is a 

reduction of 10% from 2021-2022 and a significant reduction in actual and real 

terms from the £81,750 that was agreed in 2008-09. 

3.3 The KHWP receives other variable funding from TWBC, mainly from the Parks 

Service for particular projects and a further annual £6,000 is provided specifically 

for Sherwood Lake and Woodland as it is an additional burden. 

3.4 The Partnership is occasionally the recipient or beneficiary of S106 funds 

secured through planning permissions and provided in order that the Partnership 

may carry out specific works required to mitigate development. Usually this will 

be on a cost recovery basis but may often have benefits to site conservation 

work. 

3.5 KCC also provide core funding at the current level of £11,900 per year which has 

been a standstill budget for some years. In addition, KCC are the employer 

providing line management which includes items such as IT and HR support, 

legal services, and training. KCC has recently calculated the cost of this to be 

Page 199

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

5 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

equivalent to £79,803 per year with a share of the line managers cost 

apportioned between their responsibilities being around £9k. 

3.6 On behalf of TWBC the Landscape and Biodiversity Officer oversees the work of 

the partnership, but this is a relatively small part of his overall responsibilities and 

compliments the work that arises from development. 

3.7 Grants from external bodies are the other main source of income. This includes 

grants associated with management of Council owned land (countryside 

stewardship, woodland management grants) and grants for capital improvement 

works such as access improvements and grants for activities around education, 

conservation, and wellbeing. 

3.8 As a measure of value for money the Council has in the past contrasted the core 

funding, now at £62,550 with the annual turnover of over £300,000 to show that 

for every £1 of core funding provided by TWBC this achieves £4+ of other 

funding to support their activity in the Borough. 

3.9 The pandemic presented a considerable challenge to the Partnership and 

unfortunately this was coupled with an unstable period of management (2 

managers in two years). The Partnership is now on a stable footing under new 

and very positive management but faces considerable financial and operational 

challenges. 

3.10 The funding regime for land management in the UK is going through a seismic 

change following Brexit with land managers experiencing continued delays and a 

lack of clarity in the transition to the new regimes making longer term decisions 

difficult. This has been exacerbated by delays and changes in other regimes 

such as biodiversity net gain and protected species licensing. 

3.11 The Partnership survived the COVID Pandemic without any additional support, 

but reserves are now low because of the pandemic and from securing the long-

term security and renewal of the office accommodation at Bedgebury. Whilst the 

Partnership has grasped opportunities for new lines of income some of these will 

take time to mature and become established and in addition the funding 

mechanisms for land management remain uncertain and grant applications have 

generally become more challenging and timescales for delivery shorter.  

3.12 As noted above core funding has been reduced significantly over the past 

decade whilst output and outcomes have remained high. Inevitably that cannot 

be sustained unless new sources of income are found, or core funding is 

increased. Added to this is the recent inflationary pressure. As an example, the 

pay award from KCC for 2023 has resulted in a salary bill increase of £11,600 

which amounts to a real cost of £14,779. This alone is more than a 20% increase 

in costs over the TWBC core funding. Management at KCC will be trying to make 

a case for increasing the budget for all Countryside Management Partnerships 

across Kent to cover inflationary increases such as salary but will no doubt 

expect TWBC to make a similar case and equal contribution. 

3.13 Works funded by the Parks team are a key part of the income but are also an 

important part of the successful management of the boroughs Green Spaces. 

Page 200

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

6 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

Replacing KHWP with contractors is likely to significantly inflate costs and/or 

result in a reduction of positive outcomes. In the 2018 review it was estimated 

that replacing the work that KHWP do with contractors would cost the Council an 

additional £50,000 and would not provide the added benefits that KHWP do 

provide. 

4. Current Issues and Trends 

4.1 As noted above the partnership consistently and positively responds to new 

challenges and priorities set by the Council working with the Parks team, 

Planning department and Health team. 

4.2 The Planning department are using Council owned woodland to deliver a 

Biodiversity Net Gain project that helps enable development under the 

Environment Act.  This requires a new management approach and management 

plan underpinned by engagement with the local community. The Partnership with 

some support from consultants is key to the delivery of this work which has a 

minimum commitment of 30 years.  This work will be funded solely by S106 

contributions and has the possibility of drawing in further income through the 

trading of biodiversity credits and has already resulted in over £100,000 being 

secured by TWBC. Using KHWP on such projects minimises input from Council 

staff in procurement and project management and allows for a rapid response 

with greater flexibility. 

4.3 The Planning department have also recently agreed a scheme of local mitigation 

under the Habitat Regulations required for a small number of developments 

within the 7km Zone of influence for Ashdown Forest. The work involves access 

improvements, way marking and on-site interpretation with current works 

planned up to £18K with a possibility of going up to £70k.  KHWP can devise the 

details and deliver the majority of this project requiring minimal oversight or input 

from Council officers.  Again, this work will be fully funded by developer 

contributions but the flexibility and rapid response from KHWP has enabled 

development to be approved which otherwise would have been delayed whilst 

designs, tenders and contracts were put in place. 

4.4 Sherwood Lake and Woodlands has recently been transferred into the ownership 

of the Council.  Under an agreement with Town and Country Housing two thirds 

of the expecting running costs (£18,000pa) have been secured but the remainder 

must be sought through grant applications.  KHWP have taken on this role and 

will be working on securing regular funding through woodland grant schemes and 

smaller one-off project grants but will also look to develop a larger more strategic 

bid now that ownership is secured. Again, this is all with minimal input from 

Council Officers. The Partnership have also entered discussions with the 

adjoining landowner to Sherwood Lake and Woodland with a view to pooling 

resources and as a way of securing additional income for management and 

activities across the wider area. 

Page 201

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

7 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

4.5 The work of the KHWP will be a key element of the Councils statutory reporting 

on Biodiversity as required under the Environment Act 2021. 

4.6 The Partnership are working with Natural England to deliver strategic mitigation 

for Great Crested Newts under the new District Level Licensing scheme 

constructing ponds for Newts across the Borough. 

4.7 Much of the work that the Partnership does makes a measurable and positive 

contribution to the councils plans to tackle the Climate and Biodiversity 

emergency. This work in this area is likely to increase in coming years. 

4.8 As all these works come fully on stream and as the economic climate becomes 

more stable the financial position and stability of the Partnership should improve 

during the period of the SLA. It is hoped that there will be greater clarity around 

government schemes and funding over the period of this new SLA, during which 

the Partnership will be expected to have prepared a new business plan and 

considered other opportunities for generating income. Financial contributions will 

again be reviewed as part of a new SLA in 2026. 

5. Options Considered 

Option 1: Cease funding and withdraw from the partnership. 

5.1 The Council can of course cease all funding and withdraw from the Partnership 

which is likely to result in the closing of the Partnership and the cessation of the 

work it carries out. This is not considered a viable option without putting in place 

a replacement for those elements of essential work carried out by the 

Partnership on Council owned land or without increased resources for Council 

officers to engage others on projects currently being implemented by the 

Partnership.  

5.2 The Council has a Statutory Duty to manage the Local Nature Reserves which 

were declared under Section 10 of the National Parks and Access to the 

Countryside Act 1949 and should management deteriorate on these or any 

public site that the KHWP assist with as a result of the closure of the Partnership 

then issues around safety, anti-social behaviour and access may arise on those 

sites requiring an immediate commitment of resources or closure.  

5.3 This option is not considered further here as it is beyond the scope of this report 

and would require considerable resources and time to consider properly. 

 

Option 2: Maintain or reduce the level of funding for the Partnership. 

5.4 The indications are that a further reduction in funding coupled with recent 

increases in costs is not sustainable and that the Partnership will have to reduce 

the services it provides and limit some of the work it carries out. This will in turn 

limit the grants it can obtain and the outputs and value for money that the project 

achieves.  This option may result in redundancies and loss of staff at the 

Partnership.  It may also put added pressure on other budgets in the Council and 

Page 202

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

8 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

result in an increase in officer time and resources in Parks and Planning to cover 

any reduction in Service by the Partnership.  

5.5 In particular this is likely to limit the Partnerships ability to respond to requests for 

site interventions and new projects and is most likely to result in a reduction in 

volunteer activity and/or site presence. It will also impact significantly on the 

teams capacity to apply for grants which can be very time consuming. 

 

5.6 A standstill budget may in the context of sustained year on year reductions and 

increased costs have a similar effect but possibly to a lesser extent. 

 

Option 3: Increase funding for the partnership. 

5.7 Under current financial pressures an increase in funding is challenging, but if 

authorised it will enable the Partnership to continue to provide maximum support 

to the Councils projects and ensure continued delivery of services which provide 

exceptional value for money for the Council. Any increase in core funding should 

at least recognise recent increases in costs but should also recognise the 

potential that a well-funded service can bring to supporting the management of 

Council owned sites and other projects.   

5.8 It is suggested that the option for an increase in funding should at least address 

the recent increase in costs.  This can be achieved by an increase in core 

funding by at least 10% (£6,255.00) and that in addition the Council contributes 

half of the cost of the 2023 pay award increase (£7,389.50) which totals a 

£13,644.50 increase, and that this be fixed for the period of the SLA. This would 

set the core funding at £76,194.50. This is very similar to the budget set almost 

10 years ago in 2014 and so still represents a significant reduction in funding 

over the last decade with a considerable increase in 

responsibilities/commitments to the Council. 

6. Preferred Option and Reason 

6.1 Officers strongly recommend Option 3, an increase in funding, to be taken 

forward for the new SLA at the level suggested. Maintaining a well-funded KHWP 

offers clear value for money to the Borough Council and borough more generally. 

Withdrawal from the project would result in; a loss of a contribution to activities in 

the Borough from KCC in funding and in kind of circa £100,000; backfilling the 

work done on behalf of Parks Services with contractors would cost in the region 

of £50,000 (2018 estimate) and result in a loss of added value; there would be a 

significant increase in work load for officers in Planning and Parks to implement 

projects funded by developer contributions and additional resources would need 

to be sought to secure grant funding for the activities and work carried out by 

KHWP on Council owned sites and elsewhere.  

Page 203

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

9 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

6.2 Any further reduction in support, which would include a standstill budget, is likely 

to have a significant effect on the sustainability of the Partnership in its current 

form and a drop in the level of service and support provided by the Partnership 

should be expected if this course of action is taken forward. 

6.3 It is regrettable that the KHWP have not been able to deliver a new business 

plan during the SLA period as expected, but they have survived significant 

external and internal challenges and have seized new opportunities for funding. 

This SLA should do what the previous one intended in enabling a period of 

financial stability to plan more effectively and deliver the required new business 

plan.  It will also ensure that they have the capacity deliver to key projects for the 

Council connected with Biodiversity Net Gain and the Ashdown Forest.  

7. Consultation on Options 

7.1 Discussions with the lead officer for Countryside Management Partnerships at 

KCC has taken place to ensure a similar approach an understanding in both 

organisations.  

7.2 Discussions have been had with the TWBC Parks department to ensure that they 

wish to continue supporting the KHWP and that their position is accurately 

represented. 

7.3 Discussions have been had with the Manager at the KHWP to ensure that this 

report accurately reflects the position of the KHWP. 

7.4 There has been a formal consultation on a draft of this report with the Parks 

Department, Legal and Planning Services.   

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

7.5 The Planning and Transportation Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 04 

September 2023 and agreed that the recommendations set out in the report be 

supported. 

8. Implementation 

8.1 Subject to being formally approved, the SLA and MoA will be signed by the Head of 

Service and Portfolio Holder and the proposed or any other agreed amount of Core 

Funding will be allocated in the Councils budget for 01 April 2024 to 31 March 

2027. 

9. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

Page 204

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

10 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

• Appendix A: Draft Service Level Agreement with KHWP 01 April 2024  

to 31 March 2027 

• Appendix B: Draft MoU with KCC 01 April 2024 to 31 March 2027 

• Appendix C: KHWP Annual Report 2021-2022 

 

Page 205

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

11 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

10. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Council’s funding and the work of the KHWP is covered by the SLA between TWBC and 

KHWP. The SLA sets out crucial features such as service objectives whereby KHWP agrees 

to provide various services to TWBC; details of service outputs, performance measurements 

and service standards; as well as funding arrangements to outline the core grant which shall 

be paid annually by TWBC to KHWP. 

The MoU between KCC and TWBC governs the operations of the KHWP. The MoU details 

vital aspects such as strategic aims of the partnership; responsibilities of the Steering Group; 

along with details surrounding financial arrangements in respect of the partnership. 

There are no issues regarding the Human Rights Act. 

Daljit Kaur  Senior Lawyer – Contracts and Commissioning  31/7/2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The cost of supporting the KHWP is within the base budget and the Medium-Term Financial 

Strategy will be updated to reflect the indexation of the SLA. 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development (s151 Officer) 28 July 2023 

C. Staffing 

The project is managed under the existing staffing structure and levels. If the 

recommendations in the report area accepted there are unlikely to be any implications but as 

the report explains if there is a reduction in funding then there may be implications for staff in 

parks and planning. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

D. Risk Management 

All Risks associated with the projects are shared equally with KCC. Risks are managed by 

oversite from Council officers and direct line management by KCC. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

 

Page 206

Agenda Item 16



 

Page  

12 of 12 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Kent High Weald Partnership Service Level Agreement 2024-2027 

 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

This is not a new project and so an assessment is not required.  In any event the works 

carried out by KHWP which are funded by the Council make direct contributions to tackling 

the Climate and biodiversity emergency and are key to the Councils commitment to 

improving biodiversity. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

F. Community Safety 

No Issues 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

G. Equalities 

The report raises no new issues and introduces no new policies. The SLA covers equalities 

(8.3) and notes that all staff received equalities training from KCC. An Equalities Impact 

Assessment has been considered and discussed with Corporate Governance and deemed 

not necessary. 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

H. Data Protection 

No Issues 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

I. Health and Safety 

No Issues 

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The work of the KHWP has a focus on health and wellbeing, providing opportunities for 

volunteering, exercise and access to nature. They work in areas of multiple deprivation and 

with some of our most vulnerable residents using our green spaces as part of “green 

prescribing” with a strong focus on mental health.  

David Scully Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 17/07/2023 

 

Page 207

Agenda Item 16



1 
 

KENT HIGH WEALD PARTNERSHIP 

WORKING WITH 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

FOR 

 

OUR COMMUNITY  Education, volunteering, health and wellbeing 

OUR NATURE   Protecting and improving biodiversity 

OUR LAND Caring for the landscapes and Nature Conservation sites of the 

Borough 

 

 

A New Service Level Agreement 

Between 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

And 

Kent High Weald Partnership 

01 April 2024 – 01 April 2027 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208

Appendix A



2 
 

 

Overview 

Although the KHWP exist as semi-independent organisation under a formal partnership agreement 

between KCC and TWBC they operate only within Tunbridge Wells Borough and so are effectively 

what other authorities have as Countryside Management Teams or Rangers. 

Only part of their Funding comes from TWBC and with that they do this: 

a) Through the management of sites for nature conservation the KHWP connect our 

communities with nature in a way that supports health and wellbeing objectives and brings 

benefits for biodiversity through activities, education, and action. 

b) They ensure that they deliver value for money through: 

• Partnership working 

• Supporting a strong force of volunteers 

• Securing additional funding through other agencies and external grants that far exceeds 

the Borough Councils contribution. 

They are, through a Service Level Agreement, answerable to the Council and able to respond to and 

support Council projects, policies and events including most recently the Councils declaration of 

Climate and Biodiversity emergency. 

For every £1 of funding given to the KHWP they will usually attract more than an additional £3. So 

that £1 of Council money equals £4 spent in the borough on corporate priorities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209

Appendix A



3 
 

 

Contents          Page 

1.0 Background          4 

2.0 KHWP’s Vision and Aims        4 

3.0 Nature of the service to be provided      5 

4.0 Service objectives         6 

5.0 Service outputs and performance measurements     10 

6.0 Wider service opportunities        11 

7.0 Funding Agreement         11 

8.0 Service Standards         11 

9.0 Agreement period, review, and termination      12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 210

Appendix A



4 
 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

The Kent High Weald Countryside Partnership (KHWP) was established in 1991 for countryside 

management and conservation activities across the Borough involving management of Local Nature 

Reserves, conservation work, community engagement, volunteering and environmental education. It 

is one of seven such organisations across Kent and currently only works within Tunbridge Wells 

Borough. 

Core funding is currently provided by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (TWBC) and Kent Country 

Council (KCC) and its operation is governed by a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between KHWP 

and TWBC. KCC also host the KHWP and line manage staff. 

The majority of funding is raised through project-based activities, commissioned programmes, 

external grants and work for other landowners. 

The Councils funding and the work of the KHWP is covered by a Service Level Agreement (SLA). A 

review of the Partnerships work and the existing SLA with TWBC was completed in 2019 as part of a 

wider review of Council funding required as a result of the current period of austerity in Local 

Government. The requirement for detailed review was in recognition of the special long-standing 

status of the KHWP and the positive contribution it makes to Council owned sites and the 

community. The review resulted in the following recommendations to be investigated: 

(1) alternate structures for KHWP (e.g. charity, social enterprise or CIC status) 

(2) new and alternate sources of funding and areas of work 

(3) opportunities associated with housing growth in the Borough and management of Council 

owned sites to provide further sources of revenue 

(4) a new framework for Council funding based on agreed requirements for site management 

and specific outcomes.  

The first two recommendations are longer term goals and are incorporated in the current KHWP 

Business Plan. This new SLA addresses recommendations 3 and 4 and sets out to establish the new 

terms under which TWBC provides funding to KHWP.  

This document is the overarching SLA summarising the core service and objectives that KHWP will 

provide to TWBC.  

 

2.0 KHWP’S VISION AND AIMS 

Kent High Weald Partnership aims to connect people and nature through conservation, education, 

and wellbeing. Through its work KHWP want to support the development of resilient communities 

and resilient ecosystems that mean people and wildlife can thrive together. 

KHWP Strategic Aims are to: 

• Enhance, protect and restore wildlife & biodiversity through conservation tasks and other 

activities that raise awareness and encourage understanding of the local environment, High 

Weald AONB and wider area and responsibility for the natural world. 

• Recognise and promote the value of volunteering, improve accessibility to volunteering 

opportunities and increase the number of people taking part in volunteering across all 

communities. 

Page 211

Appendix A



5 
 

• Develop opportunities for lifelong learning and experiences that inspire and engage all parts 

of the community. 

• Encourage and support people to improve their physical and mental wellbeing through 

access to the outdoors, nature-based activities and interventions that enhance lives and 

nature. 

• Develop community partnerships and networks that improve our ability to deliver our aims 

using a collaborative approach. 

• Review the way we work to build resilience and create a sustainable model. 

The KHWP business plan also takes account of the increasingly urgent local Climate Action agenda 

and the commitment by the Council to be carbon neutral by 2030 and will have a focus on 

community growing and the emerging recovery and response to the Covid 19 pandemic.  

These aims are delivered through the management of Borough, Town and Parish Council owned 

sites as well as engagement with other landowners, schools and key stakeholder groups. 

An office move to Bedgebury Pinetum in 2007 has enabled KHWP to develop and deliver a highly 

successful Forest Schools Program in partnership with the Forestry England. 

 

 

3.0 NATURE OF THE SERVICE TO BE PROVIDED 

Kent High Weald Partnership offers a unique service to the Council by supplying a range of skills, 

experience, value, and professional collaborations that it would be difficult for other organisations to 

provide. KHWP work solely in Tunbridge Wells Borough, delivering Council policy for places and 

people on the ground, working in partnership to manage green spaces and engage with local 

communities. KHWP’s work aligns with the Government’s 25 Environment Plan pledges to use and 

manage land sustainably, recover nature and enhance the landscape, and to connect people with 

the environment to improve health and wellbeing. 

The service that KHWP provides works across multiple Council departments and addresses many of 
the council’s key priorities and statutory duties whilst maintaining a level of flexibility to ensure 
dynamic responses to changing environments. KHWP are a key contributor to Tunbridge Wells in 
Bloom and the outcomes of their work make a significant contribution to the Council fulfilling its 
duties under the CROW Act with regards the High Weald AONB and the NERC Act in respect of the 
Biodiversity Duty as well as supporting a wider range of Council policies for the environment.  
 

This partnership between TWBC and KHWP will ensure: 

Effective land stewardship & biodiversity results 
The core part of KHWP’s service is to manage nature reserves and greenspaces in the Borough which 

will be carried out with regard to the High Weald AONB Management Plan, the Kent Biodiversity 

Strategy and relevant local, regional and national plans, policies, and strategies. This supports TWBC 

with its national and regional conservation and landscape objectives. 

 

Exceptional value for money & a high return on investment 

KHWP operates most of the practical conservation work required with a large network of local 

volunteers supervised by skilled and qualified staff. This allows for high productivity of work at a low 

Page 212

Appendix A



6 
 

cost, ecological sensitivity when needed and excellent opportunities for community engagement, 

life-long learning, and wellbeing.  

As a result of this partnership with TWBC, KHWP is able to carry out fundraising and additional 

service commissioning, obtaining over around £250k additional funding annually from other sources 

which is spent on projects in the borough. So For every £1 of Council core funding more than £4 will 

be spent.  

A recent Leeds Beckett University research project found that there was a high social return on 

investment in nature-based projects for health and wellbeing as people benefited from the time in 

nature and thus used other health services less. According to this study: 

• For every £1 spent on nature-based wellbeing programmes, the council could save nearly £7 

• For every £1 spend on nature volunteering projects, the council could save £8.50 

Source: https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/2019-09/SROI Report FINAL - DIGITAL.pdf 

 

Meaningful partnerships 

KHWP ensures a joined up and holistic approach to its work through years of developing a wide 

range of successful partnerships and collaborations. KHWP works closely with housing companies, 

local businesses, a wide range of community organisations and schools, landowners and developers, 

other conservation organisations, health services and GPs, the High Weald AONB Partnership, and 

parish councils. 

Proactive response to the climate emergency 

Underpinning all the work of KHWP will be consideration for the climate emergency. This includes 

nature-based solutions to climate change as part of our sustainable land management, focus on local 

food growing via our wellbeing projects, and nurturing the land’s future guardians through our 

education programme.  The KHWP will support the Councils commitment to be carbon Neutral by 

2030. 

A path towards community resilience, inclusivity, and wellness 

At the heart of KHWP’s service are the communities, and KHWP work with as diverse a range of 

groups as possible. Due to the high public interest in greenspaces and the social benefits they offer, 

a key component of sustaining the sites is to involve the local community. It is important that 

everyone, whatever their background, has the opportunity to access and enjoy nature in their area. 

KHWP will work with all groups in the borough, delivering positive outcomes for individual and 

community. 

 

4.0 SERVICE OBJECTIVES  

KHWP agrees to provide the following services to TWBC: 

4.1  Stewardship of TWBC owned Nature Reserves and Natural Greenspaces  

KHWP have responsibilities for the management, maintenance, and community engagement of 

TWBC owned Local Nature Reserves, Local wildlife Sites and natural greenspaces. These include 

Hilbert Woods LNR, Barnetts Wood LNR, Cinderhill Wood LWS, Sherwood Lake and Woods Town 

Green, Marshley Harbour Woods LWS*, Snipe and Bassets Wood LWS*, High Woods and Reynolds 

Page 213

Appendix A

https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/2019-09/SROI%20Report%20FINAL%20-%20DIGITAL.pdf


7 
 

Lane LWS.  In total these sites cover around 150 hectares.  The duties for stewardship are listed 

below: 

Site management: 

• Writing, implementing, monitoring, and reviewing site management plans with the overall 

aims of conserving and enhancing biodiversity and maintaining and promoting public access 

and enjoyment.  

• Identification and administration of relevant land management schemes and designations 

(such as Environmental Stewardship, Woodland Grant Schemes, Green Flag Awards, etc) 

• External fundraising to support the work and its sustainability  

• Stay informed and respond proactively to local site changes, climate change issues, new 

diseases and invasive species, new policies, and strategies 

• Regular site/habitat/species surveying 

• Contractor management (for works relating to the management plan) 

• Explore site potential for climate change mitigation and nature-based solutions to the 

climate crisis (for example, natural flood management, carbon storage and ecosystem 

services) 

 

Site maintenance: 

• Regular site checks (including identification and reporting of issues relating to health and 

safety, water quality, etc to the relevant authority) 

• Respond to and liaise with local residents regarding site issues (such as dangerous trees, 

anti-social behaviour, illegal activities, etc) and report accordingly to the relevant authority 

• Work with local agencies to respond to and deter anti-social behaviour and illegal land use 

• Upkeep and repair of site infrastructure such as signage, fencing, boardwalks, steps, dipping 

platforms, rustic benches (large trees, wayleaves, and large infrastructure such as built dams 

and culverts not included) 

 

Community Engagement: 

• Establishment, support, promotion, or facilitation of site Friends of Groups   

• Provision, management, and delivery of regular volunteer programme 

• Provision, management, and delivery of community events, citizen science projects, and 

education programmes 

• Stakeholder partnership development and management (local groups, organisations, 

schools) 

• Provision of education and training opportunities  

• Regular publicity of site activities and nature-related information to the community using a 

range of online and offline media 

• Provision of corporate volunteering opportunities to local businesses 

 

As well as these TWBC owned sites KHWP has responsibilities and/or is contracted to undertake 

management, maintenance, and community engagement on sites on behalf of parish and town 

Page 214

Appendix A



8 
 

councils in the borough (under separate agreements) and is available to provide management 

activity, support and advice when needed across the borough. 

 

4.2 Provision of year-round volunteering opportunities for TWBC residents 

KHWP will provide weekly volunteer opportunities for TWBC residents all year round, ensuring a 

wide range of ages and abilities can access these opportunities. KHWP will facilitate and manage 

volunteer recruitment, training, tool provision, welfare and safety. KHWP volunteers will be covered 

by comprehensive public liability insurance.  

 

4.3  Offer land management, project advice, and practical assistance to Borough landowners, 

Parishes, and community organisations in line with the landscape, heritage and 

biodiversity objectives of the council. 

KHWP will be available to offer professional land management and project advice to Tunbridge Wells 

borough residents, landowners, developers, and community organisations that support the 

landscape, heritage and biodiversity objectives of the Council. KHWP will maintain annual assistance 

and support to local greenspace groups such as Friends of Dunorlan Park, Friends of Grosvenor and 

Hilbert Park, Friends of Calverley Grounds, Birch Wood Association, Tunbridge Wells and Rusthall 

Commons, Rusthall Fremlin Pond, and Southborough Common. 

 

4.4 Support TWBC in the local and national Britain in Bloom competitions and other 

discretionary council and park projects 

KHWP will work closely with the TWBC Parks Team, providing advice, skills and practical support for 

park and open space projects and initiatives such as the Britain in Bloom competition and ad hoc 

projects on sites such as Dunorlan Park, Calverley Park, and local recreation grounds. 

 

4.5 Actively ensure the borough is proactively involved in environmental strategies and 

schemes 

To ensure that Tunbridge Wells Borough is at the forefront of nature recovery and conservation 

efforts, KHWP will actively see to represent TWBC where appropriate in local and regional forums, 

groups and schemes such the River Catchment schemes, Natural Flood Management, Kent Nature 

Partnership, and GCN licencing. 

 

4.6  Support with S106 projects and the Biodiversity Net Gain policy required for new housing 

developments  

KHWP will offer its services readily to TWBC in relation to planning development projects and 

requirements – such as greenspace enhancements, habitat improvements and creation, community 

engagement, and biodiversity net gain results. KHWP can ensure that development money can be 

put towards meaningful projects with long-term, sustainable outcomes. 

 

Page 215

Appendix A



9 
 

4.7  Provide nature and outdoor based learning, education, training and work experience 

opportunities for the residents, communities, and schools of the borough 

KHWP will work towards the betterment of children’s and young people’s lives in Tunbridge Wells. 

As a fully qualified and certified training and education provider, KHWP offers the following services 

to the borough: 

• Forest school programmes  

• Outdoor enrichment programmes 

• Team building 

• Forest School leadership training 

• Work experience placements 

• Apprenticeships 

 

Although open to all, KHWP seeks funding annually to work directly with hard-to-reach groups and 

areas of deprivation.  

KHWP is also able to provide school ground improvement advice and practical assistance to schools 

in the borough, including support with the outdoor learning requirements of the national 

curriculum. 

 

4.8 Improve the health and wellbeing of residents and communities in the borough 

KHWP will contribute towards the council’s health strategy and objectives and provide advice and 

support to the Tunbridge Wells Health Action Team. KHWP is a qualified and experienced provider of 

nature-based health and wellbeing programmes in the borough and has established projects and 

contracts as well as commissionable services available. These include: 

• Community allotment and gardening projects 

• Wellbeing walks 

• Horticultural therapy programmes 

• Kent Sheds 

• Forest therapy 

• Online nature connection groups 

• One-off wellbeing days for local businesses and organisations (including council staff) 

Through working in partnership with local and regional health services and organisations, GPs, 

housing associations, landowners, and community groups, KHWP will work towards the betterment 

of the health and wellbeing of Tunbridge Wells Borough residents.  

 

 

 

4.9  Bring income into the borough  

Page 216

Appendix A



10 
 

With a proactive fundraising strategy at the heart of its business plan, KHWP will draw in additional 

income from external sources that will be spent on projects within the borough, providing a 

significant return on investment for the council’s money. 

 

 

5.0 SERVICE OUTPUTS & PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS 

In addition to the site-specific outcomes and targeted outputs, the key measurable performance 

indicators that KHWP will record and report on include:  

− Numbers of volunteer engaged in activities 

− Numbers of volunteer days and volunteer hours delivered (including financial value) 

− Numbers of community events and participants attending 

− Volunteer and community feedback survey data 

− Contributions towards Local Management Plan and Biodiversity Action Plan Targets 

(including BAP species and habitats encouraged) 

− Contributions towards High Weald AONB Management Plan Objectives 

− Biodiversity improvements on TWBC land  

− Biodiversity Net Gain targets achieved where set 

− Number of schools, community groups and other organisations, private landowners worked 

with 

− Number of people trained and qualified  

− Numbers of adults and children whose wellbeing has been improved through attending 

KHWP programmes (case studies will also be collected) 

− Social return value of KHWP activities 

− Numbers of children accessing Forest School activities and outdoor enrichment 

− Numbers of new trees, plants and seeds planted 

− Value of return on investment through external funding applications made and secured  

 

Minimum targets: 

• External Funding Secured in a financial year: £190,000 (3 x the SLA contribution). 

• 100 x Volunteer event days per annum 

• Maintain up to date management plans for all 8 Council owned sites. 

• An annual report at the end of the financial year, detailing outcome and outputs achieved 

against the service objectives. 

TWBC are welcome to request additional measurable outputs in line with any council strategy 

requirements or changes.  

 

 

 

6.0 WIDER SERVICE OPPORTUNITIES 

Page 217

Appendix A



11 
 

KHWP is able to respond quickly, innovatively, and flexibly to new demands and opportunities. With 

extensive project management and fundraising expertise and a wide skill set, KHWP can ensure 

TWBC is at the forefront in terms of biodiversity and nature related wellbeing projects. 

KHWP can upscale and replicate projects readily as well as create new projects in response to latest 

strategies, objectives, and community needs. 

As a key partners of TWBC, KHWP will be available to offer additional services where needed and 

practicable. 

Potential areas for wider service provision: Biodiversity Net Gain; Nature Recovery; green social 

prescribing; and Suitable Alterative Natural Green Space (SANGS). 

 

7.0 FUNDING AGREEMENT 

TWBC will pay KHWP a core grant of £76,194.50 annually for the period of this agreement.  

The funding provided under this SLA shall not be used for any other purpose without TWBC’s prior 

written agreement. These payments will be paid on the submission of the Partnership’s invoices. 

 

8.0 SERVICE STANDARDS 

8.1 Service delivery 

All work shall be delivered through the employees of the Kent High Weald Partnership under the 

guidance of the Steering Group working in partnership with TWBC to achieve the aims and 

objectives as set out in the Memorandum of Agreement between TWBC and Kent Country Council 

(the administrative host of KHWP). 

8.2 Financial Monitoring and Reporting  

The Partnership shall keep accurate and up-to-date accounts and records of the receipt and 

expenditure of the Funding monies received. Financial and managerial record keeping for funding 

shall be overseen by KCC in accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement. An annual financial 

report based on audited accounts will be submitted to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council to allow an 

assessment of value for money in accordance with performance measurements. 

8.3 Public Liability Insurance, Health & Safety, and Equal Opportunities 

As an organisation operating under the auspices of Kent County Council KHWP is covered by KCC's 

£50 million Public Liability Insurance policy. KHWP is also governed by KCC's health and safety 

policies, and has a comprehensive set of policies and procedures. 

All practical work carried out on both public and private sites by KHWP, is risk assessed in line with 

KCC policies and procedures. Copies of risk assessments, which are produced for every occasion on 

which KHWP works on public or private sites, with volunteers, or with members of the public, are 

available on request.  

When providing its services, the KHWP shall not discriminate against any service users on any 

grounds regardless of their ethnic origin, religion, sex, disability, sexual orientation, or gender 

identity. Services that are offered to ethnic and minority groups shall take into account the users' 

Page 218

Appendix A



12 
 

cultural, language, race and religion. All staff shall be sufficiently qualified, competent, experienced 

and supervised to provide the service in a sensitive manner without discrimination. Training in 

equalities is compulsory for all staff and is provided by KCC. 

 

9.0 AGREEMENT PERIOD, REVIEW AND TERMINATION 

Financial review will be through the Council’s Service Planning process. The Service Level Agreement 

will cover a 3-year period subject to annual review in line with the Business Plan and MoA. The 

annual review of the SLA will be carried out by the Landscape and Biodiversity Officer and the 

Manager for the KHWP in consultation with Officers Consultation Group for the KHWP, Service 

Managers and Portfolio Holder. 

Termination shall be governed by the Memorandum of Agreement between KCC and TWBC. 

Page 219

Appendix A



 

 1 

     
 

Memorandum of Agreement 
 

Kent High Weald Partnership April 2024 
 

 
Memorandum of Agreement 
 
Agreement between The Kent County Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  
 
1. Agreement timescale 

 
This agreement between the above authorities relates to the continuation of the Kent High 
Weald Partnership from 01 April 2024 to 01 April 2027 (3 years) 
 
2. Background/ Powers 
 
The Partnership was established in July 1991 to carry out countryside management within 
the Borough of Tunbridge Wells. 
 
Kent High Weald Partnership is an initiative established under powers in section 2(1) of 
the Local Government Act 2000, based within Tunbridge Wells borough, but working 
outside the Borough in the High Weald AONB with the agreement of the core funding 
partners, to widen the project funding base and fulfil our objectives across a wider area. 
 
3. The Area   

 
The Borough of Tunbridge Wells and the High Weald AONB 
 

 
 

Page 220

Appendix B



 

 2 

4. Mission Statement 
 

To connect people and nature through conservation, education, and wellbeing. 

Through its work Kent High Weald Partnership will support the development of resilient 

communities and resilient ecosystems that mean people and wildlife can thrive 

together. 

 

 
5.  Strategic Aims of the Partnership: 
 

• Recognise and promote the value of volunteering, improve accessibility to 
volunteering opportunities and increase the number of people taking part in 
volunteering across all communities. 
 

• Enhance, protect and restore wildlife & biodiversity through conservation tasks 
and other activities that raise awareness and encourage understanding of the 
local environment, High Weald AONB and wider area and responsibility for the 
natural world. 
 

• Develop opportunities for lifelong learning and experiences that inspire and 
engage all parts of the community. 
 

• Encourage and support people to improve their physical and mental wellbeing 
through access to the outdoors, nature-based activities and interventions that 
enhance lives and nature. 
 

• Develop community partnerships and networks that improve our ability to 
deliver our aims using a collaborative approach. 
 

• Review the way we work to build resilience and create a financially sustainable 
model. 

 
 
 

6.  Organisation  
 

• A Steering Group will be established to agree on the partnership’s strategy and 
direction, determine priorities and monitor progress. 

 

• Core funding members shall agree to provide a suitable representative on the 
Steering Group and allow attendance at all reasonably convened meetings. 

 

• The Partnership will operate under the day-to-day direction of the Partnership 
Manager with the assistance of such staff as the Partnership may prove to warrant 
and as may be agreed between the participating Partnership core-funding partners. 
 

 
 

Page 221

Appendix B



 

 3 

7. Steering Group 
 

• The responsibilities of the Steering Group are to agree on policy and strategic 
issues and direction, determine priorities, and to monitor progress. 

 

• The Steering Group shall at all times be comprised of a representative from Kent 
County Council and from Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and such other persons 
as the Steering Group may from time to time invite. As of the commencement of this 
agreement the Steering Group includes representatives from:  
 

o Kent County Council 
o Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
o High Weald AONB Unit 
o Forestry England 
o Town and Country Housing 

 
 

• The Steering Group shall select and appoint a Chair who shall be a representative 
of a Core Funder, or ideally independent. 

 

• Each Core Funder shall have one vote save that in the case of equality the Chair 
shall be entitled to a second or casting vote. 

 

• In the absence of consensus, all decisions of the Steering Group shall be by 
resolution which shall be proposed and seconded and determined by majority vote.  

 

• The Steering Group shall meet not less than two times a year. 
 

• Any member of the Steering Group may, by giving 6 weeks notice call a special 
meeting of the Steering Group. 

 

• The Partnership staff shall take and keep minutes of Steering Group proceedings. 
 

• Any amendments to the Agreement shall be made by the Steering Group and may 
need to be separately approved by each Core Funder. 

 

• The Steering Group will pay particular attention to: 
 

o The overall standard of achievement and long-term effectiveness; 
o The balance between different aspects of the work; 
o The effectiveness/ flexibility of the Partnership Manager and working 

arrangements; 
o The co-ordination of the work of the Partnership and the work of other 

organisations involved, such as local authorities or other projects; 
o Approving and monitoring annual budget and Business Plan; 
o The financial management of the Partnership; 
o Contents of annual report and meetings/events for Members and the Public. 

 
 

Page 222

Appendix B



 

 4 

8. Partnership Staff 
 

• All staff shall be employed by KCC, and to KCC’s pay scale and conditions. 
 

• Vacancies for staff posts will be advertised by KCC. In the event of staff resignation 
or dismissal, interviews for the appointment of replacement will be carried out by 
representatives of the Steering Group, as appropriate and the post’s line manager.  
Any appointment must be by joint agreement of/ selection by these representatives. 

 

• The Partnership Team at the commencement of this agreement, will consist of a 
Partnership Manager and a number of Partnership Officers appropriate to the 
funding and projects in place (currently 4 full time POs and 2 part time POs). 
 

 
9.  The Role of the Partnership Manager 

 

• To co-operate with and where appropriate, co-ordinate the work of the Core 
Funders and other organisations, identifying problems, conflicts and 
opportunities for action, and developing a management strategy for the area 
in conjunction with Steering Group representatives. 

 

• To ensure the implementation of projects.  With volunteers where appropriate, 
considering where work would be more suitably carried out by contractors. 

 

• To promote the Partnership throughout the area with particular reference to 
potential sponsors and core funding groups. 

 

• To work in close liaison with other groups, and the private, public and 
voluntary sector to achieve external funding of the Partnership and its 
activities.   

 

• To ensure consultation with local members, councillors, parish councils and 
other bodies on specific projects, as appropriate and organise an annual tour 
of inspection. 

 

• To attend and make presentations to meetings of the Steering Group and 
Committee/Cabinet meetings of Local Authority Core-Funders as required. 

 

• To produce a Business Plan, budget and Work Programme which is agreed by the 
members of the Steering Group.   

 

• To develop partnerships to achieve the work. 
 

• To ensure that all work complies with KCC financial regulations, codes of practice 
and authorised expenditure limits. 
 

 
 

Page 223

Appendix B



 

 5 

10. Documentation 
 
The following reports shall be prepared by the Partnership Manager: 
 

• Business Plan, updated when appropriate. 

• Annual report,  

• Bi-annual project reports, budgets and financial statements (circulated in 
advance of the Steering Group meeting), to include the reporting of achievements 
against previously agreed targets. 

• Agendas and minutes of the Steering Group meeting. 
 
 
11. Financial Arrangements 

 

• The Core-Funding Partners shall give support to the aims and objectives of 
the Partnership and, subject to funding being available, will not unreasonably 
withhold or delay payment of their contribution. 

 

• All expenditure shall be governed by the Financial Regulations and Standing 
Orders of KCC. 

 

• All expenditure in respect of the Partnership shall be borne by KCC as the 
Lead Body/ employing authority.   

 

• Any person authorised by any of the Core-Funding Partners shall be entitled 
at all reasonable times to examine the progress of the Partnership or to 
inspect any relevant books, documents, records or accounts, but subject to 
any statutory or other restrictions including the Data Protection Act 1998 and 
any duty of confidentially. 

 

• Core costs will be estimated each year by KCC and met by the Core Funding 
Partners through an annual grant plus funds raised by the Partnership. 

 

• Project finances will be administered by KCC which will be responsible for: 
o Producing estimates and accounts. 
o The exercise of proper financial control. 
o Arranging public liability insurance cover for staff and volunteers and insuring 

property and equipment. 
o Submitting estimates/statements and claiming of grants. 
o Submitting invoices to core funding partners. 
o Other services to include Personnel and some staff training.  

 
 
12. Termination 

 

• Any Core Funding Partner may withdraw from the Partnership (without prejudice to 
any obligations or rights), giving six months’ notice, in writing to the Chair of the 
Steering Group or to all Core-Funding Partners. 

 

Page 224

Appendix B



 

 6 

• In the event of the termination of the Agreement; 
 

Should the core funding partners decide to terminate the Agreement, then any surplus 
income over expenditure and liabilities, after liabilities have been settled, will be returned to 
each Core Funding Partner in proportion to their contribution in that financial year.  If there 
is a deficit of income over expenditure and liabilities, then all Core Funding Partners will 
contribute equally towards any shortfall left by the termination of the Agreement and the 
winding up of the Project and within 28 days of being notified of their contribution by KCC.  
Liabilities will include all redundancy payments and costs associated with redundancies 
incurred by KCC in respect of all staff employed by KCC pursuant to the provisions of 
clause (employment).  This Clause ** shall survive termination of this Agreement. 
 
13. Arbitration 

 
Any dispute or difference between the Core Funding Partners in connection with this 
Agreement shall be referred to a sole arbitrator to be appointed by the Core Funding 
Partners or, failing agreement, by the Chartered Institute or Arbitrators. 
 
14. Contracts (rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 
 
This agreement does not create any right enforceable by any person not a party to it 
nor does it create any right enforceable by a third party under the Contracts (Rights 
of Third Parties) Act 1999. 
 
 
 
Signed on behalf of………………………………………………………………. 

 
 
 

 
 
Kent County Council    

Authorised signatory 
 
 
 

Signed on behalf of………………………………………………………………. 
 
 
 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Authorised signatory 

Page 225

Appendix B



 

 

 

Kent High Weald Partnership 

Annual Report 

April 2021 – March 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kent High Weald Partnership aims to connect people and nature through 

conservation, education, and wellbeing. Through our work we support the 

development of resilient communities and resilient ecosystems that mean 

people and wildlife can thrive together. 

“No one will protect what they don’t care about; and no one will care about 

what they have never experienced.” (Sir David Attenborough) 

 

Page 226

Appendix C



2021/22 was a challenging year for everyone as we navigated the second year of an unprecedented 

global pandemic. Fortunately, working outdoors presents a much safer work environment for our 

staff and volunteers, and despite the significant barriers we were able to achieve some fantastic 

outcomes for people and nature. We have dynamically adapted to meet the demands of varying 

government restrictions, increasing footfall pressure on our greenspaces, extreme weather events, 

and the acute rise in the need for health and wellbeing services for people of all ages. Alongside this 

has been the growing concern about climate change and the importance of sustainability and 

resilience in our communities.  

Our parks, open spaces, and nature reserves not only present vital opportunities to help protect and 

restore nature but they are also essential resources to help people flourish and they must be 

accessible to everyone. It is vital that, with the involvement of local people and communities, we 

protect and manage them appropriately, and explore and enjoy them freely and respectfully. Our 

green spaces also offer critical nature-based solutions and mitigation opportunities against the 

effect of climate change. 

This report summarises the work and outcomes of KHWP in 2021/22 under our 3 main branches of 

conservation, education, and wellbeing; all of which could only have been achieved with our 

partners, our core funding, and our wonderful team of volunteers. 

 

Thank you! 

Our core partners and funders, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and Kent County Council, enable us 

to carry out this important work making a real difference to people and nature.  

Collaboration is the key to success, and we express our deepest gratitude to all the partners we work 

with who help us with funding and support. So a huge thank 

you to: Town and Country Housing; Southborough Town 

Council; Matfield & Brenchley PC; Cranbrook & Sissinghurst PC; 

the High Weald AONB Team; the Friends Groups of Grosvenor 

& Hilbert Park, Dunorlan Park, Calverley Park, the Cemeteries, 

and Barnetts Wood; Royal Tunbridge Wells in Bloom; Forestry 

England; Tunbridge Wells Commons; Shaw Trust; Involve Kent; 

West Kent Mind; Birch Wood Association; Sherwood Shed; 

Kent Wildlife Trust; Southborough, Bidborough and 

Broadwater Primary Schools; Oakley School; Skinners Kent 

Academy; Natural England; No 1 Community Trust; 

Lamberhurst PC; Rusthall PC; Dandara; Kent & Medway NHS; 

and Tunbridge Wells Friends of the Earth. 

This year we were also grateful to achieve external funding grants from the Sussex Lund, Colyer 

Fergusson, Councillor Paul Barrington-King, and Councillors Sarah Hamilton and James McInroy 

(some funds carried forward from 2020).  

Community Allotment Peas 

Page 227

Appendix C



Conservation Highlights  

KHWP oversees the conservation management of three Local Nature Reserves (Barnett’s Wood and 

Hilbert’s Wood in Tunbridge Wells, and Crane Valley in Cranbrook) and three Local Wildlife Sites 

(Cinderhill in Matfield, Southborough Common, and Sherwood Lake and Woods). We also work with 

other organisations and landowners to help improve their sites for nature and access. This year 

KHWP: 

• Improved 17 sites for nature and people with the help of amazing local volunteers 

• Enhanced over 150 hectares of land for biodiversity whilst also raising awareness of the 

importance of our local biodiversity and how people can do their bit to help 

• Removed invasive species such as Himalayan balsam and cherry laurel from Sherwood, 

Southborough Common, Dunorlan Park, and Hilbert Woods 

• Supported Tunbridge Wells with 11 South and Southeast in Bloom awards, helping the 

Borough to win 5 golds and 3 categories 

• Delivered 86 volunteer tasks, totalling 4235 volunteer hours (numbers were more restricted 

than usual years due to covid safe working protocols) 

• Restored 13 ponds and created 3 news ponds  

• Surveyed 22 ponds for great crested newts with 12 positive outcomes 

• Planted 215 new trees in Tunbridge Wells 

• Sowed hundreds of thousands of native wildflower seeds in Tunbridge Wells  

• Maintained 10 “leaky” dams, providing natural flood defences 

• Installed 18 new bat and owl boxes 

• Hosted 110 attendees to our bat walks and heritage walk 

• Launched the Tunbridge Wells Community Nature Reserve  

 

 

[Bank stabilising at Dunorlan Park / Clearing an old Victorian carriageway at Sherwood / Storm Eunice damage at Hilberts] 

“I have been very impressed by KHWP’s handling of volunteering events during covid. 

We were kept informed and involved throughout. It is great that they are doing all that 

can be done to get people out and come together, there are many that rely on 

volunteering as their only interaction with others.” (KHWP Volunteer) 

 

Page 228

Appendix C



Education Highlights  

KHWP has a dedicated and passionate team of Forest School practitioners and professionally 

qualified teachers delivering a diverse range of outdoor learning in a variety of settings each year. 

Forest School is a transformative and holistic approach to learning that has real and long-lasting 

benefits to participants. Our aim is to provide Forest School for disadvantaged children and those 

struggling with mental health challenges and complex needs which, in many cases, have been 

worsened recently by the lockdown period. This year we have: 

• Delivered over 100 outdoor enrichment sessions to over 350 children 

• Provided 55 disadvantaged primary school children (including SEN and EAL students) and 15 

secondary school children with forest school programmes 

• Delivered 25 pre-school Forest School sessions  

• Provided Teambuilding at Bedgebury for over 250 children and 30 adults 

• Hosted 110 children at our Bedgebury Forest Summer Camp  

• Trained 23 adults and teachers to be qualified Level 3 Forest School leaders 

• Engaged over 300 children and families at our Wild Child drop-in Forest School experience 

sessions on the Commons 

• Improved grounds for outdoor education purposes at 4 different schools 

• Provided work experience for 5 young people  

 

 

[Forest School Level 3 Training / Forest Preschool activity / Cooking pancakes at Forest School] 

“One student who has ADHD had the highest amount of behaviour logs in year 8. Forest 

School was used as a carrot to get him to regulate his behaviour and also helped staff to 

understand better his needs. At his recent Annual Review, the student was commended 

on the improvement in his behaviour around the Academy and how he now trusts 

certain members of staff that he has built a relationship through Forest School.” 

(Skinner Kent Academy Teacher) 

 

Page 229

Appendix C



Wellbeing Highlights  

The wellbeing benefits of being out nature are becoming more widely recognised and evidenced. All 

our work has a positive impact on the wellbeing of those we work with. Our volunteer programme 

alone helps provide social interaction and a sense of belonging to over 30 adults. With years of 

experience and skills we have developed nature connection programmes and activities designed to 

help people, often focussed on families and children in need and adults struggling with poor mental 

health and social isolation. We are delighted that the online Connect with Nature programme we 

designed during lockdown has been hugely successful and has continued this year. In 2021/22 we: 

• Supported 6 families through our therapeutic family forest school programme ‘Forest Time’ 

• Provided horticultural therapy at our community allotment to 27 adults with poor mental 

health or learning difficulties  

• Supported 36 adults suffering poor mental health and social isolation via our online Live Well 

Kent “Connect with Nature” programme  

• Provided nature connection support at our community allotment for 4 NHS psychiatric 

patients and their support workers 

• Grew 30 different varieties of vegetables, herbs, and pollinator friendly flowers from seed on 

our community allotment – including seedlings grown for the new Amelia Centre courtyard 

garden 

• Helped enhance the Horsmonden Community Garden for local groups and schools 

• Managed and maintained 2 community allotment sites with the help of volunteers 

• Begun supporting the development of a community garden project in Showfields 

 

[Community Allotment produce / Online CWN participant notebook / Family Forest Time] 

“This kind of mental health support brings a great opportunity not only resulting from 

the lockdown but in continuing it would be inclusive of those unable to attend 

physical nature sessions either because of disability or poor mental health.  It 

encouraged some of the attendees to reach out to attend ‘in person’ sessions and 

others were enthusiastic to attend similar events in the future.” (WK Mind Counsellor 

feedback on online Connect with Nature programme). 

 

Page 230

Appendix C



Financial summary 

KHWP is a non-profit organisation and our turnover for the financial year 2021/22 was £317,299. 

Due to a small amount of income loss because of the pandemic our expenditure was £324,662 and 

we used £7,363 of our reserve fund, leaving us a reserve fund of £29k. 25% of our income was core 

funding, 26% was funding and grants for conservation, 10% for wellbeing grants and contracts, 14% 

was education and training income, and 25% from wider landscape project grants. 

 

Find out more…  

Get in touch 

Contact KHWP Manager, Cally Fiddimore, by emailing cally.fiddimore@kent.gov.uk or call 07545 

743416. We would be very happy to provide presentations on our work to your groups or 

organisations. 

Follow us on social media 

You can find us online, on Facebook, Instagram and now TikTok! Just search KHWP. Or watch a short 

video of some of our work highlights from 2021: 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HOM03Hs8tZ4 

Come and join us! 

We welcome groups of volunteers (or individuals) from organisations and businesses looking to get 

involved – we always have plenty to do, particularly between September and March. Tea, coffee and 

biscuits provided! 

 

                  

Page 231

Appendix C

mailto:cally.fiddimore@kent.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HOM03Hs8tZ4


 

Page  

1 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sum 

Position Statement  

 
For Cabinet on 21 September 2023 

Summary 

Lead Member: Cllr Hugo Pound – Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Lead Director: Paul Taylor- Director of Change and Communities 

Head of Service: Gary Stevenson – Head of Housing, Health and Environment 

Report Author: Tobi Phillips – Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer  

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21 August 2023 

Portfolio Holder 02/09/2022 

Communities and Economic Development CAB 6 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Cabinet approves the Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Position 

Statement in order to set guidelines when calculating and negotiating a commuted 

sum in lieu of the onsite delivery of affordable housing. 

2. That delegated authority be given to the Head of Housing, Health, and 

Environment, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning, 

to make any minor amendments to the Affordable Housing Commuted Sum 

Position. 

Page 232

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

2 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 A commuted sum is an affordable housing contribution, paid by a developer to a 

local authority, where the size or scale of development triggers a requirement for 

affordable housing, but due to set variables, the delivery of affordable housing on-

site isn’t considered to be viable. A commuted sum is therefore paid in lieu of on-

site affordable housing to meet local needs. A sum is negotiated and agreed 

between the council and the developer for the purpose of providing affordable 

housing on an alternative site in the local authority.  

1.2 Acceptance of commuted sums had been a rare occurrence for the council, as 

affordable housing has generally been delivered on-site. The council had not 

previously set out procedures on how commuted sums in lieu of affordable housing 

should be calculated. The council has now received a substantial number of 

commuted sums within the last couple of years and there is a likelihood that in the 

future commuted sum payments will happen on a more regular basis due to the 

economic climate with high increases of labour and material costs resulting in the 

delivery of onsite affordable housing becoming less financially viable which will 

lead to the total value of commuted sum continuing to grow. 

1.3 The requirement for a commuted sum to be paid in lieu of on-site delivery of 

affordable housing is secured via S.106 planning agreements. Negotiations 

between the local planning authority and the developer of a site will usually take 

place at early pre-planning stage  

1.4  The collection, monitoring, reporting and assignment of S106 affordable housing 

contributions is now at a stage where the processes would benefit from being 

refined and more structured like with other Kent Council authorities, such as 

Sevenoaks District Council and Ashford Borough Council 

 

2. Current position of contributions 

2.1 The current economic climate poses greater challenges in site viability, as such, 

there is a greater emphasis on utilising collected commuted sums to meet council 

objectives to deliver more affordable housing throughout the borough.  

2.2 Commuted sums, therefore, provide a valuable opportunity for the council to 

ensure that where delivery of affordable housing on a site isn’t viable, alternative 

provisions can contribute towards the councils’ aims of delivering and facilitating 

more affordable housing to meet local needs. 

2.3 The council currently holds a total of £5.083 m in affordable housing contributions. 

Many of these contributions do not have a date specified within the planning 

agreement by which they must be spent. Where a date has been specified for the 

contributions to be spent, these range from April 2027 through to August 2031. 

Page 233

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

3 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

2.4 Inflation rises across the housing sector which includes several factors such as 

lending rates, demolition costs, material and labour costs propose greater 

challenges in the viable delivery of affordable housing within the borough as such 

there is a greater importance that Local Planning authorities receive a commuted 

sum amount in lieu of onsite delivery of affordable housing that is of appropriate 

value.  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Position Statement  

3.1 The affordable housing commuted sum position statement aims to provide 

guidance to developers, Housing Associations and other Registered Providers on 

the Council’s approach to how and when commuted payments in lieu of on-site 

affordable housing will be considered. 

 

3.2 Only in exceptional circumstances will a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 

affordable housing provision (or broadly equivalent cost) be accepted. This would 

need to be robustly justified in accordance with the National Planning Policy 

Framework and may only be accepted if the agreed approach contributes to the 

creation of mixed and balanced communities. 

 

3.3 The position statement sets outs two methodologies of calculating commuted 

sums in lieu of affordable housing. 

 

 

3.4 The calculations consider several variables such as house type, cost of land 

purchase, postcode area etc to ensure the council is receiving the full value in 

commuted sum for the provision of onsite affordable housing.   

 

3.5 In conjunction with the position statement a commuted sum calculator has been 

developed utilising the methodologies in the position statement to calculate 

commuted sums efficiently and accurately.  

 

 

3.6 The key principle underlying the position statement and calculator is that the 

developer of a scheme should be no worse or better off financially whether they 

provide the affordable housing on-site or as a commuted sum.   

 

3.7 The Commuted Sum Calculator does not assess whether the scheme can afford 

the policy-compliant amount of affordable housing. Where a developer claims that 

a scheme is not viable this will be assessed separately through a full analysis of 

costs and revenues in accordance with planning policy.  

 

 

Page 234

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

4 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

4.0 Options Considered 

4.1 Option 1 - The Council authorise the use of the affordable housing commuted sum 

position statement to enable a consistent and uniform guidance method to form a 

basis of negotiations when calculating commuted sums in lieu of affordable 

housing further ensuring the council is requesting the full amount value necessary 

to deliver offsite affordable housing where the delivery of the affordable housing 

provision is deemed not viable. allowing for minor amendments to be approved by 

the portfolio holder adjusting for consultation with finance viability consultants. Any 

major amendments or difference in methodology to be presented to cabinet. 

 

 

.   

4.2 Option 2 - The Council continues without the affordable housing position 

statement commuted sum position statement. This means continuing to have an 

informal ad-hoc arrangement in place regarding how commuted sums are 

calculated, which potentially risks the council not receiving enough value of offsite 

affordable housing to deliver other forms of affordable housing equating to less 

affordable housing being delivered throughout the borough.   

5.0 Preferred Option and Reason 

5.1 Option 1 is the preferred option that cabinet approve affordable housing position 

statement commuted sum position statement, as this will provide a transparent 

mechanism for calculating commuted sums taking into account factors such as the 

location in the borough of the site and the dwelling type site delivers, which will be 

beneficial to the local planning authority in making planning decisions addressing 

affordable housing objectives, also allowing for Head of Housing, Health, and 

Environment, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning, 

to make any minor amendments to the Affordable Housing Commuted Sum 

Position. 

 

 

 

6.0 Consultation on Options 

6.1 The Commuted Sum position statement and spending policy have been written 

with consultation from the Kent Housing Group’s Strategic Housing and Enabling 

Subgroup, and with other Kent Local Authorities adopting similar strategies 

therefore in a position to provide guidance and framework in Affordable housing 

commuted sums policies and procedures.  

6.2 D 

Page 235

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

5 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

6.3 The Communities and Economic Development Cabinet Advisory Board were 

consulted on 6 September 2023 and agreed the recommendations set out in the 

report be supported. 

7.0 Implementation 

7.1 The Commuted sum policies will be digitally available for access to various 

stakeholders such as Developers and Registered providers.  

3. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Position Statement  

• Appendix B: Affordable Housing Fund Request Form  

 

Page 236

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

6 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

4. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Affordable housing position statement should be helpful in calculating the commuted sums 

and give clarity on spend with in the current climate, and with small quantum’s of affordable 

units not always appealing to RPs, this sort of guidance can be very helpful. 

Cheryl Parks Senior Legal advisor Planning- 24/08/2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

Providing Developers with clarity of the methodology to calculate Affordable Housing 

Commuted Sums should support transparency and help them plan financially to deliver new 

sites. The calculation methodology adopted in this report is the same as other Districts in Kent, 

but some consultancy work is being undertaken to verify that this is the most appropriate 

method for Tunbridge Wells. If there are small amendments that are proposed, they can be 

made as per recommendation 2, otherwise the report will return to Cabinet. 

 

Jane Fineman Head of Finance and Procurement 29/08/2023 

C. Staffing 

The Affordable housing commuted sum spending policy will have no implications to staffing.  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

D. Risk Management 

The risk in relation to commuted sums the council currently faces  

 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Risk of having to return Loss of existing funding 

Less affordable Housing 

delivered. 

The recommendations 

outlines a route to enable 

the best use of funding, to 

maximise opportunities 

Page 237

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

7 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

unspent commuted sums, 

plus interest, in the 

Council’s Affordable 

Housing Fund if not 

utilised in a timely 

manner. 

 presented through the 

Affordable Housing Fund 

and achieve best value for 

residents. 

The increased risk that the 

delivery of affordable 

housing in planning 

applications is increasingly 

becoming less viable due 

to economic factors and 

the council doesn’t have 

procedures in place to 

optimise commuted sums 

for affordable housing  

Inadequate funding  

Less affordable housing 

delivery 

The Affordable housing 

commuted sum policies set 

out clear calculations for 

affordable housing which 

take into account socio-

economic variables. 

 

Commission viability report 

that sets out a framework 

of improving site planning 

viability     

 

 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

The Affordable housing commuted sum spending policy help to ensure that the council is 

receiving the equivalent value in sums for the provision of affordable housing to be utilised to 

assist in the delivery of affordable housing. Environmental factors such as energy-efficient 

building requirements and the overall impact a development may have on the surrounding 

environment will be taken into consideration in any decision to fund affordable housing 

developments  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

F. Community Safety 

The Affordable housing commuted sum spending policy has no implication for community 

safety or crime with the borough  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

Page 238

Agenda Item 17



 

Page  

8 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

G. Equalities 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy has no equality implications for the 

council  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

H. Data Protection 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy on data protection. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

 

I. Health and Safety 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy has no Health and Safety 

implications for the council.  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy help to ensure that any decision to 

request or spend affordable housing commuted sums is to enhance the community of 

Tunbridge Wells therefore having a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of households 

in housing need. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

Page 239

Agenda Item 17



Tunbridgewells.gov.uk  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Position 
Statement 

 

  

Page 240

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 1 

 

1. Purpose of Statement  

1.1 This Policy is to provide guidance to developers, including Housing Associations and other 

Registered Providers on the Councils’ approach to how and when commuted payments in 

lieu of on-site affordable housing will be considered. 

1.2 In the event that the affordable housing units are not provided on site on a development                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

dwelling site due approved circumstances, the developer will be able to build and sell a 

higher proportion of market units, which will improve their revenue. The commuted sum 

methodology allows the Council to recoup, from the developer, the equivalent open market 

land value, from which the developer is benefitting. 

1.3 Only in exceptional circumstances will a financial contribution in lieu of on-site affordable 

housing provision [or broadly equivalent cost) be accepted. This would need to be robustly 

justified in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and may only be 

accepted if the agreed approach contributes to the creation of mixed and balanced 

communities. 

1.4 It should be emphasised that the payment of a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 

affordable housing is seen as the least preferable option and the overwhelming preference 

is for on-site provision of affordable housing. It is strongly recommended that pre-

application advice is sought if an applicant considers that an off-site contribution is 

appropriate. 

1.5 Developers should use Pre-application discussion which can provide an opportunity to 

address potential problems or issues before submitting a planning application, thereby 

potentially reducing the chances of the planning application being rejected. 

1.6 If the Council agrees that a financial contribution is appropriate, the onus will be on the 

applicant to provide the correct information to enable a robust financial appraisal to be 

undertaken. The applicant will bear the costs of the appraisal and verification of the financial 

information, the cost of which will be confirmed before the work is commissioned. 

1.7 Any financial contribution would then be used to enable the equivalent off-site provision of 

affordable housing within the Borough. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 241

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 2 

 

 

2. Commuted Sums  

2.1 Commuted sums can apply to several different situations such as;  

➢ Where the entire affordable housing requirement is to be provided off-site,   

➢ Where some of the affordable housing requirement is provided both on-site and off-

site, or  

➢ Where the affordable housing calculation includes a ‘partial dwelling’ (e.g. 5.4 

affordable dwellings) with the ‘partial value’ (e.g. 0.4) to be paid as a commuted sum 

2.2 The financial contribution sought in lieu of affordable housing will take into account the land, 

servicing and purchasing costs which the Council or Registered Provider would need to 

pay to buy plots on the open market in order to develop equivalent affordable housing on 

another site. Land costs (including servicing and purchasing costs) typically represent 30% 

of the open market value of housing. 

2.3 Servicing and professional fees are estimated to be about 10% of the land value (3% of the 

total cost). Therefore, the financial contribution sought will be 33% of the open market value 

of the residential units to be delivered through the respective planning permission. 

2.4 It is expected that the developer profit is 17.5% and that the affordable housing contribution 

should not be reduced from the required affordable housing provisions to allow a larger 

profit than this. 

2.5 The Methodologies below sets out how contributions will be calculated. The calculation 

utilises average sales price data based on postcode areas. The Council considers these 

sums are reasonable and broadly equivalent to delivering on-site provision. 

2.6 Commuted sum Formula A sets out a methodology to be used when calculating the 

contributions for development sites of up to 40 dwellings in total. 

2.7 Commuted sum Formula B sets out the methodology to be used when calculating sites of 

over 40 Dwellings in total. 

. 

 

 

 

Page 242

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 3 

 

3. Commuted Sum formula A 

3.1 Formula A calculates the commuted sum for the development sites with 

dwellings of 40 property units or less.  

Cs = (SP x NU) X RLV% (36%) X AHP) 

Key 

Cs Commuted Sum 

Sp Expected Sale Price This is the average expected sale unit sale price  

Nu Number of Units total number of dwellings on site  

RLV% Residual land value percentage This adjustment factor is used to represent the cost of land purchase and 
servicing incurred by the Local Planning Authority or Housing Provider. Land costs typically represent 
30% of the open value market value of housing. Servicing and professional fees are estimated to be 
about 15-20% of the land value (6% of the total cost). Therefore, the financial contribution sought will be 
36% of the open market value of the residential units to be delivered through the respective planning 
permission. 

Ahp Affordable Housing Provision percentage 

 

Step 1 (SP x Nu): Identify the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the housing units on-site. 

 
• This is the total expected sale price of the market property, or properties, proposed 

on the development site. It is expected that in identifying the GDV advice is taken 
from a suitably qualified Independent Valuer, at the applicants’ expense, full details of 
which should be submitted to the Council. 

 

Step 2: Multiply the GDV by (RLV) 36% to find the residual land value. 

 
• This is the estimated value of the land, including site acquisition, preparation and 

servicing costs, after all, other costs and profits. 

Step 3: Apply the Affordable Housing percentage requirement under the Affordable Housing 
policy to give the final contribution. 

 
• The new local plan states that the affordable housing provision on Brownfield sites is 

30% and on greenfield sites is 40% for the number of dwellings to be developed the 
required percentage will need to be applied to the estimated cost of providing the 
equivalent serviced land to the proposed development. 
 

Summary of Overall Methodology - Worked Examples: 

Example 1  

Page 243

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 4 

 

Planning proposal to carry out a development of fifteen identical units on a brownfield land site, with 
an anticipated sale price of £400,000 per unit 

Step 1: Calculate the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the development (15 x 
£400k) £6,000,000.00 

Step 2: Find the residual land value of the development (£6m x 36%) £2,160,000.00 

Step 3: Apply the percentage contribution required under the affordable housing 
policy the as this site is brownfield this will equate to 30% of the estimated cost of 
providing the equivalent serviced land to the proposed development (£2,160,000 
x 36%) 

Commuted sum: 
£648,000.00 

 

Example 2  

Planning proposal to carry out a development of 25 units, 15 two beds and 10 three beds on a 
greenfield land site, with an anticipated sale price of £320,000 per unit for the two beds £360,000 

Step 1: Calculate the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the development (15 
x £320k) + (10 X 360k)  £8,400,000.00 

Step 2: Find the residual land value of the development (£8.4 m x 36%) £3,024,000.00 

Step 3: Apply the percentage contribution required under the affordable 
housing policy the as this site is Greenfield this will equate to 40% of the 
estimated cost of providing the equivalent serviced land to the proposed 
development (£3024000 x 40%) 

Commuted sum: 
£1,209,600 

 

Example 3  

Planning proposal to carry out a development of units, 21 identical units on a Brownfield land site, 
with an anticipated sale price of £290,000 the developer has agreed to supply 5 units 

Step 1: Calculate the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the development 21 X 
£290k   £6,090,000 

Step 2: Find the residual land value of the development (£6,090,000 x 36%) £2,192,400 

Step 3: Apply the percentage contribution required under the affordable housing policy 
the as this site is Greenfield this will equate to 30% of the estimated cost of providing 
the equivalent serviced land to the proposed development (£2,009,700 x 30%) £657,720 

Step 4: Divide the proposed affordable housing delivery by the required affordable 
housing delivery and multiply this to the worth of commuted sum for the site 5/6.3 X 
£657,720 £522,000 

Step 5: The commuted sum for 1.3 units  £135,720 

 

 

4. Commuted sum formula B 

Page 244

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 5 

 

4.1 Formula B calculates the commuted sum for the development sites 

exceedingly over 40 dwelling units  

4.2 The standard financial contribution example set out in Table 1, is based on Land Registry 

house price sales data for 2022. It is disaggregated by area of the Borough by postcode 

and type of housing to be more representative of the differences in land value across the 

borough. This is consistent with the approach in the Community Structure Levy Stage 2 

viability work which used postcode areas.  

4.3 The contribution should be calculated using Land Registry house sales data for the most 

recently available calendar year. Regard may also be given to sales for the postcode sector 

where the postcode district appears to not give a representative value, although caution 

should be used when the data is based on a very small number of sales. In such cases, it 

may be appropriate to consider sales over a longer time period. 

4.4 If a site covers more than a single postcode district the commuted sums payment will be 

based on the relevant proportion of development proposed within each postcode 

Cs = (Ah + Mvd) X Ahp X Sf) X RLV%(0.36) 

Key 

Cs Commuted Sum 

AH Number of Affordable Units required  

Mvd Number of Market value units on the proposed on the application site   

Ahp Affordable Housing Provision percentage 

Sf Average sale price for the relevant postcode area for the previous calendar see table below  

RLV%  Residual land value percentage This adjustment factor is used to represent the cost of land purchase and 
servicing incurred by the Local Planning Authority or Housing Provider. Land costs typically represent 
30% of the open value market value of housing. Servicing and professional fees are estimated to be 
about 15-20% of the land value (6% of the total cost). Therefore, the financial contribution sought will be 
36% of the open market value of the residential units to be delivered through the respective planning 
permission. 

 

 

Table 1  

Post Code  Detached  Semi-Detached  Terraced  Flat/Maisonette 

Page 245

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 6 

 

TN1  £501,998 £728,397 £542,136 £289,795 

TN11 £816,337 £649,416 £454,167 £504,167 

TN12 £724,944 £387,370 £353,469 £228,250 

TN17  £807,256 £577,611 £344,429 £295,025 

TN18  £884,615 £454,312 £375,667 £446,000 

TN2 £966,817 £523,078 £448,333 £286,976 

TN27  £748,486 £423,167 £351,385 £228,500 

TN3 £980,057 £634,22 £534,636 £222,742 

TN4 £881,544 £524,484 £414,613 £299,255 

 

http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/standard-reports. 

 

Step 1 Identify the total number of Market Value units of dwellings broken down into property types 

Detached, Semi-Detached, Terraced and Flat/Maisonette   

 

Step 2 Multiply by the affordable housing provision percentage to find the Number of affordable 

housing units required for each property type 

 

Step 3 Identify the equivalent market dwelling value in the commuted sum postcode area and Multiply 

the figure with Number of affordable housing units required to get Market dwelling value of the 

affordable housing requirement  

 

Step 4 Multiply the RLV (36%) for each property type to calculate Commuted Sum Required to 

provide the affordable housing off-site 

 

Step 5 Accumulate the commuted sum required to provide affordable housing off-site for each site to 

get the total Commuted Sum required to provide affordable housing  

 

 

 

 

 

Example 1  

Planning proposal to carry out a development of 65 units on a Brownfield Site in Benenden and 

Cranbrook TN17  

 

Page 246

Appendix A

http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/standard-reports


 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 7 

 

 

 

Example 2 

Planning proposal to carry out a development of 70 units on a Brownfield Site in Paddock Wood 

TN12,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Monitoring  

5.1 Monitoring will be on a site-by-site basis. Funds collected will be used within the borough 

to deliver affordable housing without expenditure deadline, or as agreed in the S.106 

agreement. 

Type of 
Dwelling unit 

Number 
of 
proposed 
market 
value 
dwellings  

Affordable 
housing 
requirement 

Number 
of 
affordable 
housing 
units 
required 

Number 
of 
affordable 
housing 
units 
proposed   

Market 
dwelling 
value of 
dwelling in 
commuted 
sum area 

Market 
dwelling 
value of 
affordable 
housing 
requirement 

Market 
dwelling 
value of 
affordable 
housing 
proposed 

Commuted 
Sum 
Required to 
provide the 
affordable 
housing off-
site 

Detached  5 30% 1.5 0 £807,256 £1,210,884 0 £435,918.24 

Semi-Detached 20 30% 6 0 £577,611 £3,465,666 0 £1,247639.76 

Terraced  30 30% 9 9 £344,429 £3,099,861 £3,099,861 0 

Flats/Maisonette  10 30% 3 3 £295,025 £885,075 £885,075 0 

Total 65  19.5 12    £1,683,558 

Type of 
Dwelling unit 

Number 
of 
proposed 
market 
value 
dwellings  

Affordable 
housing 
requirement 

Number 
of 
affordable 
housing 
units 
required 

Number 
of 
affordable 
housing 
units 
proposed   

Market 
dwelling 
value of 
dwelling in 
commuted 
sum area 

Market 
dwelling 
value of 
affordable 
housing 
requirement 

Market 
dwelling 
value of 
affordable 
housing  
proposed 

Commuted 
Sum Required 
to provide the 
affordable 
housing off-
site 

Terraced  22 30% 6.6 0 £353,469 2,332,895.40 0 £839842.344 

Semi-Detached 31 30% 9.3 0 £387,370 3,602,541 0 £1,296914.76 

Flats/Maisonette  17 30% 5.1 17 £228,250 1,164,075 3,880,250 (£977,823.00) 

Total 70  18.6 17    £1,158,934.20 

Page 247

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Position Statement 8 

 

5.2 The Council will record and report where funds have been allocated and spent. This 

information will be made available on request and will be published on an annual basis. 

Through the S.106 Agreement, the Council will expect to index the agreed financial 

contribution from the date of the agreement to the date of payment. The index applied will 

be the Land Registry House Price Index. 

 

 

 

 

Page 248

Appendix A



Application form for TWBC affordable 

housing funding, please complete in full 

and attach evidence. 

 

 

Please email and return 

affordablehousing@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Organisation   

Industry   

Project (site name or address)   

Contact Number   

Contact Email   

 

Section A  

Describe what will be provided and why funding is being sought. Please include a site location plan for specific 

housing scheme bids 

 

Project Description 

 

 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND 

APPLICATION FORM 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 249

Appendix B

mailto:affordablehousing@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


Section B  

Please complete the following section for new build development schemes proposed funding, please include a site 

location plan for specific housing scheme bids. NB: A separate business plan can be attached if more appropriate. 

 

Total Number of Homes Proposed   

Additional Affordable Housing 
Proposed 

 

Social Rent  

Affordable Rent  

Shared Ownership  

Total  

Proposed Housing Type  

Bedroom 1 BED 2 BED 3 BED 4 BED 

Houses     

Flats     
 

Planning details   

Planning application 
Number 

 

Site Acquired  

Start on Site date  

Practical Completion date  
 

Provide details on how the project 
will be delivered and by whom 

 

Potential obstacles to 
implementing the project 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 250

Appendix B



Section C  

Applicants should provide information for the following criteria that relate to their project and need not provide 

information for each one. 

 

How does the project contribute to the following?  

Housing:  
➢ Provides or improves housing register access to affordable housing at the social rent level  
➢ Developing good quality new housing units at the social rent level 
➢ Improves the condition of existing housing stock for additional units at the social rent level  

 

Economy:  
Meeting local needs and aims to retain and attract the working-age population 

 

Environment: 
Making progress on reducing the Council’s carbon footprint to zero by 2030 

 

Other  
e.g. promoting community projects in the borough such as community energy schemes 

 

Page 251

Appendix B



 

Section D  

Applicants should be able to demonstrate that their projects are well prepared & managed and can demonstrate 

other funding sources have been explored/secured. 

Projected Costs Please provide a summarised breakdown of these costs, e.g. land acquisition, build costs, etc. If 
you have a full breakdown of costs please append a copy of this to the application. 

 

Proposed means of funding the project? Please provide a breakdown which includes amounts being contributed 
by the applicant and by other agencies 

 

How will you maintain and fund the project in the future? 

 

Amount of TWBC Affordable Housing Fund Sought? 

 

 

 

 

 Page 252

Appendix B



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Assessment Criteria  YES NO 

Fully and clearly completed application with clear and concise Evidence,   

Costs and timescales are thoroughly researched and are precise, realistic, achievable and measurable   

Other funding is available to meet the total costs of the project (aside from TWBC funding)   

All other funding options have been explored (aside from TWBC funding)   

Sufficient resources for the future maintenance and support for the delivered project   

The project or scheme has or is likely to obtain planning permission   

Provides Access    

Provides or improves housing register access to affordable housing at the social rent level   

Increases the delivery of social rent-level Affordable Housing    

Improves the condition of existing housing stock for additional units at the social rent level   

Meets local housing needs and retains and attracts a working-age population   

Makes progress on reducing the Council’s carbon footprint to zero by 2030   

Contributes to other priorities promoting community projects in the district such as community energy 
schemes  
 

  

Approval Channel Cabinet Committee  Portfolio Holder 

Page 253

Appendix B



 

Page  

1 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums 

Spending Policy Report  

For Cabinet on 21 September 2023 

Summary 

Lead Member: Cllr Hugo Pound – Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Lead Director: Paul Taylor- Director of Change and Communities 

Head of Service: Gary Stevenson – Head of Housing, Health and Environment 

Report Author: Tobi Phillips – Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer  

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 18/01/2023 

Portfolio Holder 02/09/2022 

Communities and Economic Development CAB 6 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Cabinet approves the Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending 

Policy at Appendix A to utilise commuted sums funding paid in lieu of affordable 

housing provision. 

2. That delegated authority be given to the Head of Housing, Health and 

Environment, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning, 

to make any minor amendments to the Affordable Housing Commuted Sums 

Spending Policy. 

Page 254

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

2 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 A commuted sum is an affordable housing contribution, paid by a developer to a 

local authority, where the size or scale of development triggers a requirement for 

affordable housing, but due to set variables, the delivery of affordable housing on-

site isn’t considered to be viable. A commuted sum is therefore paid in lieu of on-

site affordable housing to meet local needs. A sum is negotiated and agreed 

between the council and the developer for the purpose of providing affordable 

housing on an alternative site in the local authority.  

1.2 Acceptance of commuted sums had been a rare occurrence for the council as 

affordable housing has generally been delivered on-site, as such the council had 

not previously set out procedures on how commuted sums in lieu of affordable 

housing should be calculated and the conditions on how to spend commuted sums 

when collected. The council has received a substantial number of commuted sums 

within the last couple of years and there is a likelihood that in the future commuted 

sum payments will happen on a more regular basis due to the economic climate 

with high increases of labour and material costs resulting in the delivery of onsite 

affordable housing becoming less financially viable which will lead to the total value 

of commuted sum continuing to grow. 

1.3 The requirement for a commuted sum to be paid in lieu of on-site delivery of 

affordable housing is secured via S.106 planning agreements. The parameters for 

spending these sums are detailed in the terms of each planning agreement and 

may be area or deadline limited. Affordable housing contributions collected via 

planning agreements should be managed in the context of the planning process, 

policy, law, regulations guidance and vitally the terms of each s.106 agreement. 

The contribution must therefore be spent in accordance with the terms of the 

planning agreement under which they were collected. 

 

2. Current position of contributions 

2.1 The current economic climate poses greater challenges in site viability, as such, 

there is a greater emphasis on utilising collected commuted sums to meet council 

objectives to deliver more affordable housing throughout the borough.  

2.2 Commuted sums, therefore, provide a valuable opportunity for the council to 

ensure that where delivery of affordable housing on a site isn’t viable, alternative 

provisions can contribute towards the councils’ aims of delivering and facilitating 

more affordable housing to meet local needs. 

2.3 The council currently holds a total of £5.083m in affordable housing contributions. 

Many of these contributions do not have a date specified within the planning 

agreement by which they must be spent. Where a date has been specified for the 

contributions to be spent, these range from April 2027 through to August 2031. 

Page 255

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

3 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

2.4 It is therefore important for the council to have an agreed approach to enable the 

timely and appropriate use of these monies as there is a risk to the Council that 

private developers will seek a refund of any unspent monies paid via an s106 

agreement if the funds are not spent within the specified timeframe, and the council 

could be subject to FOI requests regarding use and information of the commuted 

sums and will need to provide evidence indicating when sums were committed for 

use. 

3.0 Commuted Sum Spending Policy 

3.1 The Commuted Sums Spending Policy has been drafted with consideration to 

TWBC’s existing planning agreements and current housing policy framework as 

well as the council’s housing objective to provide more social rent homes. The 

Council can use s106 commuted sums in several ways to enable the delivery of 

more affordable housing within the borough and therefore a flexible approach will 

be taken when deciding whether affordable housing projects should be provided 

with s106 funding, these approaches will include the following: 

 

• To provide funding for the development of affordable housing at social rent levels 

in schemes 

 

• To subsidise alternative developments to allow for a greater provision of affordable 

housing at social rent or to create a more favourable mix of social rented properties 

vs affordable rented/immediate/private rented properties. 

 

• To fund extra units of social rent affordable housing units on existing 

developments. 

 

• To contribute towards forward funding/kick-starting affordable housing schemes, 

funds & strategies in order to facilitate the delivery of affordable housing in 

conjunction with other sources of funding such as Community Housing Fund or 

the Local Authority Housing Fund. 

 

• To reduce funding gaps for pipeline/current affordable housing schemes. 

 

• To assist with works required to bring a void affordable housing property back to 

a usable standard. 

 

• To assist with bringing empty buildings back into use as affordable housing 

 

• Secure long-term temporary accommodation, to ease housing needs and facilitate 

transitions into affordable housing. 

 

Page 256

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

4 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

3.3 These approaches to the spending of commuted sums will provide the scope for 

the council to utilise funding to promote genuinely affordable avenues into 

affordable housing ensuring funding is spent within the specific section 106 

constraints, this includes using Contributions in conjunction with other affordable 

housing funds such as the Local Authority Housing Fund (LAHF) which is grant 

from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing, and Communities (DLUHC) to 

support selected local authorities in England to obtain and refurbish properties in 

order to provide affordable housing for the qualifying eligible cohort of Ukrainian 

and Afghan refugees and a lasting legacy of additional affordable homes for the 

wider population of Tunbridge Wells in housing need. 

 

4.0 Options Considered 

4.1 Option 1 - The Council implements the commuted sum spending policy that aligns 

with current housing objectives ensuring affordable housing commuted sums 

collected are utilised to facilitate genuine affordable housing in the form of social 

rent general need property units,  

 

4.2 Option 2 - The Council continues without a commuted sum spending policy and 

position statement. This means continuing to have an informal ad-hoc 

arrangement in place regarding both how commuted sums are subsequently spent 

when received in lieu of onsite affordable housing, which potentially risks the 

council not receiving enough value of offsite affordable housing to deliver other 

forms of affordable housing equating to less affordable housing being delivered, 

and risking funds being returned to developers. 

 

 

5.0 Preferred Option and Reason 

5.1 Option 1 is the preferred option that cabinet approve the affordable housing 

commuted sum spending policy as the policy proposes a mechanism for 

prioritising and utilising any affordable housing commuted sums received by the 

council. It sets out the circumstances in which affordable housing commuted sums 

can be requested and the ways it can be spent to enable the delivery of additional 

affordable housing which should ensure funds are spent reducing the risk of 

potentially returning funds back to developers.  

 

 

Page 257

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

5 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

6.0 Consultation on Options 

6.1 The Commuted Sum position statement and spending policy have been written 

with consultation from the Kent Housing Group’s Strategic Housing and Enabling 

Subgroup, and with other Kent Local Authorities adopting similar strategies 

therefore in a position to provide guidance and framework in Affordable housing 

commuted sums policies and procedures.  

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

6.2 The Communities and Economic Development Cabinet Advisory Panel were 

consulted on 6 September 2023 and agreed the following: 

Cabinet Advisory Panel approved the recommendation to Cabinet for 

the adoption of Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending 

Policy.  

7.0 Implementation 

7.1 The Commuted sum spending policy will be digitally available for access to 

various stakeholders such as Developers and Registered providers.  

3. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Spending Policy and 

Procedure  

 

Page 258

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

6 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

4. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Affordable housing position statement should be helpful in calculating the commuted sums 

and give clarity on spend with in the current climate, and with small quantum’s of affordable 

units not always appealing to RPs, this sort of guidance can be very helpful. 

Cheryl Parks Senior Legal advisor Planning- 24/08/2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

Providing Developers with clarity of the methodology to calculate Affordable Housing 

Commuted Sums should support transparency and help them plan financially to deliver new 

sites.  

 

Jane Fineman Head of Finance and Procurement 29/08/2023 

C. Staffing 

The Affordable housing commuted sum spending policy will have no implications to staffing.  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

D. Risk Management 

The risk in relation to commuted sums the council currently faces  

 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Risk of having to return 

unspent commuted sums, 

plus interest, in the 

Council’s Affordable 

Housing Fund if not 

Loss of existing funding 

Less affordable Housing 

delivered. 

 

The recommendations 

outlines a route to enable 

the best use of funding, to 

maximise opportunities 

presented through the 

Affordable Housing Fund 

Page 259

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

7 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

utilised in a timely 

manner. 

and achieve best value for 

residents. 

The increased risk that the 

delivery of affordable 

housing in planning 

applications is increasingly 

becoming less viable due 

to economic factors and 

the council doesn’t have 

procedures in place to 

optimise commuted sums 

for affordable housing  

Inadequate funding  

Less affordable housing 

delivery 

The Affordable housing 

commuted sum policies set 

out clear calculations for 

affordable housing which 

take into account socio-

economic variables. 

 

Commission viability report 

that sets out a framework 

of improving site planning 

viability     

 

 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

The Affordable housing commuted sum spending policy help to ensure that the council is 

receiving the equivalent value in sums for the provision of affordable housing to be utilised to 

assist in the delivery of affordable housing. Environmental factors such as energy-efficient 

building requirements and the overall impact a development may have on the surrounding 

environment will be taken into consideration in any decision to fund affordable housing 

developments.  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

F. Community Safety 

The Affordable housing commuted sum spending policy has no implication for community 

safety or crime with the borough.  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

Page 260

Agenda Item 18



 

Page  

8 of 8 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy Report 

 

G. Equalities 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy has no equality implications for the 

council.  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

H. Data Protection 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy on data protection. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023 

 

I. Health and Safety 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy has no Health and Safety 

implications for the council  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The Affordable Housing commuted sum spending policy help to ensure that any decision to 

request or spend affordable housing commuted sums is to enhance the community of 

Tunbridge Wells therefore having a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of households 

in housing need 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/08/2023. 

Page 261

Agenda Item 18



Tunbridgewells.gov.uk  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sum spending 
Policy and Procedure 

 

  

Page 262

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy and Procedure 1 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Purpose of Policy  ................................................................................................................. 2 

Commuted Sums .................................................................................................................. 2 

Affordable Housing ............................................................................................................... 3 

Scope of s106 Commuted Sums funding usage  ................................................................... 4 

Application for spending Section 106 funding  ....................................................................... 4 

Criteria for spending Section 106 funding .............................................................................. 5 

Section 106 Funding Application Approval    ......................................................................... 6 

Monitoring & reviewing  ......................................................................................................... 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

1. Purpose of Policy  

Page 263

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy and Procedure 2 

 

1.1 This policy has been written to provide criteria for officers and Members to follow when 

deciding how to make the best use of financial contributions paid to the Council in lieu of 

affordable housing being built by a developer. 

1.2 It contains guiding principles and a framework to apply when making decisions about 

spending s106 funding. The aim of the policy is to ensure the Council’s affordable housing 

objectives are met and that the funds have been spent in a way that maximises the 

provision of affordable housing in the Borough of Tunbridge Wells. 

 

2. Commuted Sums  

2.1 Tunbridge Wells is committed to the development of good quality housing seeking to 

ensure housing growth is sustainable and genuinely affordable, therefore affordable 

housing should be included in a development of 10 or more units in order to create and 

promote mixed communities, as per the Council’s affordable housing threshold.  

2.2 If a developer can provide strong evidence that there are practical reasons why a site is not 

viable to provide affordable housing as part of a development, in place of on-site provision, 

the Council will seek a financial contribution to be used towards meeting/enabling local 

affordable housing needs offsite within the Borough. This sum should be broadly equivalent 

to the cost of providing affordable housing on-site in line with the Council’s affordable 

housing threshold. 

2.3 Where a financial contribution for affordable housing is secured via a s106 Agreement, the 

contribution will be ‘ring fenced’ and used towards alternative site provision to meet the 

Council’s affordable housing objectives, normally in partnership with a registered 

provider(s) as Tunbridge Wells Borough Council currently doesn’t have the established 

framework to effectively manage housing stock. 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Affordable Housing  

3.1 The NPPF Annex 2 defines Affordable Housing as: 

Page 264

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy and Procedure 3 

 

Affordable housing: housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market 

(including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential local 

workers); and which complies with one or more of the following definitions 

A) Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is set in accordance with the 

Government’s rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is at least 20% below local market rents (including 

service charges where applicable);(b) the landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included as part of a 

Build to Rent scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered provider); and (c) it includes provisions 

to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative 

affordable housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected to be the normal 

form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known as Affordable Private Rent) 

B) Starter homes: is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and any secondary 

legislation made under these sections. The definition of a starter home should reflect the meaning set out in statute 

and any such secondary legislation at the time of plan-preparation or decision-making. Where secondary legislation 

has the effect of limiting a household’s eligibility to purchase a starter home to those with a particular maximum 

level of household income, those restrictions should be used 

c) Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local market value. Eligibility 

is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Provisions should be in place to ensure housing 

remains at a discount for future eligible households 

d) Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that provides a route to ownership for 

those who could not achieve home ownership through the market. It includes shared ownership, relevant equity 

loans, other low-cost homes for sale (at a price equivalent to at least 20% below local market value) and rent to 

buy (which includes a period of intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should be 

provisions for the homes to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for any receipts to be 

recycled for alternative affordable housing provision or refunded to Government or the relevant authority specified 

in the funding agreement.” 

3.2 The Council reviews the need for affordable housing regularly through the housing register, 

homelessness count figures, as well as the borough and parish housing needs surveys. 

This can then be used to provide more specific data regarding the size of properties 

required as well as key areas which should be targeted. All available data of this kind should 

be used when a decision is being made on whether s106 funding should be offered. 

3.3 In some circumstances, section 106s may stipulate that funds that have been secured 

through commuted sums in a particular area, parish or part of the borough; and thus, may 

only be utilised to be spent in that particular area. 

3.4 The council will seek legal clarity on any section 106 legal obligations and criteria set out 

in planning agreements. 

 

 

 

4. Scope of s106 Commuted Sums funding usage: 

Page 265

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy and Procedure 4 

 

4.1 The Council will use financial commuted sums in a number of ways and will require the 

flexibility to do so to be reflected in its approach and in the s.106 agreement. Where 

the contributions are accepted, they will be used to provide an additional affordable 

housing enabling tool aimed at meeting the housing needs of the Borough. Commuted 

sums will be earmarked to enable the provision of affordable housing through a variety 

of means such as;  

 

4.1.1 To provide funding for the development of affordable housing at social rent 

levels in schemes 

 

4.1.2 To subsidise alternative developments to allow for a greater provision of 

affordable housing at social rent or to create a more favourable mix of social 

rented properties vs affordable rented/immediate/private rented properties. 

 

4.1.3 To fund extra units of social rent affordable housing units on existing 

developments. 

 

4.1.4 To contribute towards forward funding/kick-starting affordable housing 

schemes, funds & strategies in order to facilitate the delivery of affordable 

housing in conjunction with other sources of funding such as Community 

Housing Fund or the Local Authority Housing Fund. 

 

4.1.5 To reduce funding gaps for pipeline/current affordable housing schemes. 

 

4.1.6 To assist with works required to bring a void affordable housing property back 

to a usable standard. 

 

4.1.7 To assist with bringing empty buildings back into use as affordable housing 

 

4.1.8 Secure long-term temporary accommodation, to ease housing needs and 

facilitate transitions into affordable housing. 

 

 

5. Application for Section 106 Commuted Sum Funding 

5.1 Registered Providers and private developers can request Section 106 financial funding 

from the Council. 

 

5.2 Request can be made through contact with the affordable housing and enabling officer 

and the party will need to complete a form which will provide details of the affordable 

housing they are developing. 

 

5.3 Applicants should be able to prove how their development will benefit residents of the 

borough in housing needs. 

 

5.4 Consideration should be given covering set criteria for how the development will assist 

the Council in meeting its affordable housing targets. 

 

5.5 Applications will provide information regarding the sum being requested and the 

proposed date that properties will be ready for occupation. 

Page 266

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy and Procedure 5 

 

 

6. Criteria for Section 106 Funding 

6.1 Registered Providers and other not-for-profit housing organisations, stakeholders, 

Community Land Trusts, and Private developers will be eligible to apply for S106 

funding. 

6.2 Applications for section 106 funds will be considered against following the set of criteria:  

6.2.1 Completed application for section 106 Funding with clear and concise evidence 

of planning details. 

 

6.2.2 Costs and timescales are thoroughly researched and are precise, realistic, 

achievable and measurable. 

 

6.2.3 Other funding is available to meet the total costs of the project. 

 

6.2.4 Sufficient resources for the future maintenance and support for the delivered 

project. 

 

6.2.5 The project or scheme has or is likely to obtain planning permission. 

 

6.2.6 Meets the council housing objectives. 

 

6.2.7 Meets local housing needs and retains and attracts a working-age population. 

 

 

6.2.8 Meets Energy efficiency standards and makes progress on reducing the 

carbon footprint to zero by 2030. 

 

6.2.9 Contributes to other priorities e.g., promoting community projects in the 

district such as community energy schemes. 

 

7. Section 106 Funding Application Approval    

7.1 Applications requesting a total amount of up to £250,000 of commuted sums; The 

approval decision to provide commuted sums to support an affordable housing project 

is that of the Portfolio Holder for Housing. 

7.2 Applications requesting a total amount over £250,000 of commuted sums; The 

approval decision to provide commuted sums to support an affordable housing project 

is to be made by Cabinet. 

7.3 The spending of s106 funding will be recorded by the Council’s Finance team and is 

made available at request and recorded within infrastructure reports.  

Page 267

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy and Procedure 6 

 

 

8. Monitoring & Reviewing  

8.1 This policy will be reviewed every two years to ensure that payments made in lieu of 

affordable housing provisions are being put to the best use to further the delivery of 

affordable housing in TWBC. 

8.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2019, requires 

councils to record and publish in the form of Infrastructure report statements the section 

106 contributions received, what the contributions were for, and what they have been spent 

on, in the previous financial year.  

 

Page 268

Appendix A



 

Page  

1 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

Housing Nominations Agreement  

For Cabinet on 21 September 2023  

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Hugo Pound – Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Lead Director: Paul Taylor- Director of Change and Communities 

Head of Service: Gary Stevenson – Head of Housing, Health and Environment 

Report Author: Tobi Phillips – Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer  

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 21/08/2023 

Portfolio Holder 02/02/2022 and 17/08/2023 

Housing Advisory Panel 13/12/2022 

Communities and Economic 
Development Advisory Board 

6 September 2023 

Cabinet 21 September 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That Cabinet approve the adoption of the Nominations Agreement at Appendix A 

subject to any necessary drafting changes considered necessary by the Head of 

Mid-Kent Legal Services.  

 

2. That Cabinet give delegated authority to the Head of Mid-Kent Legal Services to 
enter into Nominations Agreements with Register Housing Providers after receiving 
instructions to do so from Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer. 

Page 269

Agenda Item 19



 

Page  

2 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1. The Nomination Agreement details the nomination arrangements for the allocation 

of social and affordable rented housing ensuring that the Council's statutory duties 

are met by the Registered Providers.  

1.2. RPs are regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing which has issued guidance 

to RPs with respect to their management of housing accommodation. The 

Regulator of Social Housing Regulatory Framework for Social Housing in England 

2015 (most recently updated in April 2020) requires RPs to work with local 

authorities to enable them to fulfil their statutory duties to, among others, homeless 

people and people who have priority for an allocation of housing. 

2. Aims & Objectives  

2.1 The Nomination Agreement will serve as the standard agreement detailing how 

RPs will work with the Council to house nominees from the Council's housing 

register. The standard document will operate alongside the individualised section 

106 agreement for each RP to reflect the percentage of properties negotiated and 

minor variations in the process. 

2.2 Currently, planning agreements reference nomination details stating that the 

Council have the exclusive right to nominate suitable households in housing need 

to affordable dwellings on new site developments in accordance with the Council's 

published allocation scheme, but the planning agreement or the allocation scheme 

does not specify how nominations are communicated by the Council to the RP and 

the circumstances which trigger this process 

2.3 The planning agreement also refers to Homes England’s Help to Buy agent web 

service which qualified potential applicants for intermediate and low-cost home 

ownership schemes such as shared ownership. This service officially came to an 

end in April 2023 and the responsibility of ensuring applicants meet eligibility 

criteria now sits with the RP. The Nominations Agreement outlines the eligibility 

criteria that the Council expects all RPs to adhere to when delivering intermediate 

and low-Cost home ownership forms of affordable housing   

2.4 The agreement outlines that RPs agree to let a proportion of their vacant properties 

to applicants nominated from the Council’s housing register. The agreed 

percentage will also ensure that RPs are providing the Council with a true reflection 

of stock that becomes available and enables greater transparency between the 

Council and RP partners 

2.5 The Nominations Agreement will also provide greater transparency regarding 

nomination procedures setting clear criteria and practices for RPs including 

Page 270

Agenda Item 19



 

Page  

3 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

defined parameters for application referral processes and set criteria for refusal 

reasons and appeals.   

2.6 RPs will be required to provide 75% of true voids to the Council for nomination of 

applicants from the Council’s housing register. In addition, they are expected to 

offer 100% nomination rights of any new development affordable housing at an 

affordable or social rent basis 

2.7 A True-void property is a dwelling that has become available after the resident has 

vacated the property due to certain circumstances and no reciprocal unit is 

required. These circumstances are  

• When the property is newly built or acquired 

• Previous resident has died with no succession rights  

• Vacancy due to Purchased Property or rented private  

• Vacancy due to eviction or abandoned  

• Vacancy due to resident moving to another property and no reciprocal 

needed  

• Vacancy due to permanent decant  

 

 

2.8 The Nominations Agreement establishes a process for monitoring void stock and 

reporting on nomination activity, ensuring that RPs are meeting the obligations set 

out in the agreement by completing a quarterly return.  

3. Options Considered 

3.1. Option 1 For the Cabinet to approve the contents of the Nominations Agreement 

to establish consistent nomination practices through the borough considering 

changes made to the Council’s housing allocation scheme policy and to include 

changes in operational delivery that have occurred. 

 

3.2. Option 2 For the Council to continue to operate without a Nominations Agreement 

and for nomination arrangements to be included within individual planning 

agreements without key nomination specifications. This option is not 

recommended as the Council will continue to operate nominations without any 

framework for governing the nominations arrangements.  

Page 271

Agenda Item 19



 

Page  

4 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

4.1. Option 1 is the preferred option as the Nominations Agreement provides the 

procedures to be used to make existing and arising void properties available for 

nominations to the Council. 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1. The Nominations Agreement has been drafted with regard to the guidance and 

input from Kent Housing Group and RPs. Further Input from the Mid Kent Legal 

services team has been made to ensure the agreement aligns with planning 

agreements. 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

5.2  The Communities and Economic Development Cabinet Advisory Panel were 

consulted on 6 September 2023 and agreed the recommendation to Cabinet 

for the adoption of the nomination agreement. 

6. Implementation 

6.1. The Council will need to sign a separate agreement with each of the RPs who 

have properties within the borough. This agreement will be reviewed annually with 

each RP to ensure it is working effectively and meeting its aims and objectives.  

 

6.2. Specific nomination arrangements outlined in planning agreements will be utilised 

in conjunction with the Nominations Agreement and will be discussed at pre-

planning application stages  

7 Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Nominations Agreement 2023 

• Appendix B: Stock Return Form  

 

Page 272

Agenda Item 19



 

Page  

5 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

8 Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Council can introduce the Nominations Agreement under its existing powers but the 

current draft needs to be reviewed by the Contracts and Commissioning Legal Team as it 

has not been drafted in line with the Council’s Constitutional requirements.  

Lucinda MacKenzie-Ingle, Contracts and Commissioning Team Leader 26 July 2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The Nominations Agreement has no financial implications for the Council. 

Jane Fineman Head of Finance and Procurement 29/08/2023 

C. Staffing 

The Nominations Agreement has no new staffing implications for the Council. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

D. Risk Management 

The Nominations Agreement is not property or development specific nomination requirements 

which may relate to specific sites will be detailed and outlined in planning agreements, annual 

reviews with RPSH will be undertaken to ensure the Nominations Agreement's continued 

effectiveness. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

The Nominations Agreement ensures that there is a procedure for any potential void properties 

available to the housing register within the borough. Works undertaken to bring the void 

properties up to the required housing standards will be carried out in line with sustainability 

requirements and ensuring that the properties fall within the minimum energy efficiency 

standards. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

Page 273

Agenda Item 19



 

Page  

6 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

 

  

F. Community Safety 

The Nominations Agreement helps to promote consistent and transparent nomination 

practices for applicants on the Council’s housing register which can promote affordable 

housing, helping to alleviate homelessness within the borough  

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

 

G. Equalities 

An equalities analysis has been undertaken, which demonstrates the positive implications of 

the Nominations Agreement in increasing the quantity, range and type of affordable housing 

that is made available to those households in housing need through nominations of applicants 

from the housing register to RPs. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

 

H. Data Protection 

The Nominations Agreement obliges both parties to comply with all applicable requirements of 

the Data Protection Legislation. This agreement is in addition to and does not relieve, remove 

or replace, a party's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation. In this agreement, 

Applicable Laws means (for so long as and to the extent that they apply to the Provider) and/or 

Domestic UK Law; and Domestic UK Law means the UK Data Protection Legislation and any 

other law that applies in the UK. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

 

I. Health and Safety 

The Nominations Agreement has no health and safety implications for the Council. 

Tobi Phillips Affordable Housing and Enabling Officer 03/07/2023 

Page 274

Agenda Item 19



 

Page  

7 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Housing Nominations Agreement 

 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The Nominations Agreement helps to formalise the nominations arrangements between those 

in housing need and the RPs that offer affordable housing within the borough. The agreement 

has been developed in line with the allocations scheme policy and offers a more robust 

commitment to the monitoring of the arrangement to ensure the Council is nominated 

percentages detailed in the agreement. 

Page 275

Agenda Item 19



Tunbridgewells.gov.uk  

NOMINATIONS AGREEMENT 2023 BETWEEN 
TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL AND 
REGISTERED PROVIDERS WITH AFFORDABLE 

AND SOCIAL RENTED HOUSING IN TUNBRIDGE 
WELLS      

 

  

Page 276

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  1 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Aims and Objectives ............................................................................................................. 3 

Nominations  ......................................................................................................................... 3 

New Build Developments ...................................................................................................... 4 

Advertisements  .................................................................................................................... 5 

Shortlisting ............................................................................................................................ 6 

Grounds for referring a nomination back to the council  ........................................................ 6 

Grounds for rejecting a nomination  ...................................................................................... 7 

Monitoring & reviewing  ......................................................................................................... 8 

Equal Opportunities  ............................................................................................................. 9 

Data Protection  .................................................................................................................... 9 

Definitions and Interpretation   ............................................................................................ 10 

Signed declaration between TWBC & RP   ......................................................................... 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  2 

 

This Nominations Agreement is made on (INSERT DATE) of (INSERT MONTH) (INSERT YEAR) 

between (INSERT REGISTERED PROVIDER AND RP ADDRESS) (RP) 

and 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN1 1RS 

 
1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is committed to providing housing options reducing housing 

needs and homelessness levels within the area  

1.2 This document sets out the agreed terms and procedures for both TWBC and Registered 

Providers owning or managing affordable housing or those that may be built or purchased by 

the RP in the borough of Tunbridge Wells when making or receiving nominations of eligible 

households to take up occupancy of a vacant affordable housing property in the borough. This 

agreement applies to both general needs and sheltered housing but excludes supported 

housing which is subject to separate lettings arrangements. 

1.3 Both agree to comply with and abide by this Nominations Agreement and the responsibilities 

contained or referred to within it 

1.4 The Council is responsible for setting the Housing Allocation Scheme and monitoring the 

Nominations Agreement. Local authorities have a statutory responsibility to secure suitable 

accommodation for occupation by eligible homeless priority applicants. The Council also has 

a responsibility to ensure that reasonable preference for social housing is provided to 

statutorily defined categories of households in housing need. Registered Providers have a 

statutory duty to cooperate with the Council to discharge its homelessness duties and to 

cooperate to such an extent as is reasonable in offering accommodation to people with priority 

under the Council’s allocation scheme. 

2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES  

2.1 This Agreement is in line with the aims and objectives of the TWBC housing policy and 

specifically will set out   

2.1.1 To provide an effective, consistent and fair nomination process for the 

benefit of all applicants for housing within the borough of Tunbridge 

Wells,  

2.1.2 to ensure compliance with all relevant statutory and regulatory 

requirements 

2.1.3 to ensure effective liaison between parties in this agreement to achieve 

and maintain a transparent nomination process  

Page 278

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  3 

 

3. NOMINATION PROCEDURE 

3.1 The Nomination procedure sets out the arrangement of lettings between the council and the 

RP about the affordable housing properties owned by the RP within the borough of Tunbridge 

Wells  

3.2 The RP will provide a minimum of 75% of true void general needs units that become available 

within the borough for nominations from the Housing Register 

3.3 True Voids are general need properties within the entitlement of the LA as set out in the 

nomination’s agreement  

Void Type  Description of Void Type 

True Void  Newly Built or acquired property 

Died with no succession right  

Purchased property or rented privately 

Evicted or abandoned property  

Moved to another property, No reciprocal 

Permanent decant 

Non-True Void Transferred within own stock 

Temporary Move  

Mobility Scheme or Mutual exchange  

Moved through a reciprocal to another landlord  

 

 

3.4 The percentage of RP properties made available to the LA as part of an agreement will differ 

depending on whether the property has been let before or whether there is a scheme-specific 

arrangement in place: 

Type of Let  % of properties to be let via LA  

First Let (new Builds) 100% of New Build properties  

Relet   75% of Properties being relet  

 

3.5 The percentage of true voids made available to the Council should be a variety of types and 

sizes of dwellings reflective of the property profile within the borough of Tunbridge Wells  

3.6 Three out of every four re-let true voids properties will be provided by the RP for nomination 

to TWBC 

Page 279

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  4 

 

3.7 In relation to 3.6, to ensure that properties RPs will be expected to provide three out of four 

true voids for each bedroom size property, i.e., 75% of two-bed units that become void will be 

made available to the council for nominations  

3.8 If requested, the RP will provide a full breakdown of voids by size, type and location for the 

last financial year and indicate the properties used for their internal transfers. 

3.9 Where appropriate a Local Lettings Plan will be used in accordance with TWBC’s Allocation 

Scheme. The Local Lettings Plan outlines the nominations that will be requested; The generic 

LLP template is available from the Council at request. 

3.10 LLPs will only be considered for the initial first lets on a new development scheme 

3.11 For developments requiring an LLP, proceedings must commence at least 6 calendar months 

before completion to allow sufficient consultation to take place with Cabinet and Ward 

Members. 

4. NEW BUILD DEVELOPMENTS  

4.1 TWBC as the strategic housing authority, supports Registered Provider developments and in 

return receives an agreed percentage of nomination rights to the new homes 

4.2 New developments will be subject to planning obligations set out in the Section 106 

agreement which must be complied with. Registered Providers must submit requested 

information to reassure that the planning obligations in respect of affordable housing are met. 

4.3 Individual Section 106 planning agreements may vary slightly but the relevant Section 106 

planning agreements must be complied with in all circumstances when allocating property on 

a specific site. 

4.4 In relation to Policy H5 the tenure provision for on-site affordable housing should be that 60% 

is provided as social rented tenure and 40% as intermediate tenures or other affordable routes 

to Low-cost homeownership, subject to consideration of any subsequent local policy. 

5. Intermediate and Low-Cost Home Ownership Schemes  

5.1 The Helptobuy application facility administered by Homes England, ended April 2023 and 

providers of Intermediate and Low-Cost Home ownership schemes are responsible for 

ensuring that the eligibility criteria are met for any applications   

5.2 The Eligibility Criteria should include the following.  

➢ Applicants Must be at least 18 years of Age 

➢ Total annual household income must be less than £80,000 

Page 280

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  5 

 

➢ Applicants are not able to afford a home, where a home is owned, they must be 

actively in the process of selling/relinquishing their existing home  

➢ Applicant must not have existing mortgage or rent arrears  

➢ An Affordability/Credit check should be administered  

5.3 Unless stated otherwise within the section 106 planning agreement, priority for intermediate 

and low-cost home ownership schemes should be given to applicants with a local connection 

to Tunbridge Wells. Further cascades may be considered once adverts for the unit(s) have 

been placed for a minimum of six weeks on the free-to-list shared ownership site 

www.Sharetobuy.com and no registered interest from Tunbridge Wells applicants have been 

determined  

5.4 Local Lettings Plans may apply to Intermediate and Low-Cost Home Ownership Schemes 

which will be defined in the section 106 agreement. 

5.5 Register Providers must ensure that applicants are eligible for intermediate and low-cost 

home ownership schemes throughout the entire acquisition process i.e., intermediate rent to 

shared ownership. 

6. ADVERTISEMENT  

6.1 Vacant general need properties will be advertised through the Council’s Choice Based 

Lettings site, Kent Homechoice. Those registered providers who are Kent Homechoice 

partner members will have access to upload the vacant property details as ready to be 

advertised.  

6.2 The Council will choose whether the property will be advertised for Homeseekers, Transfers 

or both, and which band will be given priority. The Council will advertise the property within 

one working day of it being uploaded as ready to advertise.  

6.3 Non-partner RPs can provide vacancy details in an advert proforma, which will be uploaded 

by the Council to advertise. A copy of the proforma can be obtained by contacting 

allocations@tunbridgewells.gov.uk.  

6.4 Properties will be advertised for a minimum of six days, and the shortlist will close at midnight 

on the final day of advertising. 

6.5 All adverts placed on the Choice based letting system are intended to be an accurate 

description of the property and include any alterations that have been made to assist 

independent living. Any advert that does not accurately reflect the property will be withdrawn 

and re-advertised. 

Page 281

Appendix A

http://www.sharetobuy.com/
mailto:allocations@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  6 

 

6.6 Properties must be available for occupancy within 4 weeks of the end of the cycle in which 

the advert is placed. If this is not the case, the property will have to be withdrawn and re-

advertised.  

6.7 If there will be a delay of no more than 2 weeks after this date i.e., 6 weeks after the cycle in 

which the advert has been placed, it is at the discretion of the Housing Allocations Team 

Leader as to whether the property should be withdrawn and re-advertised. 

7. SHORTLISTING  

7.1 Once the closing date for bids has passed a shortlist of interested applicants is drawn up on 

the choice-based letting system. The shortlist will identify the order of applications that have 

registered bids on a property based on the banding and effective date of the application.  

7.2 Adverts will specify any additional criteria and applicants who do not meet these will not be 

shortlisted or will be bypassed,  

7.3 Applicants also may be overlooked in certain circumstances for example if they have rent 

arrears or there has been anti-social behaviour.  

7.4 The RP will be responsible for reviewing and resulting applications from the allocation 

shortlist. 

7.5 If the bidding or nomination shortlist has been exhausted, the property will be re-advertised. 

7.6 The council is also able to directly nominate applicants for a property in limited circumstances  

 

8. GROUNDS FOR REFERRING A NOMINATION BACK TO THE COUNCIL 

8.1 The registered provider may refer an application back to the council where:  

8.1.1 The applicant is unable to provide proof of identity or right-to-rent 

documentation. 

8.1.2 The applicant is unable to provide documentary evidence that they 

have the ability to pay the rent for the home either via their resources 

or entitlement to Housing Benefit 

8.1.3 The applicant has significant rent arrears owed to a previous landlord, 

has not established a formal agreement for repayment and is not 

making regular payments under the terms of that agreement. 

8.1.4 The applicant is unable to conduct or sustain an independent tenancy 

agreement and support is not yet in place. 

Page 282

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  7 

 

8.1.5 There is a proven history of ongoing and serious anti-social behaviour 

8.1.6 Any other reason detailed by the RP published allocations policy 

9. GROUNDS FOR REJECTING A NOMINATION  

9.1 The RP maintains the right to reject a nomination from the Council if it can be demonstrated 

by the RP that the nominee would be an unsuitable tenant for the particular property, they 

have been nominated on one of the following grounds: 

9.1.1 The Council has provided incorrect information about the applicant 

significant enough to make the applicant unsuitable as a tenant 

9.1.2 The RP has uncovered additional undeclared information about the 

applicant significant enough to make the applicant unsuitable as a 

tenant 

9.1.3 There is an identified S106 agreement or lettings plan and the applicant 

does not meet the criteria 

9.1.4 The RP has undertaken an Affordability Assessment (standardised 

procedure within the provider’s policy) and deemed the property to be 

unaffordable.  

9.1.5 Any other reasons detailed by the RP’s published allocation policy 

which should be made available to the council and public via the RP’s 

website prior to advert cycles   

9.2 If a nominee does not attend a viewing or appointment without reasonable notice or it will be 

classed as a refusal unless the RP has been advised beforehand. 

9.3 Where there is a disagreement between the parties to this Nominations Agreement the RP 

would be required to provide to the Council a written justification of their reasons for refusing 

the nominee.  

9.4 If the Council does not accept the reasons for rejecting the nominee, the decision will be 

referred to management level for a mutual decision to be reached between the Council and 

the RP within 7 days 

9.5 If a mutual decision cannot be reached at the management level, the case will then be referred 

on for a mutual decision to be made between the Housing Services Manager at the Council 

and the equivalent senior management level at the RP. The property should be held pending 

the decision although subsequent nominations can be provided in anticipation. The timescale 

for senior management decisions is 7 days. 

 

Page 283

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  8 

 

10. MONITORING & REVIEWING  

10.1 The RP will inform the Council when a nominee has accepted an offer of accommodation and 

has commenced their tenancy; this should be documented on the choice-based letting system 

by the organisation that listed the advert. 

10.2 The RP should complete the Affordable Housing Stock Return Form   

10.3 The Council may request additional information for clarification and/or may arrange an 

additional meeting to discuss matters of concern with a Registered Provider, regarding 

submitted data  

10.4 Where a Registered Provider has not met the agreed percentage of nominations within any 

six-month period, it is expected that this percentage will be made up by an increased number 

of properties being made available to the Council for nomination in the following six-month 

period, or as agreed by the Council. 

10.5 Both parties will maintain records to monitor the effectiveness of the Agreement 

10.6 This Agreement will be reviewed on an annual basis by both parties and any amendments to 

the agreement should be made in writing & agreed upon by both parties 

10.7 Should either party wish to terminate this agreement, they must give the other party six 

months’ written notice. 

11. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES  

11.1 The Council and all parties to this agreement are committed to advancing equality and 

ensuring that services are accessible, provided fairly and meet the needs of those who require 

them most. 

11.2 In managing the allocation function, the Council and all Registered Providers must ensure 

that they comply with the Equality Act 2010 

 

12. DATA PROTECTION  

12.1 Both parties will comply with all applicable requirements of the Data Protection Legislation. 

This clause is in addition to and does not relieve, remove or replace, a party's obligations 

under the Data Protection Legislation. In this clause, Applicable Laws means (for so long as 

and to the extent that they apply to the Provider) the law of the European Union, the law of 

any member state of the European Union and/or Domestic UK Law; and Domestic UK Law 

means the UK Data Protection Legislation and any other law that applies in the UK 

Page 284

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  9 

 

12.2 The parties acknowledge that for the Data Protection Legislation, the Council is the data 

controller, and the Registered Provider is the data processor. 

12.3 Without prejudice to the generality of clause 11.1, the Council will ensure that it has all 

necessary appropriate consents and notices in place to enable the lawful transfer of the 

Personal Data to the Registered Provider for the duration and purposes of this agreement. 

 

13. DEFINITIONS and INTERPRATATION  

13.1 In this Agreement where the context admits the following expressions shall have the following 

meanings: 

13.1.1 Affordable Housing includes social rented, affordable rented and 

intermediate housing, (including housing that provides a subsidised 

route to homeownership) provided to specified eligible households 

whose needs are not met by the market. It can be a new-build property 

or a private sector property that has been purchased for use as an 

affordable home. 

13.1.2 Affordable Rented Housing shall mean properties that are provided by 

registered providers and are subject to control that requires the level of 

rent to be no more than 80% of the local market value  

13.1.3 Allocation Scheme means the Borough Council’s published scheme of 

allocations presently contained in the Borough Council’s document 

entitled “Housing Register Allocations Policy 2013” (as amended in 

March 2016) or any amendment update or variation thereto or any 

subsequent replacement thereof 

13.1.4 Allocation Scheme Housing Register means the allocation scheme 

record list of eligible applicants in Housing Need 

13.1.5 Agreement – Shall mean this Nominations Agreement 

13.1.6 Borough of Tunbridge Wells shall mean the local authority 

administrative area of Tunbridge Wells as defined within the Local 

Government Act 1972 or any successor Act or Order 

13.1.7 Choice-Base Lettings (CBL) - shall mean the allocations policies and 

procedures the Council has adopted which incorporate an advertising 

scheme under the Communities and Local Government Code of 

Guidance for local housing authorities or as set out in any subsequent 

guidance or legislation about the allocation of accommodation. 

Page 285

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  10 

 

13.1.8 Decant - Shall mean that the property is due to become uninhabitable 

due to improvement repair or other work 

13.1.9 Dwellings - The accommodation is the subject of or intended to be the 

subject of the Tenancy Agreements. 

13.1.10 General Needs- shall mean housing that is available to the TWBC 

Allocation scheme Housing register not purpose-built, adapted or 

managed for a particular client group such as  

13.1.11 Nominee – shall mean a suitable applicant (having met the 

requirements of the Care Act 2014 assessment and the Housing 

Application) who has been nominated by the CCG. 

13.1.12 Registered provider (RP) - shall mean a private provider of Affordable 

Housing which is designated in the register maintained by the 

Regulator or Social Housing or any similar future authority carrying on 

substantially the same regulatory or supervisory functions under 

section 111 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 as a non-profit 

organisation under sub-sections 115(1)(a) or 278(2) of the Act or which 

is designated in that register as a profit-making organisation under 

section 115(1)(b) of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 

13.1.13 Section 106 – shall mean a planning agreement between a developer 

and a local planning authority about measures that the developer must 

take to reduce their impact on the community. 

13.1.14 Sheltered Housing - sometimes referred to as sheltered 

accommodation, shall mean a housing type specifically designed for 

older or disabled people to allow them to live independently. It usually 

consists of self-contained flats with communal facilities. It is usually 

only available to those aged 55 and over, but age restrictions can range  

13.1.15 Social Rented Housing – shall mean housing owned by RPs for which 

guideline target rents are determined through the national rent regime. 

It may also be owned by other persons and provided under equivalent 

rental arrangements to the above, as agreed with the Council or with 

the Homes and Communities Agency. 

13.1.16 Tenant - shall mean a Nominee who has entered into a Tenancy 

Agreement with the Landlord following nomination. 

13.1.17 TWBC- Shall refer to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

Page 286

Appendix A



 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 Nominations Agreement  11 

 

 

14. SIGNED DECLARATION BETWEEN TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH & RP 

Author name: Tobi Phillips   

Position: Affordable Housing & Enabling Officer  

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council has read and fully understands the Nominations Agreement and 

Nominations Procedure. Tunbridge Wells agrees to work in partnership with the Registered Provider 

and honour the Nominations Agreement and Nominations Procedures. Where any disputes occur we 

will address and resolve them at the next available meeting between parties.  

 

TWBC Representative signature:      ............................................................................  

 

Print name:                                     ...........................................................................  

 

Position:                                         ............................................................................  

 

Date:                                               ............................................................................  

The Registered Provider has read and fully understands the Nominations Agreement and 

Nominations Procedure. The Registered Provider agrees to work in partnership to honour the 

Nominations Agreement and Nominations procedure. Where any disputes occur, we will address and 

resolve them at the next available meeting between parties.  

 

Registered Provider:                             ............................................................................  

 

RP Representative signature:             ............................................................................ 

 

 Position:                                               ............................................................................  

 

Print Name:                                          ............................................................................  

 

Date:                                                     ........................................................................... 

Page 287

Appendix A



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Housing Provider  

Name  

Contact Email  

Contact Number  

Year  

Quarter  

 

Section A 

 

In the table below please provide details of all new build affordable properties handed over as ready for 

occupation within the borough as completed for the quarter 

 

 

Section B 

In the table below please provide details of all general need properties that been voided within the borough 

for the quarter  

 

Relet Voids 

 Social Rent  Affordable Rent  

One Bedroom   

Two Bedroom   

Three Bedroom    

Four Bedroom   

Other   

Total   

 

 

 

New Build Development 

 Social Rent  Affordable rent  Shared Ownership 

One Bedroom    

Two Bedroom    

Three Bedroom     

Four Bedroom    

Other    

Total    

  

AFFORDABLE HOUSING STOCK  RETURN 

Please complete with details of affordable housing 

stock and return details to the email address 

affordablehousing@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

 

Page 288

Appendix B

mailto:affordablehousing@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


Section C  

In the below table please provide details of all true void properties not nominated through the council’s choice based letting system (if necessary) 

 Address Post Code Bedrooms Bedspaces Rental Type Void Date Void Reason   

1         

2         

3         

4         

5         

6         

7         

8         

9         

P
age 289

A
ppendix B



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Urgent Business 

 

Urgent Business 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be 

stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 290

Agenda Item 20



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Date of the Next Meeting 

 

Date of the Next Meeting 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To note that the next scheduled meeting is Thursday 26 October 2023 

Page 291

Agenda Item 21



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Exempt Items 

 

Exempt Items 

For Cabinet on Thursday 21 September 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

It is proposed that, pursuant to section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 

Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded 

from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they may involve the 

disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act, by virtue of the 

particular paragraphs shown on the agenda and on the attached reports. 

Page 292

Agenda Annex



Document is Restricted

Page 293

Agenda Item 22
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).


	Agenda
	1 Leaders Introduction and Announcements
	2 Apologies
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Notification of Visiting Persons wishing to speak
	5 Minutes of the meeting dated 27 July 2023
	6 Questions from Members of the Council
	7 Questions from Members of the Public
	8 Consideration of the Forward Plan as at 13 September 2023
	9 Annual Corporate Health and Safety Report
	10 Performance Summary Quarter 1
	2. Appx A 22 Aug 23
	3. Appx B 23 Aug 23
	4. Appx C Homeless Preventions
	5. Appx D % car park payments made by Ringo
	6. Appx E garden waste

	11 *Showfields, Tunbridge Wells - Disposal of Parcels of Land
	Appendix A Parcels of land plan

	12 Capital Management Report - Quarter 1
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F

	13 Revenue Management Report - Quarter 1
	Appendix A Overall Q1 202324
	Appendix B Net Expenditure Q1 202324
	Appendix C Key Variances Q1 202324
	Appendix D Usable Reserves Q1 202324
	Appendix E Major Expenditure Q1 202324
	Appendix F Employee Costs Q1 202324
	Appendix G FTE Q1 202324
	Appendix H Income Q1 202324
	Appendix I Cabinet Members Q1 202324

	14 Treasury and Prudential Indicator Management Report - Quarter 1
	Q1 202324 Appendix A
	Q1 202324 Appendix B
	Q1 202324 Appendix C

	15 Biodiversity Action Plan and Biodiversity Net Gain
	Appendix A Draft Service Level Agreement with KCC Ecology
	Appendix B Draft Interim Management Plan BNG Project

	16 Kent High Weald Partnership:Service Level Agreement and Funding
	Appendix A draft KHWP TWBC SLA
	Appendix B draft KHWP MOA KCC TWBC
	Appx C Kent High Weald Partnership Annual Report 21-22

	17 Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Position Statement
	Appx A Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Positon Statment_2023
	Appx B Affordable Housing Fund form

	18 Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Spending Policy
	Appx A Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Spending Policy and Procedure

	19 Nomination Agreement
	Appx A Nominations Agreement 2022 2023
	Appx B Stock Return Form

	20 Urgent Business
	21 Date of Next Meeting
	 Exempt Items
	22 *Exempt Appendix A - Showfields - Tunbridge Wells - Disposal of Parcels of Land (Agenda Item 11)

